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AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEFEX£ERAF

Chairman’s Statement
FEHREE

For and on behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”), |
would like to present the annual report of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2018.

RESULT ANALYSIS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2018, facing the complicated and volatile domestic and
foreign political and economic situation and following the
dramatic changes in the electronic products market, the
oversupply of middle and low-end flexible printed circuit
("FPC") and flexible packaging substrates products of the FPC
industry has become increasingly severe. With the intensified
market competition and constant decline of the gross profit
margin of products, the competitive landscape faced by the
Group has been worsening. Under such difficult circumstances,
the Group has been focusing on the strategy of “developing
major customers” and providing “one-stop service” to
customers. The Group proactively explored new application
fields and enhanced its technical capabilities, production
capabilities, quality management capabilities and supply chain
management capabilities, in order to seize opportunities and
prepare for challenges, thereby achieving better operation
results.

The Group recorded turnover of approximately
HK$1,223,803,000 in the financial year of 2018, representing
an increase of approximately 9.38% as compared to that of
last year (2017: approximately HK$1,118,838,000). Profit
attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
HK$69,334,000, representing a decrease of approximately
12.25% as compared to that of last year (2017: approximately
HK$79,016,000). For the year ended 31 December 2018,
basic earnings per share was approximately HK4.58 cents,
representing a decrease of approximately 30.82% as compared
to that of last year (2017: approximately HK6.62 cents). The
Group's gearing ratio remained low. Taking into account of the
Company's profitability, shareholder returns and sustainable
development needs in the future, the Group has proposed the
payment of a final dividend of HK1 cent per share for 2018.
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Chairman’s Statement
FTEHREE

During the year under review, despite the overall recession
of the smartphone industry and the decline in orders from
major customers, through identifying new major customers
and expanding new application fields, the sales of the Group's
FPC business still recorded a slight growth as compared to that
of last year. Due to the further expansion of new application
fields, the sales volume of the Group’s flexible packaging
substrates business recorded significant growth as compared
to that of last year. However, since the yield rate of newly
introduced business is yet to be improved, and economies of
scale for the flexible packaging substrate business is yet to be
achieved due to the significant upfront investments incurred
and the high level of fixed costs and staff costs, the operating
condition is still rather unsatisfactory and there is still relatively
large room for improvement.

During the year under review, the Group proactively invested
fund in order to expand the production capacities and enhance
production capabilities of FPC and flexible packaging substrates
products by acquiring new machineries and continuously
improving and developing production techniques through
research and development, and conduct intelligent upgrade
on our Guangzhou Factory and Suzhou Factory. During the
year under review, the amount invested in the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment amounted to approximately
HK$281,251,000.
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AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEFEX£ERAF

Chairman’s Statement
FEHREE

During the year under review, due to the continuous
emergence of new application fields of FPC and flexible
packaging substrates and the continuous uplift of
requirements in product structure and complexity from
downstream customers, as well as the increasing labor costs,
the Group continued to invest in research and development
to continuously uplift technology standard and technical
capability, to conduct research and development in new
materials, new products and new production techniques and
to construct intelligent manufacturing factory. During the year
under review, AKM Electronics Industrial (Panyu) Ltd. and AKM
Electronic Technology (Suzhou) Company Limited, the wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Group, received capital contribution
for research and development from the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology of China, and China North Industries
Corporation (a controlling shareholder of the Company),
respectively, for the purpose of constructing intelligent factories
for Guangzhou Nansha Factory and Suzhou Factory and
intelligent manufacturing projects.

Prospects

The ever changing environment in the electronic market
has made the oversupply issue in mid-end and low-end FPC
more severe. As competition intensified and gross profit
for our products kept decreasing, the Group is now facing
a more challenging operating environment. Following the
stable enhancement in the Group's capability to serve major
international customers, the continuous increase of investment
in the new application fields of FPC and flexible packaging
substrates and the foreseeable achievement in the research
and development of the production technologies, the Group
remains prudently optimistic on future. In order to grasp
the market opportunities, and to continuously improve the
performance of our FPC and flexible packaging substrates
operations, the Group is planning to (i) optimize customer
mix and product mix through exploring new markets and
developing new applications for our products; (ii) strengthen
technology research and development, upgrade our
technological level, develop high-end products, so as to meet
customers’ demands for high-end products; (iii) keep a close
eye on the characteristic of the internationalised operations
of our major customers, with an aim to secure more orders
from overseas market and provide localized services to them.
Meanwhile, the Group is still looking for suitable investment
opportunities in the upstream and downstream of the
industries, in order to further enhance core competitiveness of
the Group.
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Chairman’s Statement
FTEHREE

The Board believes that as the Group’s ability to serve major
international customers steadily enhanced, and given the
continuous investment in the new application fields of FPC
and flexible packaging substrates, as well as the foreseeable
results in research and development for production technology,
the Group remains cautiously optimistic about its future. In
2019, following the changes in the global and PRC smartphone
market pattern, the commencement of 5G network
commercialisation and the continuous expansion in new
application fields for FPC and flexible packaging substrates,
the FPC business will maintain its growth momentum in the
foreseeable future. The Group will adhere to the strategies
of developing major customers, continuously uplifting the
technology capabilities of products, seizing the market
opportunities in new application fields and promoting its
operation efficiency through achieving economy of scale. The
Group will strengthen its core capabilities to keep on improving
its operation results, so as to present satisfactory results and
bring favourable returns to its shareholders.

APPRECIATION

Mr. Zhao Xiao does not seek for renewal of his term of office
as an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the
remuneration committee, a member of the audit committee
and a member of the nomination committee of the Company
after its expiration on 15 February 2018 due to his other
business commitments. Ms. Li Ying Hong resigned as a non-
executive Director, a member of the remuneration committee,
compliance officer and an authorized representative of the
Company on 24 August 2018 due to retirement. On 30 January
2018, Mr. Wang Chunsheng was appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company. On 15 May 2018, Mr. Yang Zhaoguo
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, a
member of and the chairman of the remuneration committee,
a member of the audit committee and a member of the
nomination committee of the Company. On 24 August 2018,
Ms. Zhang Xiaoming was appointed as a non-executive Director
and a member of the remuneration committee of the Company.
On 27 November 2018, Mr. Yu Daochun was appointed as a
non-executive Director of the Company.

Annual Report 2018 —Z—\E &

EFgHE BEASERBEIZHABRMERE
Pz hBRRERAUREREERRME
MHHEERFEABRS TEHRAREEER
AT ARG Z B ENKR AEEH KR
RINRFBEBLE - —T—NF BEEHREP
NESTFEMEEBE SCHEBMAR
98 R B A Je R 1 B BR AR RN SR 1 5 A AR T FE
BEHOTERE ZUEERRITEEARAR 2
RN RFIERES AEBBR{FARP
Bl NERTEmBEE S B EA A
2 IS HBIARKERBIRERD  TRA
MR OB TERTTEEEE  #ikW
PR B ARAE - AR R IR R o

EE ]

HELEREMEBEEAER-_FT-/\FZA
THHEMEMETBESREEARF 2B
FNTEST FHEESIF BERERESZ
BRREZEGZB FTRMALLTRARKR =
E-NFENAZTHEBERARBZIFERTE
= VMEEENE ERIEREERER-R
“E-N\F-A=TH IFEELEEEZRER
ARRABZHATEZT - R_FT—-/\FRHA+H
H HSKEEEBREEREARAZBLIFNTT
Ex yMEZBEXEBREIRE ERZBEENKE
MiREEEEKE - R_ZE-—N\FNAZTH
B REAZTEZERARBZIFATEER
¥FWZzEeXE - R ZE—-N\F+—-HA=-++t
B REBRLLERZER/ARBZIENTES -

L_O\.



AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEFEZERAF

Chairman’s Statement
FEHREE

For and on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to thank Mr. Zhao and Ms. Li for their valuable
contribution to the Company and express our warm welcome
to Mr. Wang, Mr. Yang, Ms. Zhang and Mr. Yu for joining our
company.

In addition, for and on behalf of the Board, | would like to
take this opportunity to thank the management and all staff
members of the Group for their dedication and invaluable
contributions to the Group in the past year. | would also like
to thank our customers, suppliers, business partners and
shareholders for their continuous support to the Group. The
Group will do its best to achieve good results and secure ideal
returns for our shareholders.

AKM Industrial Company Limited
Xiong Zheng Feng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 March 2019
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Directors and Senior Management of the Group

REBEENRSREEE

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out below:

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng (BEIFI£)
and an executive Director of the Company. In July 1992,

aged 49, is the chairman

he graduated from the Department of Computer Science
of B H K (Nankai University) and obtained his bachelor
degree in science. He then obtained his master degree in
economics from EF AL EZRT (Nankai University School
of Economics) in July 1995. Mr. Xiong joined FEIdt 7 T¥ 45
fR A &] (formerly known as A ElIdL 75 T %2 5]) (China North
Industries Corporation) in in August 1995 and took up the
post of deputy general manager of FEdt 7 TEEFI QA
(China North Industries Xiamen Corporation) from October
1999 to November 2000. From April 2003 to January 2011,
he was an alternate director of Raymond Industrial Ltd, a
company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong, and is a non-executive director since January 2011.
In November 2000, Mr. Xiong joined Silver City International
(Holdings) Ltd. (SRZEBR (£ E) B R 2 F) (“Silver City"),
the controlling shareholder of the Company, as assistant
General Manager and was promoted to the position of Deputy
General Manager of Silver City in March 2004. He resigned
from the position of Deputy General Manager of Silver City in
September 2018. He is also a director of Alpha Luck Industrial
Limited (ZFE %A A7), the controlling shareholder of
the Company, since March 2001. Mr. Xiong is also a director
of AKM Electronics Industrial (Panyu) Ltd. and an executive
director of AKM Electronic Technology (Suzhou) Company
Limited, both of which are subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Xiong
joined the Company in March 2001 and is responsible for
the Group's corporate policy formulation, business strategies
planning, business development and management of the
Group. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Xiong does not hold any
directorship in other listed companies in the past three years,
and does not have any other relationship with any directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders, or controlling
shareholders of the Company.
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AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEFEX£ERAF

Directors and Senior Management of the Group

AEBEENRSREEE

Non-executive Director

Mr. Gao Xiaoguang (BB} ), aged 43, is currently vice
general manager of GoerTek Inc. ("GoerTek”), a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Mr. Gao graduated from
Shandong Institute of Technology (ILE T2t ) in July 1998
and obtained his master degree in business administration
from Southern Cross University in 2006. Mr. Gao joined
GoerTek in 2001. Mr. Gao was appointed as a non-executive
Director since 12 March 2015. Mr. Gao does not hold any
directorship in other listed companies in the past three years,
and does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders, or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Jia Junan (EEZR),

manager of and secretary to the board of directors of GoerTek.

aged 48, is currently vice general

He graduated from Shandong Institute of Finance and
Economics (IUEEFBERT ) in July 1993 with a bachelor degree
in economics and obtained his master degree in economics
from Shandong University ( LLE A2 ) in 2003. Mr. Jia obtained
a doctorate degree in economics in 2008 from Xiamen
University ([EP9KXZ) . He is a member of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of The Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Jia obtained a
qualification certificate for secretary to board of directors (&
EGMEELHEBFE) issued by the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
in 2013. Mr. Jia was previously manager of tax department
of KPMG China, Tsingdao office, and he joined GoerTek in
2010. Mr. Jia was appointed as a non-executive Director on 17
November 2015. Mr. Jia does not hold any directorship in other
listed companies in the past three years, and does not have
any relationship with any other directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders, or controlling shareholders of the
Company.
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Directors and Senior Management of the Group

REBEENRSREEE

Mr. Wang Chunsheng (E&4%),
from School of Mechanical Design and Engineering, Jiangsu
University of Science and Technology ()T &k ¥2 T K 3 # 4 2%
5T T EPT) in June 1998. Mr. Wang joined Suzhou Anjie
Technology Co. Ltd (8R/NZL BB KB D BR A F) (“Anjie
Technology”) (a substantial shareholder of the Company)

aged 44, graduated

in 2000 and is currently the chairman of the board of Anjie
Technology (which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
with stock code 002635). Mr. Wang was appointed as a non-
executive Director since 30 January 2018. Mr. Wang does not
hold any directorship in other listed companies in the past
three years, and does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders, or

controlling shareholders of the Company.

Ms. Zhang Xiaoming (3R¥B) , aged 40,
supervisor of the strategy and operation department of China

is currently a

North Industries Corporation, a controlling shareholder of the
Company. She obtained a master degree in accountancy in
April 2003 from Dongbei University of Finance and Economics
(RILETEERE) .
The Research Institute for Fiscal Science of the Ministry of
Finance ( Bf B #B 87 BL BB W 32 FT) (now known as Chinese
Academy of Fiscal Sciences (# BI8f BRI 28 %thc) ) in July
2011. Ms. Zhang is a member of the Beijing Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (3t R & 51 Al 15 & ) since
September 2010, and also a member of the Institute of

She also obtained a doctorate degree from

Management Accountants since April 2003. Ms. Zhang is a
director of NORINCO International Cooperation Ltd. ( 1t 75 BIE®
A1ER M BRAA) (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange with stock code 000065) since 29 March2017. She is
also currently a director of China ZhenHua Oil Co., Ltd. (k%=

AimiER AR AT ) and Wanbao Mining Ltd. (BEREE R
YNCID
on 24 August 2018. Save as disclosed, Ms. Zhang does not

Ms. Zhang was appointed as a non-executive Director

hold any directorship in other listed companies in the past
three years, and does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders, or

controlling shareholders of the Company.
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AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEFEX£ERAF

Directors and Senior Management of the Group

AEBEENRSREEE

Mr. Yu Daochun (3#&%), aged 51, is currently a supervisor
of the finance department of China North Industries
Corporation, a controlling shareholder of the Company.
He obtained a doctorate degree in economics from Central
University of Finance and Economics (FF R EF &L KE) in
June 2007. Mr Yu is a member of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (R Bl @ 5t A% € ) since
September 2010. Mr. Yu is a director of NORINCO International
Cooperation Ltd. (Jk F BB & ERMHD AR 2 A]) (@ company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with stock code
000065) since 20 March 2018. He is a director of Silver City
International (Holdings) Limited, a controlling shareholder of
the Company. He is also a director of #EEE LI2HR A A
(transliteration “China Wanbao Engineering Co., Ltd.”), k=
FBRIEM B BR A A (transliteration “China ZhenHua Oil Co.,
Ltd.”) and S ERE AR A 7 (transliteration “Wanbao Mining
Ltd."). Mr. Yu was appointed as a non-executive Director on 27
November 2018. Save as disclosed, Mr. Yu does not hold any
directorship in other listed companies in the past three years,
and does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders, or controlling
shareholders of the Company.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew (3 3&) , aged 50, is currently
the director of Norton Rowland CPA Limited. He received his
professional training in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and has
worked for UBS Investment Bank as business unit controller for
seven years. Mr. Hung was awarded the degree of Bachelor of
Arts in Accountancy by The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
(formerly known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic) and the degree
of Master of Applied Finance by the University of Western
Sydney. Mr. Hung is a practicing Certified Public Accountant,
an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, and a fellow member of The Chartered
Association of Certified Accountants. Mr. Hung is also an
independent non-executive director of FDG Kinetic Limited
(formerly known as CIAM Group Limited), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since 1 July 2008. Mr.
Hung was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
since 17 October 2011. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Hung does
not hold any directorship in other listed companies in the past
three years, and does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders, or
controlling shareholders of the Company.
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Mr. Cui Zheng (##8%), aged 64, is currently the supervisor
of the academic committee of the Suzhou Institute of Nano-
Tech and Nano-Bionics, Chinese Academy of Science (B}
BT gk N AR K BT B AR K (5 £ T SR A7) and the supervisor of
the Printable Electronics Research Center ( HJffl & 7 2 #ff 3¢
#6) at the Suzhou Institute of Nano-Tech and Nano-Bionics.
Mr. Cui obtained his doctorate degree in engineering from
Southeast University (RREIAE ) in 1988. He is a fellow of
the Institution of Engineering and Technology (previously the
Institution of Electrical Engineers) since 2004. He is also a State
Specially Recruited Expert under the “1000 Talent Plan” of the
Government of the People’s Republic of China since 2009.
He is also the vice secretary-general of National Innovation
Association of Printed Electronics Industrial Technology (& B
ENilE FEZESMAIFER), and vice president of Touch
Screen Advisor Committee of SEMI China (regional office of
Semiconductor Equipment and Materials International). Mr.
Cui was elected “Scientific Chinese” of Year 2010. Mr. Cui
was previously a visiting fellow at the Cavendish Laboratory of
the University of Cambridge. Further, he was also previously
Principal Scientist at the Central Microstructure Facility of
Rutherford Appleton Laboratory in the United Kingdom. Mr.
Cui was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
since 3 May 2016. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Cui does not
hold any directorship in other listed companies in the past
three years, and does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders, or
controlling shareholders of the Company.
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Mr. Yang Zhaoguo (#JKEl) , aged 47, is currently chairmen
of Suzhou Fineset Material Technology Co., Ltd. (RN L EE#
BEHE AR /A F]) . He obtained a master degree in engineering
in July 1997 from Dalian University of Technology ( A& T A
) . Mr. Yang previously worked as senior engineering at the
Shanghai Research Institute of Materials ( £ /& # #8758 BT )
and was previously project manager of AVIC International (HK)
Group Limited. Mr. Yang was previously a director of Shenzhen
Sunway Communication Co., Ltd CRYIT {5 BERH A
R/A7F]) (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
withstock code 300136), during the period from 11 May 2016
to 23 April 2017. Mr. Yang was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since 15 May 2018. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. Yang does not hold any directorship in other listed
companies in the past three years, and does not have any
relationship with any other directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders, or controlling shareholders of the
Company.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Chai Zhi Qiang (4£%&5®) , aged 58, is the chief executive
officer of the Company. He was previously an executive Director
and has retired as an executive Director on 26 May 2017. In
January 1982, he graduated from the S HE M E % (Faculty
of Laser Technology) of K&} ZRBE#HZ (Changchun
Institute of Optics and Fine Mechanics) and obtained his
bachelor degree in engineering. He then obtained his # %%
£ (Certificate on continuing education) from the & FRE
I EFT (Hong Kong Sino-Australia Management College) in
June 2001. From February 1982 to September 1992, Mr. Chai
was employed by the JT & & % M 1 B& J & 25 M (Shuguang
Appliances Factory of Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province) as
engineer and branch-factory manager. He then joined iR
BN ETERETEAR LT (Alpha Luck Electronic &
Electric Appliance Industrial (Guangzhou) Ltd.) in October
1992 as project manager. In January 1994, Mr. Chai joined the
Company and is responsible for research and development and
overall management of the Group. Mr. Chai has over 26 years
of experience in the flexible printed circuit production industry.
Mr. Chai is also a director of AKM Electronics Industrial (Panyu)
Ltd, a subsidiary of the Group.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Hung Ching Yuen (&#3&), aged 39, is the company
secretary of the Company. Ms. Hung graduated from the
University of Hong Kong and obtained her Bachelor of Laws
degree and Postgraduate Certificate in Laws in 2001 and 2002
respectively. She obtained her Master of Laws degree from
University College London in 2003. Ms. Hung is a solicitor
practicing in Hong Kong since 2006 and was appointed as the
company secretary on 13 June 2011. Ms. Hung is also company
secretary of Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2360)
since 18 December 2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERBNWRE DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the turnover of the
Group was approximately HK$1,223,803,000, representing an
increase of approximately 9.38% as compared to approximately
HK$1,118,838,000 of last year. The increase in turnover was
mainly due to the strong growth in demand from the customers
of the flexible packaging substrates business, which resulted in
significant increase in the sales of flexible packaging substrates
business.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2018 was approximately HK$69,334,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 12.25% as compared
to approximately HK$79,016,000 of last year. The decrease
in profit was mainly due to: (1) fierce competition in the FPC
business, leading to the decrease in product price and increase
in raw material price, which resulted in decrease in gross
profit margin for the FPC business; (2) the yield rate for new
application field of the flexible packaging substrates business is
yet to be improved and economy of scale is yet to be achieved.

The turnover for the FPC business and the flexible packaging
substrates business of the Group for the year recorded a
year-on-year growth of approximately 3.47% and 164.30%
respectively. During the year under review, the overall gross
profit margin decreased to approximately 12.42% (2017:
approximately 19.68%), of which the gross profit margin
of flexible packaging substrates business decreased to
approximately 5.65% (2017: approximately 13.95%), and the
gross profit margin of FPC business decreased to approximately
13.31% (2017: approximately 20.31%).

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the other income
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$56,253,000,
representing an increase of approximately 214.72% as
compared to approximately HK$17,874,000 of last year. The
increase in other income was mainly attributed to the increase
in government subsidies and interest income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018, the distribution costs
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$19,433,000,
representing an increase of approximately 15.95% as compared
to approximately HK$16,760,000 of last year. The increase
in distribution costs during the year under review was mainly
attributed to (i) the increase in labour costs for additional
labour force resulted from the increase in sales, and (i) the
increase in transportation expense and express fee as compared
to that of last year, which were attributable to the increase in
export and sales of products.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the administrative
expenses of the Group were approximately HK$41,187,000,
representing an increase of approximately 12.68% as compared
to approximately HK$36,551,000 of last year. The increase
in administrative expenses was mainly due to the increase in
depreciation and salary expenditure during the year under
review.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the research
and development expenses of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$63,774,000, representing a decrease
of approximately 20.16% as compared to approximately
HK$79,882,000 of last year. The decrease in research and
development expenses was mainly attributed to the completion
of the main development task for the “02"” Major Project
undertaken by the Group in year 2016. There were minimal
input of fees for “02"” Major Project in year 2017, and no
further expense had been incurred for the “02” Major Project
during the year under review.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the finance cost
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$215,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 92.46% as compared
to approximately HK$2,850,000 of last year. The significant
decrease in finance cost was mainly due to the significant
decrease in bank borrowings.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and
sale of FPC, flexible packaging substrates and their respective
components, which are used in electronic products.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the turnover of
the Group amounted to approximately HK$1,223,803,000,
representing an increase of approximately 9.38% as compared
to approximately HK$1,118,838,000 of last year. The increase
in turnover was mainly due to the strong growth in demand
from the customers of the flexible packaging substrates
business, which resulted in significant increase in the sales
of flexible packaging substrates. During the year under
review, the turnover of the Group for the sales of FPC and
the sales of flexible packaging substrates were approximately
HK$1,084,759,000 and HK$131,592,000 respectively,
while the turnover for sales of FPC and the sales of flexible
packaging substrates for the year ended 31 December 2017
were approximately HK$1,048,429,000 and HK$49,789,000
respectively. In 2018, the profit attributable to the owners
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$69,334,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 12.25% as compared
with approximately HK$79,016,000 for 2017. The decrease
in profit was mainly due to: (1) fierce competition in the FPC
business, leading to the decrease in product price and increase
in raw material price, which resulted in decrease in gross
profit margin for the FPC business; (2) the yield rate for new
application field of the flexible packaging substrates business is
yet to be improved and economy of scale has not yet achieved.

During the year under review, the turnover for the FPC business
of the Group increased by approximately 3.47% as compared
to that of last year, while its gross profit margin decreased to
approximately 13.31% (2017: approximately 20.31%) due to
decrease in product price and increase in raw material price.
The turnover for the flexible packaging substrates business
increased significantly by approximately 164.30% as compared
with that of last year, while its gross profit margin decreased
to approximately 5.65% (2017: approximately 13.95%) as the
yield rate for new application field of the flexible packaging
substrates business is yet to be improved and economy of scale
is yet to be achieved.
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During the year under review, the turnover for the “other”
business of the Group was approximately HK$7,452,000, which
is mainly attributable to the income from the purchase and
sales of electronic components business, and amounted to
approximately 0.61% of the total turnover of the Group.

During the year under review, the Group continued to
implement the strategy of developing major customers and
focusing on increasing the core capability of the production
plants. With the demand from major customers as driving
force, we increased the core capability of the Nansha and
Suzhou plants, enhanced the ability in development of new
products and craftsmanship, increased the yield rate and
guaranted on-time delivery so as to maintain and increase the
supply share of our major customers and continuously explored
new major customers. Meanwhile, the Group proactively
developed new market fields such as optic camera modules,
new energy car cells, vehicle electronics and wireless charges,
which have gradually become new area for sales increase.
Targeting the prospects of 5G network commercialisation,
the Group also focused on the research and development of
new materials applications and new production techniques
applicable for high speed and high frequency transmission for
the production of FPC and flexible packaging substrates.

During the year under review, affected by the recession in
the overall environment of the smartphone business, orders
from major customers decreased. However, by exploring new
major customers and new application fields, the sales in the
FPC business of the Group still managed to increase slightly as
compared to that of last year. As the Group further explored
new application fields of the flexible packaging substrates,
the sales in flexible packaging substrates business increased
significantly as compared to that of last year. Nevertheless,
economies of scale is yet to be achieved due to the yet to
be improved vyield rate of the newly-induced business, the
significant continuous investments incurred by the Group, and
the high level of fixed costs and labour costs, the operating
situation of flexible packaging substrates business has not yet
achieved satisfaction, and there is still relatively huge room for
improvement in the future.
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During the year under review, the Group’s investment
in research and development decreased. The research
and development expenses decreased to approximately
HK$63,774,000, representing a decrease of approximately
20.16% as compared to that of last year. The decrease in
research and development expenses was mainly attributed
to the completion of the main development tasks for the
“02" Major Project undertaken by the Group in 2016. There
were minimal input of fees for the “02” Major Project in
year 2017, and no further expense had been incurred for
the “02" Major Project during the year under review. In the
meantime, due to the continuous increase of new application
fields of FPC and flexible packaging substrates, the continuous
uplift of requirements in product structure and complexity
by downstream customers and the continuous increase in
staff costs, the Group will continue to increase investment
in research and development so as to continuously uplift
technology standard and technical capability, to conduct
research and development in new materials, new products,
new production techniques and to build intelligent production
plants.

As disclosed in the Company’s circular dated 20 December
2017, the Group intends to establish an intelligent factory
with ancillary facilities in the existing factory of the Group
in Nansha, Guangdong, PRC for assembling new application
modules of FPC. During the year under review, the relevant
construction has commenced and the main building is expected
to be completed in 2019.
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On 6 December 2016, the Company (for itself and on behalf
of its subsidiaries) and GoerTek Inc (“GoerTek”, for itself
and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into the Renewed
Purchase Agreement (“Renewed Purchase Agreement”) in
relation to the transactions for selling of parts, components
and other products (including but not limited to FPC products)
for a term commenced from 1 January 2017 and expiring
on 31 December 2019. Such transactions constituted non-
exempt continuing connected transactions of the Company
under the Listing Rules. The Renewed Purchase Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder, as well as the
annual caps for each of the year ending 31 December 2017,
31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019 were approved
by the independent shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 16 January 2017. Details of
the terms of the Renewed Purchase Agreement, the continuing
connected transactions and the annual caps were disclosed
in the Company's announcement dated 6 December 2016
and the circular dated 29 December 2016. During the year
under review, the Group sold FPC and flexible packaging
substrates products of approximately RMB119,440,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$141,220,000) to
GoerTek and its subsidiaries, representing an increase of
approximately 14.86% as compared to that of last year (2017:
approximately RMB103,988,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$120,009,000)).
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On 20 November 2018, LM T FRIE (M) B R A A
(AKM Electronics Technology (Suzhou) Company Limited)
("AKM Suzhou”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
entered into the Technology Development Co-operation
Agreement with A EI4E 5 T2 AR A F) (China North Industries
Corporation) (“CNIC", the controlling shareholder of the
Company) in relation to the co-operation between the parties
in a research and development project entitled “Development
of intelligent production technologies for semi-conductor
flexible circuit boards and its modules”. CNIC shall pay AKM
Suzhou an aggregate of RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$16,950,000) (“Research and Development
Fee”), and AKM Suzhou shall apply such amount for (i) the
purchase of relevant equipments and instruments related to
research and development; (ii) the purchase of intelligent
management system; and (iii) research and development and
testing of technical equipment. In case of shortfall, AKM
Suzhou shall be responsible for further input of research
and development fees subject to a maximum of 10% of the
Research and Development Fee. The said amount has been
received by the Group in December 2018. AKM Suzhou has
completed all the tasks for 2018 on schedule, and is expected
to establish a demonstrative intelligent production line with
specific technology features in 2019, and to complete the
construction of an intelligent factory during the term of the
agreement. During the period under review, the “Intelligent
production project for semi-conductor flexible circuit boards
and its modules” of AKM Electronics Industrial (Panyu) Ltd.
("AKM Guangzhou"),
Group, has also been approved by the Ministry of Industry

a wholly-owned subsidiary of the

and Information Technology of PRC (“MIIT") as an application
project of intelligent manufacturing new models. The Group
has resoluted the intelligent construction of Guangzhou Nansha
Factory and Suzhou Factory as our key initiatives to enhance
our core competitiveness.
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EERBNWR DM

On 29 November 2017, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with Alpha Luck Industrial Limited
("Alpha Luck”), the controlling shareholder of the Company,
and a subscription agreement with Suzhou Anjie Technology
Co. Ltd (“Anjie Technology”), respectively, pursuant to which
Alpha Luck and Anjie Technology respectively subscribed for
103,900,000 shares and 200,000,000 shares at the subscription
price of HK$1.50 per share (collectively the “Subscriptions”).
The Subscriptions were simultaneously completed on 30
January 2018. The net proceeds of the Subscriptions of
approximately HK$454,928,000 was scheduled to be utilised
for: (i) construction of a new intelligent factory for FPC (“New
Factory”) and the establishment of new production lines in
the New Factory; (ii) expanding the production capacities
and enhancing production capabilities of the Group's
existing production plant of FPC products by acquiring new
machineries and continuously improving and developing
production techniques through research and development; (iii)
enhancement of production capacities and capabilities of the
Group’s flexible packaging substrates products by acquiring
new machineries and continuously improving and developing
production techniques through research and development
and (iv) general working capital of the Group. Details of the
Subscriptions were disclosed in the Company’s announcements
dated 29 November 2017, 9 January 2018 and 30 January
2018 and the circular dated 20 December 2017.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERBNWRE DM

On 13 December 2018, the Group proposed to adopt the
restricted stock incentive scheme (“the Scheme”) to further
improve corporate governance of the Group, retain and
motivate the Scheme Participants to make contributions to
the long-term growth and profits of the Group with a view
to achieve the objectives of increasing the value of the Group
and to promote a greater alignment of interests between the
Scheme Participants and the Shareholders. Pursuant to the
Scheme, the Board shall select the Scheme Participants and
determine the number of Restricted Stock to Company will
appoint a trustee to purchase the Shares from the secondary
market and a grant price shall be payable by the Scheme
Participants. At the EGM held on 31 January 2019, the
Scheme was duly approved by the Independent Shareholders.
On 14 February 2019, the Board approved the Initial Grant
of Restricted Stock under the Scheme, pursuant to which
27,500,000 shares of Restricted Stock were resolved to be
granted to 81 selected Scheme Participants on the same day
at the grant price of HK$0.65 per Share. Details of the Scheme
and the Initial Grant of Restricted Stock were disclosed in the
Company’s announcements dated 13 December 2018, 31
January 2019, 14 February 2019 and 15 February 2019 and the
circular dated 16 January 2019.

OUTLOOK

The Group has become an authorised supplier for a number
of world-renowned manufacturers. To meet the requirements
of the global supply chain system of such customers, the
Group has established two production bases (Southern China
Guangzhou Factory and Eastern China Suzhou Factory) and
has established a new overseas factory in Uttar Pradesh,
India in early 2019 to serve our customers with production
bases in India in proximity. The Group has also established
sales centre, research and development centre, supply chain
management department, etc. which are independent from the
manufacturing system. With the gradual uplift of technology
capabilities, production capability, quality management
capability and supply chain management capability of FPC
business and flexible packaging substrates business, the
Group's capability to satisfy the “one-stop demand” of such
customers has also been largely improved.
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The ever changing environment in the electronic market
has made the oversupply issue in mid-end and low-end FPC
more severe. As competition intensified and gross profit
for our products kept decreasing, the Group is now facing
a more challenging operating environment. Following the
stable enhancement in the Group's capability to serve major
international customers, the continuous increase of investment
in the new application fields of FPC and flexible packaging
substrates and the foreseeable achievement in the research
and development of the production technologies, the Group
remains prudently optimistic on future. In order to grasp
the market opportunities, and to continuously improve the
performance of our FPC and flexible packaging substrates
operations, the Group is planning to (i) optimize customer
mix and product mix through exploring new markets and
developing new applications for our products; (ii) strengthen
technology research and development, upgrade our
technological level, develop high-end products, so as to meet
customers’ demands for high-end products; (iii) keep a close
eye on the characteristic of the internationalised operations
of our major customers, with an aim to secure more orders
from overseas market and provide localized services to them.
Meanwhile, the Group is still looking for suitable investment
opportunities in the upstream and downstream of the
industries, in order to further enhance core competitiveness of
the Group.

The management of the Group is of the opinion that, following
the changes in the global and PRC smartphone market pattern,
the commencement of 5G network commercialisation and the
continuous expansion in new application fields for FPC and
flexible packaging substrates, the FPC business will maintain
its growth momentum in the foreseeable future. The Group
will adhere to the strategies of developing major customers,
continuously uplifting the technology capabilities of products,
seizing the market opportunities in new application fields and
promoting its operation efficiency through achieving economy
of scale. The Group will strengthen its core capabilities to keep
on improving its operation results, so as to present satisfactory
results and bring favourable returns to its shareholders.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group financed its operations primarily with internally
generated funds from operating activities and existing bank
facilities. It is anticipated that the Group has sufficient working
capital to meet its present funding requirements. As at 31
December 2018, the outstanding loan balance of the Group
was HK$0 (31 December 2017: HK$67,976,000).

EMPLOYEE

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a total of 1,270
full-time employees based in Hong Kong and China (2017:
1,350 employees). For the year ended 31 December 2018, the
total labor costs (including Director's remuneration) for the
Group amounted to approximately HK$133,473,000 (2017:
approximately HK$121,797,000). The Group determines and
reviews the remunerations of its Directors and employees
based on their respective qualifications, experiences,
performances and the market rates, so as to maintain the
remuneration of the Directors and employees at a competitive
level. The Group participates in various defined contribution
retirement plans and insurance schemes in compliance with
the statutory obligations under the laws and regulations of
China and Hong Kong. The Directors believe that being one
of the most important assets of the Group, employees are
important contributors to the success of the Group. The Group
appreciates the importance of staff training, therefore, regular
trainings are provided to the employees to enhance their
technical and product knowledge. The majority of the Group's
employees are stationed in China.

MATERIAL INVESTMENT

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any
material investments during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM RIGHTS ISSUE

On 13 March 2017, the Company completed the issue of
246,867,500 Rights Shares to the qualifying shareholders
by way of rights at the subscription price of HK$0.55 per
Rights Share. The net proceeds of the Rights Issue were
approximately HK$133,506,000. As of 31 December 2018,
the net proceeds of Rights Issue was fully utilized, among
which: (i) approximately HK$111,906,000 was utilized for
the development of the Group's flexible packaging substrates
business, all of which was applied for purchase of new
machineries; and (ii) approximately HK$21,600,000 was utilized
for the general working capital of the Group, all of which was
applied as supplemental working capital. The capital utilization
was consistent with the intended use of the net proceeds of
Rights Issue as disclosed in the circular of the Company dated
20 February 2017.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SUBSCRIPTIONS

On 29 November 2017, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with Alpha Luck, a controlling
shareholder of the Company, and a subscription agreement
with Anjie Technology respectively, pursuant to which
Alpha Luck and Anjie Technology respectively subscribed
for 103,900,000 shares and 200,000,000 shares at the
Subscription Price of HK$1.50 per share (collectively
the “Subscriptions”). The Subscriptions were completed
simultaneously on 30 January 2018. The net proceeds
amounted to approximately HK$454,886,000 (“Net Proceeds
of Subscriptions”). As of 31 December 2018, approximately
HK$302,165,000 of the Net Proceeds of Subscriptions has
been applied, among which: (i) approximately HK$27,834,000
was used for the civil engineering construction of the new
intelligent factory; (ii) approximately HK$92,000,000 was
used for expanding the production capacities and enhancing
production capabilities of the Group’s existing production
plant of FPC products (all of which was used for acquiring new
machineries); (iii) approximately HK$137,331,000 was used
for the enhancement of production capacities and capabilities
of the Group’s flexible packaging substrates products (all
of which was used for acquiring new machineries); and (iv)
approximately HK$45,000,000 was used for the general
working capital of the Group (all of which was applied as
supplemental working capital). The capital utilization was
consistent with the intended use of the Net Proceeds of
Subscriptions as disclosed in the circular of the Company dated
20 December 2017.
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As at 31 December 2018, approximately HK$152,721,000 of
the Net Proceeds of Subscriptions has not yet been utilized,
among which, (i) approximately HK$128,166,000 is intended
to be applied for the construction of the new intelligent
factory and the establishment of new production lines in the
new factory, which is expected to be fully utilized in 2020; (ii)
approximately HK$20,669,000 is intended to be applied for
the enhancement of production capacities and capabilities of
the Group’s flexible packaging substrates products, which is
expected to be fully utilized by the second half of 2019; and
(iii) approximately HK$3,886,000 is intended to be applied for
the general working capital of the Group. It is expected that
the remaining Net Proceeds of Subscriptions will be fully utilised
by 2020 in accordance with the intended use as stated above.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no other important
events affecting the Group that have occurred since 31
December 2018 and up to the date of this report.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

FUTURE PLANS RELATING TO MATERIAL
INVESTMENT OR PURCHASE OF CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any
future plans for material investment or purchase of capital asset
as at 31 December 2018.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS OF THE GROUP

As at 31 December 2018, bank deposits of approximately
HK$2,358,000 (as at 31 December 2017: approximately
HK$2,357,000) of the Group were pledged as collateral to
secure bank facilities granted to the Group. The Group did
not have trade receivables pledged as collateral to secure
bank facilities (as at 31
HK$22,948,000).

December 2017: approximately

As at 31 December 2018, land use rights and buildings
with carrying amounts of approximately HK$16,318,000
and HK$49,291,000 respectively (as at 31 December 2017:
approximately HK$17,551,000 and HK$53,212,000) were
pledged to secure the general bank facilities granted to the
Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2018.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2018, the net cash and cash equivalents
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$152,865,000.
As at 31 December 2018, the gearing ratio of the Group
December 2017:
approximately 41.78%), which was calculated based on the
Group's total liabilities of approximately HK$483,432,000 (as
at 31 December 2017: HK$529,973,000) and the Group’s total
assets of approximately HK$1,671,449,000 (as at 31 December
2017: HK$1,268,416,000).

was approximately 28.92% (as at 31
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EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE
RATES

The income and expenditure of the Group are mainly
denominated in US dollars and RMB, while the assets and
liabilities of the Group are denominated in HK dollars and RMB.
The Group is therefore exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from currency exposures, primarily with respect to US dollars
and RMB. The operating results and the financial position of
the Group may be affected by any changes in the exchange
rates, the Group has not taken any hedging measures in this
regard. Furthermore, the conversion of RMB denominated
balances into foreign currencies is subject to the foreign
exchange control rules and regulations promulgated by the
Chinese government. However, taking into account the Group’s
current operation and capital requirements, the Directors
do not consider the Group is subject to any material foreign
exchange risk.

DIVIDEND

The Directors recommend the payment of final dividend of
HK1 cent per share for the year ended 31 December 2018
(2017: HK1 cent per share) to the shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Friday,
7 June 2019. Subject to the approval by the shareholders at
"AGM"), the
proposed final dividend is expected to be paid on or around
Thursday, 20 June 2019.

the forthcoming annual general meeting (the

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
5 June 2019 to 7 June 2019 (both days inclusive) during
which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to
qualify for the final dividend, all properly completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on 4 June
2019.

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
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CLOSURE OF SHARE REGISTER FOR ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
21 May 2019 to 24 May 2019 (both days inclusive) for the
purposes of determining shareholder’s eligibility to attend
and vote at the AGM and during which no transfer of shares
will be effected. To be qualified to attend the AGM, which is
to be held on 24 May 2019, all properly completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s share registrar and transfer office,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong by no later than 4:30 p.m. on 20
May 2019
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NAERABRE

INTRODUCTION

Save for the deviations as disclosed in this report, the
Company complied with all the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (collectively “Code”) contained
in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules by establishing formal and
transparent procedures to protect and maximize the interests of
shareholders during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less favorable
than the standard of dealings as set out in Appendix 10 of the
Model Code of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry
on all Directors, it is confirmed that the Directors have complied
with such code of conduct and the standard of dealings
regarding securities transactions throughout the year ended 31
December 2018.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD MEETING

During the year under review, the Board consisted of 1
executive Director and 8 non-executive Directors of whom 3
were independent non-executive Directors:

Executive Director:
Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng (Chairman)

Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Li Ying Hong

(resigned on 24 August 2018)
Mr. Gao Xiaoguang
Mr. Jia Junan
Mr. Wang Chunsheng

(appointed on 30 January 2018)
Ms. Zhang Xiaoming

(appointed on 24 August 2018)
Mr. Yu Daochun

(appointed on 27 November 2018)
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Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew
Mr. Zhao Xiao
(term of office expired on 15 February 2018)
Mr. Cui Zheng
Mr. Yang Zhaoguo
(appointed on 15 May 2018)

The Board is responsible for the Group’s corporate policy
formulation, business strategy planning, business development,
risk management, major acquisitions, disposals and capital
transactions, and other significant operational and financial
matters. Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated
by the Board to the management include the preparation of
annual and interim accounts for the Board’s approval before
reporting to the public, execution of business strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board, implementation of adequate
systems of internal control and risk management procedures,
and compliance with relevant statutory requirements, rules
and regulations. During the year under review, the Board and
its audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee have performed corporate governance duties in
accordance with the functions set out in the Code Provision
D.3.1.

Details of backgrounds and qualifications of the chairman,
other Directors, and chief executive officer of the Company are
set out on pages 9 to 16 of this annual report. All Directors
have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Group. Each executive Director has sufficient experience to
hold the position so as to carry out his duties effectively and
efficiently. There is no relationship among the members of the
Board.
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During the year under review, all independent non-executive
Directors had appropriate and sufficient experience and
qualifications to carry out their duties to protect the interests
of shareholders. Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew, Mr. Zhao Xiao,
Mr. Cui Zheng and Mr. Yang Zhaoguo were independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew was
appointed since 17 October 2011 and his appointment was
renewed for a term of three years commenced from 17 October
2017. Mr. Zhao Xiao was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director for a term of three years commenced from
16 February 2015. Due to his other business commitments,
Mr. Zhao did not seek for renewal of his appointment as an
independent non-executive Director upon expiration of his term
of office on 15 February 2018. Mr. Cui Zheng was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director for a term of three
years commenced from 3 May 2016. Mr Yang Zhaoguo was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director for a term
of three years commenced from 15 May 2018. All of them are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association.

Under the Code Provision A.4.2, every Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules, the Company
has received written confirmation from each independent
non-executive Director confirming his independence to the
Company. Based on such confirmations of independence, the
Company considers all the independent non-executive Directors
to be independent.

During the year under review, Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng was
the chairman and Mr. Chai Zhi Qiang was the chief executive
officer.

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer were
segregated and were not exercised by the same individual
during the year under review. The chairman’s responsibility was
to manage the Board while the chief executive officer's was to
manage the business of the Company.
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The Board held a full board meeting each quarter. EEgFHERTEEKEIFESR-
Details of the Directors’ attendance of the meetings of the EZEHKEFLNBFENLFEESETSHEIL
members of the Board during the year under review are as $%zF/E0 T :
follows:
Attendance
Director B= R E
Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng ARIE & % & 4/4
Ms. Li Ying Hong FRAT L2+ 3/4
(resigned on 24 August 2018) (RZZE-NFNAZTHEBEE)
Mr. Gao Xiaoguang =B L 4/4
Mr. Jia Junan EEZEE 4/4
Mr. Wang Chunsheng FHEERE 4/4
(appointed on 30 January 2018) (RZE-—NF—RA=THEZF)
Ms. Zhang Xiaoming SR B2 AR 22 + 1/4
(appointed on 24 August 2018) (RZE-—NFNAZTHOBEEZE)
Mr. Yu Daochun REHELE 1/4
(appointed on 27 November 2018) (RZE—N\F+—H=Z++tH
BEE)
Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew HEREE 4/4
Mr Zhao Xiao i B o AR 0/4
(term of office expired on 15 February 2018) (FHR=_=E—N\FE_A+HBEH)
Mr. Cui Zheng BEFEE 4/4
Mr. Yang Zhaoguo 5 IR Bl 5 A 3/4
(appointed on 15 May 2018) (R N\FRAT+ERAEZRT)
Apart from the above regular board meetings of the year, the R EMFATHEETT TR EFTHEH
members of the Board will meet on other occasions when a HREETEEFTEZEESATRBITEZH -FS

board-level decision on a particular matter is required. The
Directors will receive agenda and details of items for decision in
advance of each board meeting.
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CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

During the year under review, the Company organised all
Directors to attend training provided by Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu on the adoption of new accounting standards Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standard (“HKFRS”) 9 and HKFRS
15. All Directors had complied with the requirements set out
in the Code Provision A.6.5 by participating in the continuous
professional development, developing and refreshing their
knowledge and skills, in order to ensure that their contribution
to the Board would remain informed and relevant.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the audit committee with written
terms of reference in accordance with Rules 3.21 to 3.23
of the Listing Rules. The relevant written terms of reference
was amended on 31 December 2018. The primary duties of
the audit committee are to review and monitor the financial
reporting process, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, review the finance and practice of
accounting policies of the Company and its subsidiaries, and
provide advice and comments on the Company's draft of
annual reports and accounts and half-year reports. During the
year under review, the audit committee comprised of three
members, namely Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew, Mr. Zhao Xiao
(term of office expired on 15 February 2018), Mr. Cui Zheng
and Mr. Yang Zhaoguo (appointed on 15 May 2018). All of
them were independent non-executive Directors. The chairman
of the audit committee was Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew.
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During the year under review, four meetings were held by the
audit committee. Details of the Directors’ attendance of the
audit committee meetings are as follows:

Annual Report 2018 —Z—\E & Q
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Attendance

Director BE=E R E

Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew HEERLE 4/4

Mr. Zhao Xiao RS A 0/4
(term of office expired on 15 February 2018) (FER -—_ZE—NE_A+HBEM)

Mr. Cui Zheng BTt 4/4

Mr. Yang Zhaoguo 15 IR B 5 A 3/4

(appointed on 15 May 2018)

The Group’s unaudited interim results and audited annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2018 had been
reviewed by the audit committee, which was of the opinion
that the preparation of such results complied with the
applicable accounting standards and requirements and that
adequate disclosures were made.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee was established in August 2005
with written terms of reference. During the year under review,
the remuneration committee comprised of three members. Mr.
Zhao Xiao, an independent non-executive Director (term of
office expired on 15 February 2018), and Mr. Yang Zhaoguo,
an independent non-executive Director (appointed on 15 May
2018),
of the remuneration committee included Ms. Li Ying Hong
(resigned on 24 August 2018), Mr. Cui Zheng and Ms. Zhang
Xiaoming (appointed on 24 August 2018).

was the chairman of the committee. Other members

Accordingly, the
majority of the members were independent non-executive
Directors.

(RZZE-—N\FREA+THAEZE)

AEEEE_T - \FTA=-1T—HLFE
IARBEZTHRANRREZE2FXEDAH
ENZBEEHN -ERZRERR ZFXED
EREAGTEAMAERE  CIEHEDE
Zo

FMEES

FWZEe@R —TTRFN\AKL AHEH
%EH&%%@IOE@@E@EEW’%ﬁ@ﬂi,ﬂ%m
—HAKEBHEK ZEEEIRABYIIFNITES
HELsE (EHR-_T—-/\F_A+HBEM)
G KEEE(R-_ZE-N\FHA+THBEZR
) EmZEEATHMALE (RZE—-NFN
A _—i-@EI%?E) CESEENRBERLLE (R

—NFNAZ+OAEEE) - Bt K& D
W,\E§%M3E$ﬂTT§$°

L_O\.



AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEFEX£ERAF

Corporate Governance Report

= &5 M
NAEBERHRE

The role and function of the remuneration committee include
the determination of specific remuneration packages of all
executive Directors, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, such as any compensation
payable for appointment or loss of office, and the provision
of recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors. The remuneration committee should
consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and feasibility
of performance-based remuneration.

During the year under review, two meetings were held by the
remuneration committee. Details of the Directors’ attendance
at the remuneration committee meetings are as follows:

PR E e R EREEERITES 2N
EHMAS WEWH RN EFNRME &
ERER I ARME UEHRFERTEST ZHM
AEFERHEZ FTHZEGRER 2 ERE
AR TELBRARAMNEHS EFMOE
REMEE NEBRERGRFRZRRENR
i APACIE R

REBFER FMHZEGABITMAGE &
EHEFHEEegR 2B BET:

Attendance
Director B=E R E
Mr. Zhao Xiao sl =Ptas 0/2
(term of office expired on 15 February 2018) (FHR=_=E—N\FE_A+HBER)
Mr. Yang Zhaoguo 5K B ot A4 1/2
(appointed on 15 May 2018) (R=ZZE—N\FEAT+EBHEZT)
Ms. Li Ying Hong TRRAT £ 2/2
(resigned on 24 August 2018) (RZZE-—NFNAZTARET)
Mr. Cui Zheng BT E 2/2
Ms. Zhang Xiaoming SR BE AR 22 & 0/2

(appointed on 24 August 2018)

The remuneration committee of the Company has considered
and reviewed the existing terms of employment contracts of the
executive Directors and appointment letters of the independent
non-executive Directors. The remuneration committee of the
Company considers that the existing terms of employment
contracts of the executive Directors and appointment letters
of the independent non-executive Directors are fair and
reasonable.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was established on 22 March 2012
with written terms of reference. The relevant written terms of
reference was amended on 31 December 2018. During the year
under review, the nomination committee comprised of three
members. The chairman of the committee was Mr. Xiong Zheng
Feng. Other members included Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew, Mr.
Zhao Xiao (term of office expired on 15 February 2018) and
Mr. Yang Zhaoguo (appointed on 15 May 2018). Accordingly,
the majority of the members were independent non-executive
Directors.

The nomination committee shall review the structure, size
and composition of the Board (including skills, knowledge,
experience, past performance and qualification, etc.) and assess
the independence of independent non-executive Directors and
the adequacy of Corporate Governance Code. The committee
is responsible for formulating nomination policy, identifying
candidates for Directors and making recommendations to
the Board in respect of the nomination, appointment or
reappointment of Directors and succession plan of Directors.

The Company acknowledges that the diversification of the
members of the Board has positive effects on enhancing the
Group's performance. The Company sees the diversification of
the members of the Board as an important supporting factor
for the Group to achieve its strategic goals and maintain
sustainable growth. In deciding the composition of the Board,
the Company will consider the Board diversity from various
perspectives, including but not limited to sex, age, cultural
and academic background, race, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and terms of services. All appointments of
the Board are made on merits with objective consideration of
candidates, while taking into full account of the benefits of
the Board’s diversity. The nomination committee reviews the
diversity of the composition of the Board on regular basis, and
monitors the implementation of this policy so as to ensure its

effective implementation.
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During the year under review, one meeting was held by the
nomination committee. Details of the Directors’ attendance at
the nomination committee meeting are as follows:

REBFER REREEHABIT - REE &
EHERAZEEGAZCHHABET:

Attendance

Director B=E R E

Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng AR IF I 5 A4 1/1

Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew HEEL A 11

Mr. Zhao Xiao A 01
(term of office expired on 15 February 2018) (EBHR=ZE—N\F_A+HBE®)

Mr. Yang Zhaoguo 15 IKEl 5 A 0/1

(appointed on 15 May 2018)

The nomination committee considered and resolved that all the
existing Directors should be recommended to be retained by
the Company.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

The audit committee of the Company was responsible for
considering the appointment of external auditor and reviewing
any non-audit functions performed by the external auditor,
including whether such non-audit functions could lead to any
potential material adverse effect on the Company. During the
year under review, the Group was required to pay an aggregate
amount of approximately HK$980,000 to the external auditor
for their audit service.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for the
preparation of accounts, and confirmed that the financial
statements of the Company were prepared in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, and having made all reasonable
enquiries, they are not aware of any undisclosed material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Hung Ching Yuen was appointed as the company secretary
on 13 June 2011. Ms.
service provider to the Company and a solicitor practising in
Hong Kong. She has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training as required by the Listing Rules. The

Hung Ching Yuen is an external

primary contact person between the Company and Ms. Hung
Ching Yuen is Mr. Jiang Maoping, officer responsible for
compliance and legal matters.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company conducts regular reviews on its internal
control system and risk management program to ensure their
effectiveness and adequacy. The Company convenes meetings
periodically to discuss financial, operational, compliance and
risk management control. The purpose of the Group's internal
risk management control and program is to provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage
and eliminate risks of failure in operational systems. Through
the audit committee, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control and is of the opinion that
the resources for and the qualifications of the staff of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function are
adequate and sufficient. The Board is satisfied with present

internal control.

Annual Report 2018 —Z—\E & °

——FRAT=BEZER
zAﬂ%ﬂé%°z%a?@ﬁiﬁ$ﬁﬁ29l\ﬂ%ﬁ&i%/\
B REBAXZM HEERETRANZHRE
2m7T APRSENEORBERE AR
AINAEABER T 2 TEHREARBEESHR
MEREBZTEBKFEL-

WEREE R R Ak E 12

ARREHNBREERNIEZHE R EREIER
A NEREKB LTS -ARREHARE
o w2 E AR MREREEEE AN
REIZ AR EREEEEMEN T ESERE
BEABERRASIBR YEELBEREHE
BREWEzZAR EXSCERBEREES
B BDEEE 2 B M AR R R R S B 7 ER R
REZARBERRABERENEH -EFSYH
BATH AR EE R M=

L_O\.



AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEFEX£ERAF

Corporate Governance Report

= &5 M
NAEBERHRE

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company may distribute dividend to the Shareholders
of the Company by way of cash or shares. Any distribution
of dividend shall be in accordance with the Company's
articles of association and relevant laws and regulations. The
recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject
to the absolute discretion of the Board, and no dividend shall
be distributed in excess of the amount recommended by the
Board. In deciding whether to distribute dividend, the Board
shall consider a range of factors including (but not limited to)
the financial results, earnings, loss and distributable reserve,
operations and liquidity capital requirements, debt ratio and
possible effect on the credit lines, capital requirements, current
and future development plans of the Company, interests of
the Shareholders, and other factors that the Board considered
relevant.

AUDITOR

During the year under review, the performance of the external
auditor of the Company was reviewed and recommendation
was made to reappoint the external auditor at the forthcoming
AGM.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing shareholders
and potential investors. The Company welcomes suggestions
from investors, stakeholders and the public. The Company
has disclosed all necessary information to the shareholders
and investors in compliance with the Listing Rules and uses
a number of formal communications channels to report the
Company’s performance to shareholders and investors. These
include (1) the publication of announcements and notices,
financial information and corporate governance information
available on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited and the Company; (2) the annual general meeting
or extraordinary general meeting which provide a forum for
shareholders of the Company to raise comments and exchange
views with the Board; (3) information@akmcompany.com, an
email specifically set up by the Company for communications
with investors, which provides timely replies to the enquires
from investors; (4) the provision of services for shareholders
through the Company’s registered office and share registrar in
Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no significant change in the Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2018.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Pursuant to Articles 65 of the Company’s Memorandum and
Articles of Association, the Directors may, whenever they
think fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting. An
extraordinary general meeting shall also be convened upon
request by shareholders of the Company as provided by the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) of the Laws of Hong Kong
("Companies Ordinance”), or, in default, may be convened by
the shareholders requesting the convening of an extraordinary
general meeting.
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According to Sections 566 to 568 of the Companies Ordinance,
the Directors are required to call an extraordinary general
meeting if the Company has received requests to do so from
shareholders of the Company representing at least 5% of the
total voting rights of all the shareholders having a right to vote
at general meetings. Shareholders of the Company may deposit
at the registered office of the Company a written request,
which shall state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the meeting and include the text of the resolution
to be proposed at the meeting, and shall be signed by the
shareholders who made the demand. Where the Directors do
not, within 21 days from the date of depositing the demand,
duly arrange an extraordinary general meeting to be held
on a day not later than 28 days after the date on which the
notice convening the meeting is given, the shareholders who
made the demand or shareholders representing more than
half of the voting rights of such shareholders may convene an
extraordinary general meeting themselves in the same manner,
as nearly as possible, as that in which extraordinary general
meetings may be convened by the Directors of the Company,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the shareholders who
made the request as a result of the failure of the Directors
to duly convene an extraordinary general meeting shall be
reimbursed by the Company.

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new
resolutions at general meetings under the Articles of
Association of the Company or the Companies Ordinance.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting by
following the procedure set out in the preceding paragraph.

In relation to proposing a person for election as a Director,
please refer to the procedure available on the website of the
Company.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing to the Company's registered office in
Hong Kong at Rooms 2708-11, 27th Floor, West Tower, Shun
Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central,
Shareholders may also send such enquiries and concerns to

Hong Kong.

information@akmcompany.com, an email specifically set up by
the Company for investor communications.
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The Group is pleased to present its Environmental, Social and
Governance Report which is prepared in accordance with the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide”
contained in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). This report focuses
on the performance of corporate social responsibility of the
Group during the period from 1 January 2018 to 31 December
2018. The Group is committed to improving its strategy
and management in relation to environment, society and
governance through enhancement of infrastructure, internal
participation and external partnership to achieve a balanced
and win-win situation between interests of shareholders and

the society.
STAKEHOLDERS' PARTICIPATION

The Group has established a number of channels to allow
related institutions and individuals in the society (the
“Stakeholders”) to participate in the Group's operations so as
to understand and oversee the Group’s operating performance.
We are committed to creating a harmonious community with
various common interests, thus maximizing the overall social
benefits including the corporate benefits. Stakeholders can
participate in the operation of the Company through the

following means:

Channels and means of

Stakeholders
EREAA

Key targets and interests

TEAERMEE BESELSANEE

communication and participation

AEBEMARELRBLEBARZMAR AR
(I&FBBRm)&E %J:m%ﬁﬁ'J(U:m%EH'H)
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Company’s measures

DRBIE

Shareholders and Protection of shareholders’ interests,

statements) and contact information

investors truthful, accurate and timely
disclosure of information. of information (including financial
of the Company.
BRREREE BREEGRE AAREEE KH RERE REEZHANER EFH

Rby o BE (BHBER)

Shareholders” meetings, investor
enquiries and site visits, disclosure

REBETA -

Publication of notifications and resolutions of

the shareholders’ meetings and disclosure of
information of the Company in accordance with
rules and regulations; organization of various
investor activities; publication of the Company's
contact information on the Company's website
and reports, and assuring all communication
channels are smooth and unobstructed.
RATEMRENSBIANER REAREHR:
HRZEBVANKREE RS ELAMEANRES
ARARBMERN ITHRASEAREESRE
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B HERTABE
Channels and means of
Stakeholders Key targets and interests communication and participation Company’s measures
BHEEEA TERERBEY BESETANEE AFREIE
Employees Protection of basic rights, Workers union, communication Establishment of workers union to provide workers
compensation and benefits, work channels between employees and with a platform to communicate; payment of
environment, development and management, opinion boxes, staff  salaries and benefits in full and on time; payment
promotion and occupational health activities, training and education. of social security insurance in accordance with
and safety. law; provision of a healthy and safe work
environment; establishment of a fair promotion
mechanism; cared about our employees,
organization of employee activities, trainings and
learning activities.
8T EARGRE BEANGMGS ITF Ie BINEREEATE BR MUISAN RUBIXNTE REREER
BE BERET BEEREZZ. - BIEE BIEBE. HMEN fEEMeRE RERE £28
THEREBUATNEAK - BEET A&
BIEE HiHEB
Customers Guarantee of the product quality Regular visits and maintain daily Strengthening of quality control, assurance of
and quantity, long-term and stable communication. steady production and smooth logistic process;
co-operation. provision of adequate products; entering into long
term sales agreements with customers.
=P EnmBENSERE ROEE THES REATER- MmEREEN RELERTMERBG  RET
fEe BEM: RITRBHBE-
Government Lawful operations, payment of Site visits, inspections, work Conducting operation in accordance with the
tax in accordance with the law, conference and discussion, work law; compliance management, payment of tax
production safety, fulfillment of reports, submissions and approvals.  in accordance with the law; strengthening of
social responsibility. the Company's safety management; acceptance
of government supervision, inspection and
examination in accordance with regulations, active
commitment to social responsibilities.
BT BEEE RERT RREE BT BBEER RE IESEMH I SZEEE aRERE RERN  MBRFIREE
HEeEf- W& Wk B E@&%ﬁﬂix EXDNEE RERABER:
BEAELEEE.

Suppliers and contractors

RIER LARR

Fair bidding, long-term stable co-
operation and timely payment.

DYRE REREAE BBHR-

o o

Public bidding meetings and business
meetings, daily communications.

AE HEER-

RRAEH A

Fair bidding, select by merit, performance of
contractual obligations, strengthening of daily
communications, maintenance of long-term
cooperation vvith quality suppliers and contractors.
AERE BEEE RABTAR MBEAER
noEEE ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ%@?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ
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Channels and means of

Stakeholders
EREAA

Key targets and interests

TEAERMEE BESELANEE

communication and participation

Company’s measures

DAREE

Community and the Job opportunities, community

public development, protection charity, volunteering services and
of ecological environment, participation in the construction of
compensation and assistance. the community.
HEERR MEME HERER RELERE APCEED ZEREH TEER

HEEEY- B HBEAREY-

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group has complied with international and national
environmental standards and ensured employee’s health
and safety in production, with an aim to establish a green
and civilized environment, to enhance energy efficiency and
minimize both energy consumption and pollutant discharge
through continuous improvements of management standards.
The production factories of the Group in Guangzhou
and Suzhou have passed the certifications of 1SO9001
and IATF16949 Quality Management System, 1SO14001
Environmental Management System, the audit acceptance of
clean production management, and have received certificates
on standardization of safety production. In addition, the factory
in Guangzhou has also passed the certification of OHSAS18001
Occupational Health and Safety Management System, and
the factory in Suzhou has passed the certification of IECQ QC
080000. A three-level environmental monitoring system has
been implemented by the Group to ensure the full compliance
with the relevant national standards for different types of
pollutants. The Group also implemented an accountability
and performance appraisal system to ensure the specific
responsibilities of various levels of personnel in the execution
and management of the environmental protection system.
During the year under review, the various emission indexes of
the Group have complied fully with the relevant environmental
protection standards. No penalty in relation to the performance
of environmental protection has been imposed on the Group.

Co-hosting of community activities,

Promotion of community building and
development, provision of volunteer service,
establishment of communication channels for the
community and community members; hosting of
community activities, promotion of the building of
harmonious community.

REMERBANER RESEERS FHAEE
BAMEXEOBREE AWLREY RER

RAFHE -
RERE

AEERBEBEMBEROBRIZE  BRERET
SHEENAEZEXHRR R R AR
EREERER RS REMBER  HENE
BHKAE - NEE 7 EM REMNEE TR MA
ISO9001FATF16949 4 E & il 82 & + 1SO14001
REEEBERBR ULBREZEEEEEZR
WL EEEELCIE - BEMNIKRS
MIBMOHSASI1B00 I ¥R L2 EREB R 2R
& N ER N T % EBIECQ QC 0800002 3% »
RERESESEMERTEFEERNHEHEE
L AEETRBREZAEEHE TITHENR
BREZY EESRAEELBEBRERRHE
BHITAER - REBEFENRN  NEESIEH R
EERATAHARBRERE EHIRERN
2 ERIEKRES -
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Emissions — The Group puts best efforts to control the amount
of emissions which affects the environment, strengthens its
competence in environmental supervision and has completed
the installment of online supervision device for waste water
and waste gas, in order to realize real-time supervision and
early warning of major pollution emission source. The Group
has installed an online monitoring system to keep track of the
sewage chemical oxygen demand (COD), pH level and flow
measurement, and also an online monitoring system to keep
track of the heavy metal in sewage. Other facilities include
underground water detection well and surveillance cameras
installed at the discharge outlets for the instant feedback of
information. An independent third party with appropriate
qualifications has also been engaged to operate, maintain
and manage these online facilities to ensure their proper
functioning. During the period under review, the operation of
the Group's facilities for the treatment of waste water, exhaust
gas, solid wastes and noise pollution were stable and met all
relevant inspection standards. As such, the Group is pleased
to report that it complied with national and local laws and
regulations on emission control in relation to the control of
waste gas, greenhouse gas emission, waste water discharge,
noise control as well as generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes in 2018.

o o
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(1) Emission of pollutants (1) SN
No. Type of emissions Unit Total Amount Remark
735 ERMER B meE -k

1 CcoD Tonnes 5.94 Emissions in waste water
TLEFTEE WE BE K P & BERUD

2 Total Chromium kg 2.93 Emissions in waste water
18 % Tr BE K P & BERUD

3 Total Copper Tonnes 0.05 Emissions in waste water
18 iR WE BE K P & BERUD

4 Total Nickel kg 1.4 Emissions in waste water
1 Tr BE K P & BERUD

5 Total Phosphorus Tonnes 0.1 Emissions in waste water
R WA BE K P & BERUD

6 Ammoniacal Nitrogen Tonnes 0.25 Emissions in waste water
R WA BE K P & BERUD

7 Hydrogen Chloride Tonnes 4.97 Emissions in waste gas
gw 7] E SR 2 BER
8 Sulfuric Acid Fog Tonnes 1.83 Emissions in waste gas
B % A E SR 2 BER
o —_
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(2) Quantity of greenhouse gas, waste water discharge 2) BERE -SKkHEHREREEY
and solid wastes

No. Indicator Unit Total Amount Remark
FF 5% EEER By BE t B
1 Total volume of Ten thousand 1.79 Total emission of CO2 equivalent
greenhouse gas tonnes
emission
RERBAEENE B BRI EEENE
2 Volume of industrial ~ Ten thousand 59.92 The Company has excellent sewage
sewage generated tonnes treatment facilities with sewage

treatment rate of 100%
THESKEELEE =g NEBTERNS KRR
5K AE B IR I AL % 100%

3 Hazardous wastes Tonnes 1,474 1 A qualified hazardous wastes treatment
company has been engaged to handle
all hazardous wastes with 100%
compliance rate in wastes treatment

el EEEY 7] ERERFEABELN
EREREBNRE
BHREEE100%
4 Non-hazardous wastes Tonnes 98 Non-hazardous wastes of the Company

included mainly scrap materials, used
plastic sheets and used cardboard,
most of which are recyclable

mEEEY 5 08 ARMERENEBREME -
BB R
K% B E Y ER

/o—/ /_'\O
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Use of resources — The Group insists on the principle of full,
reasonable and effective use of energy and makes every effort
to eliminate inefficiencies, and uses energy-saving equipment
as well as applies innovative energy saving technologies as
much as possible. The target of the energy conservation
management plan is to save energy, save resources, reduce
consumption, reduce environmental pollution and improve
economic efficiency. Multiple initiatives have been launched
for energy and resources conservation, optimization of energy
consumption, reduction of environmental pollution and
reduction of power consumption.

(1) Energy consumption

BERERA-—ASEERUATD 6B LA MM
MARRBERERRRY FRABHHEEKE
ME-WHEEFMEEEREREMAIF AR
fly - EIBEE IR AT B ABKRETR - A EIR - [ K
HE RO RBESAMESEENEREE A
SHHEEMAOEIRLER  BIEREFBR BAORE
BRREEENHERERS R -

(1) BEREFE

No. Indicator Unit Quantity Remark
F 5 EEEH B g B
1 Use of electricity 10,000 kWh 5491 The Group mainly used electricity
as energy source. No coal or heat was used
as energy source
AEE & Tk 5491 AEBTEZERAERER
BEAREKRRERR
(2) Water resource consumption (2) KEREFE
No. Indicator Unit Quantity Remark
a5 HEEH By a2 B
1 Tap water usage 10,000 68.64 The Group used water supplied by the
tonnes urban water supply plant. There were no
issues related to water consumption or
demand
BRKAE A RNEE BT 8RR K
TE7KREE A A SKER A 8
2 Reclaimed water usage 10,000 17.46 During the year, the use of
tonnes reclaimed water increased
by 12.3% on a year-on-year basis
hIKEIAE & FREAMEHKER -

EAERLEFEA123%
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(3)

(4)

Measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved

For the emissions of pollutants in waste water, the Group
has been promoting the adoption of technologies and
equipment with a high resource utilization rate and low
pollutant emission. The Group has also been enhancing
the use of reclaimed water and reducing waste water
discharge. Notwithstanding that the significant increase in
the sales volume of flexible packaging substrates business
as compared to that of last year resulted in a substantial
increase in the production volume of flexible packaging
substrates, the volume of industrial sewage increased
only by approximately 9.6% in 2018 as compared to that
of last year. The total amount of emissions of pollutant
in waste water increased by approximately 16.3% as
compared to that of last year, reflecting a higher efficiency
in waste water treatment. The growth in business has
resulted in an increase of approximately 17% in the total
volume of greenhouse gas emission as compared to that of
last year.

For the emissions of pollutants in waste gas, the emissions
of waste gas has been reduced by enhancing the
operational management of waste gas treatment devices.
The total amount of emissions of pollutants in waste gas
in 2018 decreased by approximately 9.2% from 2017.

Means and measures to handle hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes and results achieved

The Group applies stringent measures in the handling
of hazardous wastes and a qualified hazardous wastes
treatment company has been engaged to handle all
hazardous wastes with 100% compliance rate in wastes
treatment. Comprehensive recycling policy has been
adopted for handling general waste with a comprehensive
utilization rate of approximately 68% in 2018.

o o

(3)

(4)

HEFBRENERRAERR

HREBEKPHSENEER AEEIEHE
KAERMAXRS SRAMHERELSHNT
BRE WwmoapokE A R EEKEE
WeBARAEBE U HEERELES
BLULAFARBIEMEROZ T EERE
EANEERE - /\FEILESKEAE
B EFEEND.6%  EKPHEITR
MPEIRABE L A FIEINA16.3%  I5KE
BHEEs AEKEREBEEREE
M ELL EXFIEMT7% °

HRERPHSEYDEER BBMEESR
REXENETER ROBERER =T
—N\FEEBERFAESEMIRBEL =
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Environment and natural resources — The Group strives
to promote environmental infrastructure and improve the
environmental management system, in order to achieve energy
conservation, reduction of emission, clean production and
safe production and to minimize the impact of production
operations on the environment. The Group has implemented
the full process environmental management on its construction
projects, and introduced the pre-EIA pilot process. The system
of “"Three Simultaneities” has been implemented. That is,
the design, construction and production of environmental
protection facilities as well as the main construction project are
carried out simultaneously. For the environmental risk factors
such as the emission of “three wastes” (waste water, waste
gas and solid waste) in the production process, we carried
out research and established a multi-level risk prevention
and control mechanism, and formulated strict environmental
protection measures to prevent pollution and protect the
ecological environment from the sources of pollution.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Employment and recruitment — The Group recruits talents
based on the principle of openness, equality, competition and
merits. It provides equal opportunities to employees, creating
a fair and non-discriminatory work atmosphere. Approximately
99% of the employees of the Group are located in China and
the Group strictly observes the requirements of labor laws and
regulations of China without breaching any relevant codes or
regulations. The Group also introduces production operation
staff through professional employment agencies. The Company
treats every employee as equal. Their employment, benefits and
promotion will not be affected by social identities including
ethnic group, race, nationality, gender, religion, age, sexual
orientation, political camp and marital status.

BRARER-ASEZENHEERRER
EREEHERR BRAMERE BREE
EEE - SHBLEEELHRENTERD
K- AEEERERBEE2ERRREE #
AIERTAMN ATRERERGEETE
RE R REED REREERN =R
Bl B - St AEERRET [ =] (BEK B
RMERERY) BINERERARRER HARE
%R E BB S - N E B VIR E AR E
B i (EIRBADIR IS R AR L RE o
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Health and safety — The Group upholds the core principle
of “safety first”, fosters a people-oriented culture and
promotes healthy life and safe workplace. The Group has
set safety objectives and targets in accordance with the
standard established by International Standard OHSAS18001
Occupational Safety and Health Management System
certification and regularly evaluates OHSAS to ensure
compliance with the Group’s health and safety requirements.
The Group's Guangzhou Factory has passed the certification
of OHSAS18001 Occupational Health and Safety Management
System. In addition to OHSAS, the Group has also established
a safety committee to monitor the Group's health and safety
matters. These internal policies provide the Group with a
framework to ensure timely assessment of safety and to
assess the current manufacture process in accordance with the
Government and the Group’s health and safety standards.

Development and training — The training of the Group
focuses on important issues while giving a comprehensive
coverage on all matters. In 2018, the Group conducted training
in line with the training requirements for senior and middle
management, professional and technical personnel, first-line
management and production operation staff in accordance
with the training requirements of each position. Independent
professional organizations are engaged to provide training
on various aspects of mental health and lean management,
in order to cultivate staff with sound physical and mental
health and to enhance and improve the knowledge and
working skills of staff at different levels. During the year, a
total of 423 key training programs have been completed, and
approximately 2,980 hours have been devoted to staff training
for approximately 18,000 employees.

o o
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Labour standard - The Group strictly complies with the
provisions of labour laws and relevant laws and regulation
of China and we employ employees who have reached the
legal working age and hold valid identity documents. The
Group recruits on the basis of fairness, just, openness and
voluntariness, and does not force labor to sign an illegal labour
contract. The Group employs employees in accordance with the
requirements strictly, and there is no illegal employment. No
child labor is allowed to work in any workplace of the Group.
The Group also employs interns and temporary workers in
accordance with the law.

Management of supply chain — The Group has established
a relatively comprehensive supplier management system.
Requirements of confidentiality, integrity and product quality
are made clear to suppliers in the processes of supplier
recruitment, supplier evaluation, materials and equipment
procurement, price negotiation and supplier replacement
to ensure the confidentiality of both the Group’s and the
suppliers’ sensitive information, to guarantee the product
qualities and employees’ integrity in the management of
supply chain. The Group requires all suppliers of raw material
to provide test reports on hazardous substances issued by
qualified independent third-party testing institutions and carry
out long-term quality supervision and regular reviews on all
suppliers. In the event that there is a significant change in the
suppliers and/or their qualifications or there is a serious quality
problem in the supplied goods, the Group may suspend the
supplier in question at any time and, if necessary, revoke the
supplier’'s qualification as a qualified supplier of our Group to
ensure the reliability in the quality of our products.

IR -AEEFRZENTESEENAR
ERZRE  BRENEETEFR KAEAX
FNBEHERRE -AKEAREZRAF AL 2
Pk BRNRRAEITHE LERFIS TR
EEBHAR - AEBEBRRILRERKERET
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Product responsibility — The Group has adopted the following
measures to improve product safety and quality: in order to
reduce the quality risk in production, a quality assurance team
has been set up, the testing and grading at the product’s key
control point have been more frequent and product quality
issues are followed up in a timely manner; special testing
equipment to conduct internal supervision of product quality is
used and internal quality control processes are strictly enforced;
the "Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (“WEEE")
directive and the “Restriction of Hazardous Substances”
("RoHS") Directive of the European Union are complied with
and the halogen-free standard is adopted in the production
process.

Anti-corruption — We have formulated a “Guideline for
External Relations” for staff and entered into “Agreement on
United Front of Integrity” with suppliers in light of the actual
situation of the Group, in order to strengthen the corporate
governance and internal control, regulate the behaviours
in business operation, safeguard the legitimate rights and
interests of the shareholders and promote the healthy and
stable development of the Company. The Group encourages
employees to report behaviours which are suspected to involve
corruptions and has established a complaint hotline and e-mail.
The Group clearly stipulates that all employees who commit
fraudulent activities are subject to corresponding economic
and administrative sanctions and those who have violated the
criminal law shall be sent to the judicial authorities according
to the laws. During the year under review, such systems
played a sound monitoring and prevention role in the Group's
risk control and anti-corruption management in which no
significant weakness has been identified.

Participation in community — The Group attaches importance
in contributing to the community, improving community
through the devotion of time, energy and resources, offering
assistance to poor people or disadvantaged groups, and
improving the living conditions of the community. Looking
ahead, the Group will continue to identify new opportunities
for the promotion of sustainable development through business
operations, strengthen participation in the community, and
foster a culture of dedication within the community.

\—
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Directors’ Report

ESERE

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their
annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2018.
SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’'s principal activities are the manufacture and
sale of flexible printed circuit, flexible packaging substrates
and corresponding components. An analysis of the Group's
turnover by geographical market of its customers and operating
segments for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and is
engaged in the sourcing of raw materials and equipment for its
subsidiaries and trading of flexible printed circuits. The activities
of its subsidiaries are set out in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year under
review and a discussion on the Group’s future development are
set out in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 to 8 of this
report and the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages
17 to 33. These discussions form part of this Directors’ report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year under review, as far as the Board and
management are aware, there was no material breach of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by
the Group that has a significant impact on the businesses and
operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to
meet its immediate and long-term business goals. During the
year ended 31 December 2018, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its employees,
customers and suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

A discussion on the environmental policy and performance
of the Group during the year under review is set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 47 to
58 of this report. The Environmental, Social and Governance

Report form part of the Directors’ report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The industry which the Group’s businesses operate in and the
performance of the Group are influenced by changes in market
conditions, technology advancement, evolvement in industry
standards, customers’ demands for the Group’s products,
and changes in preferences of the ultimate customers. The
Group operates its businesses in accordance with various
industry standards and government laws and regulations. In
order to meet the market demands for ever-changing product
functions and new products, the Group has made relatively
substantial investments towards the research and development
("R&D") of new products and new production technologies,
notwithstanding that the R&D expenses of certain projects are
supplemented by government grants. Further, the majority of
the Group's turnover is generated from a few major customers.
Hence, the Group endeavours to respond to such operational
shifts and market demands in a timely manner, to develop
new product application sector, to successfully research and
develop new products and new technologies, to maintain good
co-operative relationships with our customers, so as to avoid
and/or minimize the negative impact of such risks. In addition,
the flexible packaging substrates business has yet to achieve
economic scale due to exploration for new market demand, the
large amount of investment, high fixed costs and high labour
costs. This has become one of the major risk factors of the
Group's performance.

Furthermore, the Group is affected by market risks (such as
currency and interest rate fluctuations), credit risks and liquidity
risks during its ordinary course of business. Details of the
financial risks management of the Group is set out in note 28
of the consolidated financial statements.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on page 89 to 90.

The Directors recommend the payment of final dividend of HK1
cent per share for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017:
HK1 cent) to the shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Friday, 7 June 2019.
Subject to the approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming
"AGM"),
dividend is expected to be paid on or around Thursday, 20 June
2019.

annual general meeting (the the proposed final

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
5 June 2019 to 7 June 2019 (both days inclusive) during
which no transfer of shares will be effected. To qualify for
the distribution of the above-mentioned final dividend, all
properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the share registrar of
the Company, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong by no later than
4:30 p.m. on 4 June 2019.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year under review in the
property, plant and equipment of the Group and the Company
are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note
26 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Details of subsidiaries of the Group are set out in note 38 to

the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date

of this report are as follows:

Executive Director:
Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng (Chairman)

Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Li Ying Hong

(resigned on 24 August 2018)
Mr. Gao Xiaoguang
Mr. Jia Junan
Mr. Wang Chunsheng

(appointed on 30 January 2018)
Ms. Zhang Xiaoming

(appointed on 24 August 2018)
Mr. Yu Daochun

(appointed on 27 November 2018)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew
Mr. Zhao Xiao
(term of office expired on 15 February 2018)
Mr. Cui Zheng
Mr. Yang Zhaoguo
(appointed on 15 May 2018)

Annual Report 2018 —Z—\E & @

g

AREEWNEDRZFH BN RS M HEREKN
38 °

=2

REBFEARBEAREAHN/LEER:

BITES:
RRIEE R4 (£/E)

FHITES:

FRRA 2L
(RZZE—-N\FN\A-+OBEIE)
=mEREE

BEEREL

FEERE
(RZE-NF—-A=1HEZE)
SREEEIZ L
(RZEBE-NFNRZ+HBEEEE)
REERE
(R=ZF-N\F+—HA-ttBEZE)

BIYFHITES:

HEREE

ik
(FHR=_ZE—N\F=-A+HHBE®)

EFEA

BB A4
(RZZ—N\FHEA+HAERT)

O/._\ \—o‘\



AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEFEX£ERAF

Directors’ Report

ESERE

Pursuant to Article 101 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three
or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not
exceeding one-third, shall retire from office, provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. The Directors to retire in every year
shall be those who have been longest in office since their last
election. Accordingly, Mr. Jia Junan, Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew
and Mr. Cui Zheng shall retire at the AGM in accordance with
the Articles of Association. Mr. Jia Junan, Mr. Hung Chi Yuen
Andrew and Mr. Cui Zheng, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election at the AGM.

Pursuant to Article 92 of the Company's Articles of Association,
the Board shall have power from time to time, and at any time
to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a vacancy or
as an addition to the Board. Any Director so appointed shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election
at that meeting. Ms. Zhang Xiaoming and Mr. Yu Daochun,
non-executive Directors appointed on 24 August 2018 and
27 November 2018 respectively, and Mr. Yang Zhaoguo, an
independent non-executive Director appointed on 15 May
2018, will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM.

Ms. Li Ying Hong resigned as a non-executive Director and a
member of the remuneration committee due to retirement on
24 August 2018. During the year under review, no Director
resigned from his office or refused to stand for re-election to
his office due to reasons relating to the affairs of the Company.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years and
thereafter will continue until being terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other. Each of the non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors has been appointed by the Company
under a letter of appointment for a term of three years which
is terminable by not less than three months’ prior notice in
writing served by either party on the other.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

Details of the Directors and chief executives’ remuneration are
set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 December 2018, directors of the
subsidiaries of the Company were as follows:

Name of Subsidiaries

MEBLR AR
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REZ-Z—N\F+-A=1+—HLEFE &
RAIMB AR ZEEHATALTHE:

Name of Directors

Exgs

AKM Electronics Industrial (Panyu) Ltd.

Chai zZhi Qiang (Chairman), Xiong Zheng Feng,

Li Ying Hong, Zhuang Zhijian

ZEMN(ER)EFEEERAR

AKM Electronic Technology (Suzhou)
Company Limited

ZHRMEFEER (BN BRAF]

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2018, none of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company and
their respective associates had or was deemed to have any
interests or short positions in the shares,
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")),
as recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to

underlying shares

the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the
Rules:

“Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing

wEw(FE)
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Xiong Zheng Feng (executive Director)
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(@) The Company

(i)

(i)

Interest in shares of the Company

AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEFEZERAF

Class and number
of securities of
which interested
(other than

(a) =27

() RERGRGZEZE

Approximate
percentage of
total number
of issued shares
in the Company
as at

Name of the Company under equity Long/Short 31 December

Name in which interest is held derivatives)  Capacity position 2018

RZE-N%F

R R tTZA=+—-H

ELERRYA BEERARZH

REFRERERZ (BR&HTE EERTROBEZ

#e A IEKN) 586 HE/RE =R

Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng  the Company 9,400,000  Beneficial owner Long 0.61
ordinary shares

REBRE NS 9,400,000% E#HEAA e 0.61
ERR

Mr. Chai Zhi Qiang the Company 7,975,000  Beneficial owner Long 0.52
ordinary shares

KERTE NS 7,975,000 E#HEBA e 0.52
ERR

Interest in the underlying shares of the Company

through equity derivatives

As at 31 December 2018, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, none of the Directors nor chief

executive of the Company had or was deemed

to have any interest in the underlying shares the

Company.
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(b) The associated corporation

As at 31 December 2018, to the best knowledge of the
the Directors, none of the Directors nor chief executive of
the Company had or was deemed to have any interests
or short positions in the shares or the underlying shares
or debentures of any associated corporations of the
Company (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that
was required to be recorded pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO and the Model Code.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review was the Company,
its holding Company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
which the Company, its holding companies, fellow subsidiaries
or subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at any time during the year under review or at the
end of the year under review.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or in existence during the year
under review.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the top five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 10 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2018, to the best knowledge of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company, shareholders
(other than Directors) who had any interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or who were directly
or indirectly interested in 10% or more of all issued shares to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any members
of the Group are set out as below:
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Class and number of
securities in which

Annual Report 2018
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Approximate
percentage of
total number of
issued shares
in the Company

interested (other than Long/short  as at 31 December
Name of substantial shareholder Capacity under equity derivatives) position 2018
RZE-N\F
+=B=+-H
EAXREH
BEzRAZERNREE ERTROBEZ
TERRER L) (RAEFTETARM) #e/ %R BHEDE
(Note 5)
(Hi:t5)
Alpha Luck (Note 1) Beneficial owner 553,900,000 Long 36.01
ordinary shares
ZMER (1) BafEEA 553,900,000 & & i e 36.01
Silver City ("Silver City") (Note 1) Interest in controlled 553,900,000 Long 36.01
corporation ordinary shares
REBRE ([REER]) RERHAR 2R 553,900,000 & i L35} 36.01
(Hizt1)
China North Industries Corporation Interest in controlled 553,900,000 Long 36.01
(“CNIC") (Note 1 and 2) corporation ordinary shares
RELFIEERAR ([LFIE]) RERHAR 2R 553,900,000 & i L35} 36.01
(Hz1k2)
China North Industries Group Interest in controlled 553,900,000 Long 36.01
Corporation ("CNIGC") (Note 2) corporation ordinary shares
PR TEERARAR REBHAR 2R 553,900,000 & i L35} 36.01
(THhBEIERTE]) (Hi#2)
China South Industries Group Interest in controlled 553,900,000 Long 36.01
Corporation ("CSIGC") (Note 2) corporation ordinary shares
PEASREEERERAR REBHAR 2R 553,900,000 & i L35} 36.01
(ThBEREE]) (Hi2)
Goertek (HongKong) Co., Limited Beneficial owner 363,650,000 Long 23.64
("HK Goertek”) (Note 3) ordinary shares
EETBRERBERAF BREBA 363,650,000 & 1 & L35} 23.64
(IBERARR]) (WiH3)
Weifang Goertek Trading Co., Limited Interest in controlled 363,650,000 Long 23.64
("Weifang Goertek") (Note 3) corporation ordinary shares
HPRBESHERRAR (TEHTE]) REBHDR 2 EH 363,650,000/ % i & e 23.64
(Hi#3)
GoerTek (Note 3) Interest in controlled 363,650,000 Long 23.64
corporation ordinary shares
TER (H:23) RERHAR 2R 363,650,000 & 1 & L35} 23.64
Anjie Technology (Hong Kong) Company ~ Beneficial owner 200,000,000 Long 13.00
Limited (“HK Anjie") (Note 4) ordinary shares
ZEMB(EB)ERRA ExfEAA 200,000,000 & i i L3} 13.00
(IERRR]) (Wit4)
Anjie Technology (Note 4) Interest in controlled 200,000,000 Long 13.00
corporation ordinary shares
RERE (Hit4) N YNk 3 200,000,000 & i i L3} 13.00
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Notes:

As Alpha Luck is wholly and beneficially owned by Silver City, which in turn
is wholly and beneficially owned by CNIC, both Silver City and CNIC are
deemed to be interested in the same number of shares of the Company
held by Alpha Luck under Part XV of the SFO.

As the equity interest of CNIC was owned as to 56.7% by CNIGC and as to
37.54% by CSIGC, both of CNIGC and CSIGC are deemed to be interested
in the same number of shares of the Company held by CNIC under Part XV
of the SFO.

As HK Goertek is wholly and beneficially owned by Weifang Goertek, which
in turn is wholly and beneficially owned by GoerTek, both Weifang Goertek
and GoerTek are deemed to be interested in the same number of shares of
the Company held by HK Goertek under Part XV of the SFO.

As HK Anjie is wholly and beneficially owned by Anjie Technology, Anjie
Technology is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares of the
Company held by HK Anjie under Part XV of the SFO.

None of Alpha Luck, Silver City, CNIC, HK Goertek, Weifang Goertek,
GoerTek, HK Anjie or Anjie Technology was interested in any securities of
the Company under equity derivatives.

SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected

Transactions”, no transaction, arrangement or contract of

significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries

was a party and in which a shareholder of the Company had

a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at

the end of the year under review or at any time during the year

under review.
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ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

On 29 November 2017, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with Alpha Luck Industrial Ltd. (“Alpha
Luck”), the controlling shareholder of the Company, and a
subscription agreement with Suzhou Anjie Technology Co.
Ltd (“Anjie Technology”), respectively, pursuant to which
Alpha Luck and Anjie Technology respectively subscribed for
103,900,000 shares and 200,000,000 shares at the subscription
price of HK$1.50 per share (collectively the “Subscriptions”).
The Subscriptions were simultaneously completed on 30
January 2018. The relevant Subscription Shares were issued
to the qualifying shareholders on 30 January 2018. Each of
the Subscription Share, which was ordinary share, ranked pari
passu in all respects among themselves and with the Shares
in issue on the date of their respective issue. Details of the
Subscriptions were disclosed in the Company’s announcements
dated 29 November 2017, 9 January 2018 and 30 January
2018 as well as the circular dated 20 December 2017.

The Company did not issue any debentures during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

RESERVE

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s reserve available for
distribution to shareholders comprised the retained profit of
HK$81,395,000.

Details of movements in the reserve of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 93.
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CONFIRMATIONS OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based
on such confirmation, the Company considers that all of its

independent non-executive Directors are independent.
RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the Group's retirement benefits schemes for the
year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merits,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are decided
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance and

comparable market statistics.
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RESTRICTED STOCK INCENTIVE SCHEME

The restricted stock incentive scheme (“the Scheme”) of the
Company was approved and adopted by the Board on 13
December 2018, and was duly passed by the independent

shareholders by way of poll at the extraordinary general

meeting held on 31 January 2019. The Scheme does not

constitute a share option scheme within the meaning of

Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and is a discretionary scheme of

the Company. The details of the Scheme are as follows:

(1)

(2)

Purpose

The purpose of the Scheme is to further improve
corporate governance of the Group, retain and motivate
its participants of the Scheme (“Scheme Participants”) to
make contributions to the long-term growth and profits
of the Group with a view to achieving the objectives
of increasing the value of the Group and to promote
a greater alignment of interests between the Scheme
Participants and the Shareholders.

Scope of Scheme Participants

The Scheme Participants shall include the executive
Director(s), members of the senior management and
management personnel who, as determined by the Board,
contribute directly to the overall business performance
and sustainable development of the Company. The
participation in the Scheme by members of the Board and
senior management, who are under the administration
of the party committee of the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State
Council ("SASAC"), have been approved by the SASAC on
28 December 2018. Unless approved by the Shareholders,
the Scheme Participants shall exclude Shareholders who
hold more than 5% equity interest in the Company
carrying voting rights on the grant date. The assessment
results of each Scheme Participant shall achieve grade B or
above according to the related measures for performance
appraisal of the Company.
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(3)

(4)

(5)

Restricted Stock

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board shall select the Scheme
Participants and determine the number of restricted stock
to be granted. The Company will appoint a trustee to
purchase the Shares from the secondary market and a
grant price shall be payable by the Scheme Participants.

Maximum Grant

The maximum total number of Shares comprised in the
restricted stock to be granted under the Scheme shall
not exceed 10% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of approval of the Scheme at the
extraordinary general meeting ("EGM") (i.e. 31 January
2019).

Unless approval is obtained at the Shareholders’ general
meeting by way of special resolution, the total number of
restricted stock granted or to be granted to any Scheme
Participant shall not exceed 1% of the total issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of approval of the
Scheme at the EGM (i.e. 31 January 2019).

As of 31 January 2019, the Company's total number of
issued Shares was 1,538,237,500 ordinary shares.

Duration of the Scheme

The Scheme shall be effective for a term of 10 years
commenced from the adoption date (i.e. 31 January
2019), unless early termination is proposed by the Board
and approved by the Shareholders. Unless otherwise
required, the restricted stock granted before the
termination of the Scheme shall remain effective and could

be unlocked according to the terms of the Scheme.
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(6)

(7)

Determination of the Grant Price

The grant price of the restricted stock to be granted to the
Scheme Participants shall be determined by the Board. The
base date for the determination of the grant price is the
grant date. The pricing basis of the grant price shall not be
set lower than the highest of the following: (i) the closing
price of the Shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange on
the grant date; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares
as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the five trading days
immediately preceding the grant date; and (iii) the average
closing price of the Shares in the 20 trading days, 60
trading days or 120 trading days immediately before the
grant date. The grant price shall be 50% of the pricing
basis and shall not be lower than the most recent audited
net asset per Share.

Lock-up Period and Unlocking Period

In principle, the lock-up period shall be for a period of
not less than two years commencing from the grant
date, during which the restricted stock granted to the
Scheme Participants shall be locked up and shall not be
transferred, used as guarantee or for repayment of debts.
In principle, the unlocking period shall be for a period
of not less than three years commencing from the expiry
of the lock-up period. Eligible restricted stock will be
gradually unlocked during the unlocking period.

Details of the Scheme were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 13 December 2018 as well as the
circular dated 16 January 2019.

On 14 February 2019, the Board approved the grant of
an aggregate of 27,500,000 restricted stock (representing
approximately 1.788% of the total number of issued
Shares of the Company) to 81 selected Scheme
Participants (excluding Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng, an executive
Director, and Mr. Chai Zhi Qiang, the chief executive
officer of the Company) at the grant price of HK$0.65 per
Share in accordance with the Scheme .

As at the date of this report, the trustee of the Scheme has not
yet hold any Shares. As at the date of this report, none of the
Restricted Stock was cancelled.

(6)

(7)

KA 3 A 8

Annual Report 2018 —Z—\E &

RTERNEE

EXeREER T2 EENRSIMER
ENRTER - RTERNETELBS
BEYH -RTEBRNEEEETTERT

NSRS E®K: WVEORETBEEBZA
E’Jﬂﬂzm{ﬁ SN REER T A ZRI A E

RS BEBXHFEHRTE: Rk Hn
REEZERETHA0EXRSH  60ERZSH
120182 5 B R FHWTE - % FERE
HEREBEEMNSO%  BETEBERKIA
MK EZEREEFE

TS K R

ZEHRERTHERM EANDRME-
REEHAR BT 82 8E R 1R
ST - TREE AR ERNERE
BoEMBEEER N BERA LA
PR=F - BEBRRBINERZ AR A2 H
MBS AR -

SEFBERARABEA-ZT—N\F
TZAT=AZAMEZZE—NF—A
FRBZBERPEE-

N-_E—NF-_A+NBE EFSRBBRE
Fﬁ%&tkhﬁO%%mZ&%fﬂm
SIZETTEZ2EE (TRIERITESRE
PR ERARNBITRAELEE®RTE)
B F 4 $£27,500,0008% R 4 14 A% 22 0 45 &
NEEBEITRMNBE491.788% °

ET B FEA R R R A E AT

Do MAFHAH BEBRHMERFEREH-

F—

L_O\.



AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEFEZERAF

Directors’ Report

ESERE

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions of pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the aggregate amount
of turnover attributable to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 65% of the Group's turnover
and the turnover attributable to the Group’s largest customer
accounted for approximately 23% of the Group’s turnover.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the aggregate amount
of purchases attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 31% of the Group’s purchases
and the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier
accounted for approximately 10% of the Group’s purchases.

Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors, their
respective close associates nor any shareholder (who or which
to the best knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company) has any interest in the
top five customers and top five suppliers of the Group during
the year under review.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or their respective close associates (as
defined under the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business
which causes or may cause significant competition with the
business of the Group.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 1 April 2014, the Company (for itself and on behalf of its
subsidiaries) signed a framework purchase agreement (”Existing
Purchase Agreement”) with GoerTek Inc (“GoerTek”, for itself
and on behalf of its subsidiaries) in relation to the transactions
for selling of parts, components and other products (including
but not limited to FPC products) (“Subject Transactions”). As
the term of the Existing Purchase Agreement expired on 31
December 2016, the Company (for itself and on behalf of
its Subsidiaries) and GoerTek (for itself and on behalf of its
Subsidiaries) renewed the Existing Purchase Agreement on
6 December 2016, by entering into the Renewed Purchase
Agreement (“Renewed Purchase Agreement”) in relation
to the Subject Transactions for a further term of three
years commenced from 1 January 2017 and expiring on 31
December 2019. Such transactions constituted non-exempt
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
the Listing Rules. The Renewed Purchase Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder, as well as the annual
caps for three years starting from 2017 were approved by
the independent shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 16 January 2017. Under the
Renewed Purchase Agreement, the annual caps for each of
the year ending 31 December 2017, 31 December 2018 and
31 December 2019 was RMB210,000,000, RMB250,000,000
and RMB300,000,000 respectively. Details about the terms of
the Renewed Purchase Agreement, the continuing connected
transactions and the annual caps had been disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 6 December 2016 and the
circular dated 29 December 2016.
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Under the Existing Purchase Agreement, the annual cap for the
Continuing Connected Transactions was RMB250,000,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

During the period from 1 January 2018 to 31 December
2018, the aggregate amount of the Continuing Connected
Transactions was approximately RMB119,440,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$141,220,000).

The Directors (including all the independent non-executive
Directors) had reviewed the Continuing Connected Transactions
and had confirmed that the Continuing Connected Transactions
were entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Company than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and

(3) in accordance with the Renewed Purchase Agreement
governing the transactions and on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the
Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Company
has received an unmodified report from the independent
auditor containing their finding and conclusions in respect of
the Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the independent
auditor’s report has been provided by the Company to the
Stock Exchange.
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The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of
the Continuing Connected Transactions.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to
the Company, and so far as the Directors are aware of, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the latest
practicable date prior to the date of this report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The articles of association of the Company provides that every
Director, manager, secretary or officer as well as every auditor
of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/
she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties
of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Company has not entered
into permitted indemnity provisions with the Directors. During
the year under review, the Company has taken out and
maintained appropriate insurance to cover potential legal
actions against its Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the restricted stock incentive scheme disclosed on
pages 73 to 75 of this report, no equity-linked agreements
were entered into by the Group or existed during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

DONATIONS

The Group had not made charitable or other donations of
HK$10,000 or above during the year under review (2017: Nil).
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution will
be submitted to the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of
the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
AKM Industrial Company Limited
Xiong Zheng Feng

CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong, 18 March 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % BURD R

Deloitte

TO THE MEMBERS OF AKM INDUSTRIAL COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
AKM Industrial Company Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set
out on pages 89 to 211, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

B ETSEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional RS ETEEIZRIE T PO ZHE - YAH
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the HFAUKBRENBEASAEENETE -ZEF
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These HERAEXRMEFBEGAMEHRELEAEER
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the BETEEMN M TSHELEHEHES
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming HER -

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key audit matter

REETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNEST TN AEEREBARESER

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and prepaid lease payments

W¥E BERRERBENEENEZHETFE

We identified the impairment assessment of
property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease
payments, as a key audit matter because of the
significant degree of management judgement
and estimation uncertainty to determine
whether the carrying amount of these assets are
recoverable based on the operating results and the
development plan of the Group.

HRRE BEEENEEXERERAIFTEZS
EENGHSHRSKE P RERRENERE
R AP EE S BB PSR BE LR B
MREMNEEFBEZ REN ARERERETEFE-

As disclosed in notes 13 and 14 to the
consolidated financial statements, carrying
amount of plant and equipment and prepaid lease
payments as at 31 December 2018 amounted to
HK$779,632,000 and HK$46,924,000, respectively.
BIRE M BRAWFI3RI4FEE R —N
FHA=1T—BrEHEL&HEIENEEFIER
E A5 5 /779,632,000 7T 146,924,000/ 7T

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of
property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease payments
included:
B BB K& R A & R IE R E AT AH R Y 12
FrEf

o Understanding management’s assessment in
estimating the value in use of the property, plant
and equipment and prepaid lease payments;
BEREIRENMEFTYE BB MR EREMNEERE
i B EM TG
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Key audit matter

BREEITEH
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BRESEIR (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNEF TN AEERAREN SR

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and prepaid lease payments
(Cont’d)

WE - BERRERANHEHEZFETE (E)

The recoverable amounts of the property, plant
and equipment and prepaid lease payments are
determined based on the value in use calculation
and certain key assumptions. The key assumptions
used in estimating the discounted future pre-tax
cash flows include projected revenue, gross profit
margin and discount rates.

ME - -HWERREBELANEEFRIENATRDSETD
RBEEREBEEAEMNETIZRRET - LR
ARBRARESRSMEANTZREBEEDK
o EMERRARE

Details relating to the management impairment
assessment on these assets are set out in note 13
to the consolidated financial statements.
FHEEERAEEEMELRENENFESR
RiEa M BmRME13 -

Evaluating the valuation model including (i) the
assumptions applied therein, prepared by the
management in determining the value in use
based on management’s estimates of projected
revenue, gross profit margin from the operations,
with reference to the historical performance
and the latest budget of the Group approved
by the management; (ii) discount rates used by
management by comparing the data derived
externally to the Group’s own inputs of the current
market risk-free rate of interest; and
¥T1EI1ET§F'J?E??E$%'@%() B P RE A B R AR
ARRDEEENEECEBEERMEL  XUAE
E2ZRERERKEREMILAEDN ;wlf%ﬁ

TAE S8 B TR ORI & K BN K P B9 5T (8 R K
TF (VEIREPTEARBRIR X - 1t B B K K B IR
MEMTSERRMNXEER SEEEFNEA
%M’f}{/&ttﬁ 1TaME s &

Evaluating the historical accuracy of the
management’s assessment by comparing the
historical estimates to actual parameters in current
year.

EBEEE AT EAFENERSHBLLE - AT
& IR JE P 1E B0 AT Al A B SR EREE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Key audit matter

BEEITEE

BRESEIR (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNEFTENAEERAREN SR

Allowances for inventories

FERE

We identified the allowances for inventories as
a key audit matter because of the significant
degree of management judgement and estimation
uncertainty to determine the amount of allowances
based on net realisable values.
HRREASRFEET L RESBIRERREE
BE IR B H T R AT RN A B M FEE R
HRERBARETER-

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, carrying amount of the Group's
inventories as at 31 December 2018 amounted to
HK$117,812,000 net of allowance for inventories
of HK$12,613,000.

WAER S IR M 4T B E  RZE—N\F+=
A=+—H Ef£EZHFHERMEER117,812,000
BT (MR EFEER#12,613,00087T)

Management of the Group reviewed the aged
analysis of the inventories at the end of the
reporting period to determine whether any
provision is required to write off or write down
inventories to their net realisable values, based on
the latest selling prices and current marketable
conditions.

EEEERERR TRBERRZFERKRD T
URBSOHEEIRFAHERAEETREET
FHREBAMBE SRR T EE A 2R H(E -

Our procedures in relation to the allowance for inventories
included:

BPEFERERENEF R

o Understanding the management’s assessment
in estimating the net realisable values of the
inventories and the Group’s policy adopted for
making allowances to write off or write down
inventories to their net realisable values.
BREBENEAFEAZREFERNTEE &
SEFTIRBEBEAMEMOR T EE A Z R FEMN
FRERHY R

o Testing the appropriateness of the aged analysis
of inventories on a sample basis by checking the
ageing date to date of purchase or manufacture.
BB KRR A PEBENAER LY
NARAFEREDTHSEE-

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the management'’s
estimates of the net realisable values of the
inventories by comparing the unit cost of the
inventories, on a sample basis, to the latest invoice
prices of sale.

BEETR BFENSKIHEEEEMKALL
? AEEREEHTEA SR R ENMGNSIE T

o Evaluating the historical accuracy of the allowance
made by the Group by comparing the allowance
made in prior year to actual amount of inventories
written off in current year.
REFELNBEERAFEMMETENEREE
LB PARTE BEEBEE LB E L ERIE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

o o

RBE R E AR S M MR A AER
5

BPNBEDHEAMBERRERES MFHE
MR REFR R M EMNERERBANGEE
BRE UHASREMAELNOZEE®RSE AL
RIBIRIBE B R AHEDIE4051%E R BT (1F
RER)BE BUZIARRERNEEMBBEN-
BRI ARENATHIMNEMALER
FAEEE  AEFRE[SRNRFORE BB
RELRREBBENFERETHEARRLEERE
R SRR o 85 AR BR M T LA e BRFF S $E R 5 2
HEIEEREE G ERRERAIETERE N
MR E R EKELR A P MK TEL LR
RIE - A BB R S RIR A A RARFE K -

ERRBERBEMERETENEF R R
PERBRHAE REFXREEE B

o HRIMFHERRKFRERMEIEE R
BHRERFEERERRAA R &R
WITERREFARYELRR ARES
FRMEENRSERZ EFRRFMAZRM
A - RN MEFA e R BER BE - BE
B BRI EBRABERE £
Bk R BE 3 30 E BGRF M B B B RS RR
AWERERAREERREBERMEHEK
B8 AR Rt 0 L B
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % BURD R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE ZE R BT RS M A R AREN
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL BEE(£E)

STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to o  TREEFHBARNIBEIE  URTHEE
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are MEFEF BENYEYE EEEAI
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose EENBEREERER -

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used o FEESAHFEASHBRNAEELELD
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and i AT MR EN S B -
related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of o HEERAFECESSHERNBEEE

the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the i o RIBPIERNEZARE HERLS
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty ﬁEE@%IEjZ\ REBEHERTRET
exists related to events or conditions that may cast wmA e BEYE ESEMNFELERES
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a FEEX EE WA MR RTFEEKRNTHE
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty EM-RENEEZBANREFRIRZE LA
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's BEEIRRAVBHRERPOEBEESR BE
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated ﬁﬁﬁﬁ’\ﬁ)ﬁiﬁé?i’H'Jﬁﬁ[ﬁ%%%#ﬁﬁ%
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, BER- ﬁﬁﬁ’]%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ/\‘ﬁgﬁﬁi&i |
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the LIEFFES R 5T IRE « AT - KRR FIENIB
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's MA S BEEBETREBELE -

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content o I EBHEAMBEHREOBEIHKT X &iE
of the consolidated financial statements, including the MR BIERE L/(&iﬁ/\ﬁﬂ‘%#lﬁi\:zzf—f
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial e KRR S KEIR-
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding e &t EEIWKE{T B EBRETHNTBE

the financial information of the entities or business KESTRE - EEMNETRE  UEHEKE
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the FBHERERZERE -BMEE E5£EHE
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for AT BE B AT - M AEETE R
the direction, supervision and performance of the group BE2HEE-

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Li Kin Fai.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

18 March 2019

\—

o o
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

= AN
A

Sa REME2E KK

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
iz FERT T T
Revenue A 5 1,223,803 1,118,838
Cost of sales HE A (1,071,832) (898,627)
Gross profit EF 151,971 220,211
Other income E b A 6 56,253 17,874
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENE R REE 27 - (3,224)
Distribution costs o EH AR (19,433) (16,760)
Administrative expenses T (41,187) (36,551)
Research and development expenses fift % & (63,774) (79,882)
Share of profit of an associate JE(h — 5 & 2 D& 163 40
Finance costs B A 7 (215) (2,850)
Profit before taxation B ¢ B A 8 83,778 98,858
Taxation IR 9 (14,444) (19,850)
Profit for the year KEE & F 69,334 79,008
Other comprehensive (expense) Hihz2m (M)
income:
ltem that may be subsequently HgEmsEEER
reclassified to profit or loss: BHE:
Exchange differences arising on BREBINEREEZ
translation of foreign operations fE R =% (60,102) 40,586
Share of exchange difference of EE—AEBE Rz
an associate PE =% (183) 192
Reclassification of translation RSB R ERA
reserve to profit or loss mEREBEENDE
upon disposal of subsidiaries ZEH - 1,729
(60,285) 42,507
o—/.
o —_

L_O\.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
mEBEaREMEZE RS X

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—+F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt TET FET
Item that will not be reclassified to #H T @REHBEFTHIEE
profit or loss: BmsIEE:
Fair value loss on equity instrument & A FEFAEMEE
at fair value through other Wz mTEZ
comprehensive income NEEEE (1,359) -
(61,644) 42,507
Total comprehensive income REE2HWEETE
for the year 7,690 121,515
Profit (loss) for the year JEIEARERZ A (EE) -
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KRR A 69,334 79,016
Non-controlling interests FEVE MR M A - (8)
69,334 79,008
Total comprehensive income EE 2B
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZAN/NETEF =N 7,690 121,511
Non-controlling interests FE5 R - 4
7,690 121,515
2018 2017
—E-N\F I
Earnings per share — basic BRER —HEK 12 HK4.58 centsiE Al HK6.62 cents/B




Annual Report 2018 —Z—\E & °

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R &

At 31 December 2018 R-ZE—/F+-A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\EF e
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
Jiokza FET FATT
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment L ES e 13 779,632 633,309
Prepaid lease payments FENHEENRIA 4 45,717 49,187
Interest in an associate R—EEERE 2 #Em 15 3,828 3,848
Available-for-sale investment AHEEZIRE 16 - 17,945
Equity instrument at fair value ANTFEFAEMEERE
through other comprehensive Wez#mTA
income 16 18,078 -
Deposits for property, plant and M- WEREHE
equipment B 13 20,980 14,694
868,235 718,983
Current assets MENEE
Inventories "E 17 117,812 95,480
Trade and other receivables H 5 Kk E MW EIE 18 528,870 361,043
Prepaid lease payments AT & IR 14 1,207 1,265
Tax recoverable Ay Y Bl F 18 102 -
Pledged bank deposits EEFRITER 19 2,358 2,357
Bank balances and cash WITHB LA S 20 152,865 89,288
803,214 549,433
Current liabilities uﬁ@]@ &
Trade and other payables B 5 N H M RRIE 21 425,940 413,146
Deferred income ,LLH&)\ 22 763 5,288
Taxation payable FERTBIIE 5,371 8,456
Bank borrowings RITEHE 23 - 67,976
432,074 494,866
Net current assets FREEE 371,140 54,567
Total assets less current liabilities BEERIBEE 1,239,375 773,550

F—
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e B OR &

At 31 December 2018 R-ZE—/F+-A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
k2 FET FET
Capital and reserves s A K%
Share capital % A 26 921,553 466,667
Reserves ] 266,464 271,776
Equity attributable to owners of NATIHER ANEREE
the Company 1,188,017 738,443
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Deferred income EIEWA 22 24,042 26,001
Deferred taxation RIEFE I 24 10,196 9,106
Liability due to a shareholder JER—RE 2 EE 25 17,120 -
51,358 35,107
1,239,375 773,550

The consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 211 were BBEE2RN -_ZT—AF=ZA+/\BHELRET
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on ~ #F89FE211H Z A MEHE LA NIES

18 March 2019 and are signed on its behalf by: REBRE:
XIONG ZHENG FENG HUNG CHI YUEN ANDREW
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
REIF g HER
EBFE EFE




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ARBBEDRE

nv'_R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/)\F+_-HA=+—HIFFZ

Attributable to owners of the Company

Annual Report 2018

—E-N\FFH

KRAREARE
Fair value
through
other
comprehensive
Statutory income Non-
Share surplus ("FVTOCI")  Translation Retained controlling
capital reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests Total
DFERFA
A2
Wi ([A¥E
EERE HAHMRE
& B UWERE BERE REEH a8 FERER ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TERL TR T#n TERL TR TEn TEL
At 1 January 2017 RZE-+t4%-A—-H 333,161 - B (3,684) 153,949 483,426 631 484,057
Profit (loss) for the year RERHET (B8) - - - - 79,016 79,016 (8 79,008
Exchange differences arising BEENEBELY
on translation of foreign EREE
operations - - - 40,574 - 40,574 12 40,586
Share of exchange difference of AME—HBERE
an assodiate EHER - - - 192 - 192 - 192
Reclassification of translation reserve I EBARABENHH
to profit or loss upon disposal of BEGREESR
subsidiaries - - - 1,729 - 1,729 - 729
Total comprehensive income TEE2ENEES
for the year - - - 42,495 79,016 121,51 4 121,515
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve ~ BEZETRAHERE - 22,551 - - (22,551) - - -
Issue of shares upon rights issue REREETRA 133,506 - - - - 133,506 - 133,506
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 27) HERBAR (Hi227) - - - - - - (635) (635)
At 31 December 2017 R-B—tF
tZA=1-H 466,667 22,551 - 38,811 210414 738,443 - 738,443
Adjustments (note 2) BR (i) - - 2,380 - - 2,380 - 2,380
At 1 January 2018 R=%-\5-A—-H 466,667 22,551 2,380 38,811 210,414 740,823 - 740,823
Profit for the year TEERT - - - - 69,334 69,334 - 69,334
Exchange differences arising BEBNEBELL
on translation of foreign EXZHE
operations - - - (60,102) - (60,102) - (60,102)
Fair value loss on equity instruments AHE HARMRE
at fair value through other B ERTAZ
comprehensive income JFTEEE? - - (1,359) - - (1,359) - (1,359)
Share of exchange difference of Ae-HBERREL
an associate 28 - - - (183) - (183) - (183)
Total comprehensive income FEER2ENEES
for the year - - (1,359) (60,285) 69,334 7,690 - 7,690
Issue of shares 2y 455,850 - - - - 455,850 - 455,850
Transaction costs attributable to BIRNELER SHA
issue of shares (964) - - - - (964) - (964)
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve ~ ERZEFRSEE - 11,408 - - (11,408) - - -
Dividend paid (note 11) BRRE (Hit11) - - - - (15,382) (15,382) - (15,382)
At 31 December 2018 RZB-N\E
tZA=+-H 921,553 33,959 1,021 (21,474) 252,958 1,188,017 - 1,188,017

Note: Statutory surplus reserve represented the People's Republic of China (the
"PRC") statutory reserves. Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations and the
articles of association of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company (as defined
in note 1), the PRC subsidiaries are required to transfer not less than 10%
of their post-tax profit to statutory reserves (i.e. statutory surplus reserve)
as reserve funds until the aggregated amounts have reached 50% of their
registered capitals. These reserves should only be used to make up losses,

or conversion into capital,
according to the relevant rules in the PRC.

or expansion of production and operation

EEBBEBETEARKME ([HE])EEM

o RBETREMERRARE (EE M) HE
MEARMSRRZMA PREMBEARAKGETIR
10% 8 &6 M B =R T (BUET BRI F
REGED BEERAEREEHEMERN0%R
o BB BEARRRE  ZERHE

R BB AR EREEL
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HEREMEBR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

\—

o o

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—LF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXE®
Profit before taxation B B B S 83,778 98,858
Adjustments for: HTHSIBIEL A
Share of profit of an associate B (5 — A Bt & A B i A (163) (40)
Interest expense B R SZ 215 2,850
Interest income FLEMA (7.372) (1,035)
Provision for (reversal of) EEEE/REBEZ
allowance for credit loss/ B (BERE)
doubtful debts 127 (25)
(Net reversal of) allowance for FE (BEELFE) BE
inventories (684) 5,172
Amortisation of prepaid lease T8~ 18 & SR8 4 5
payments 1,250 1,220
Depreciation of property, ME- -BERZRB2ITE
plant and equipment 89,830 62,487
Foreign exchange difference on SEANRRIBGHZ
inter-company balances E R =58 (23,185) 2,841
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - KE R
plant and equipment R BB 5,598 4,550
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEN B AR EE - 3,224
Deferred income recognised ERERIRTEWA (32,549) (6,455)
Operating cash flows before EEEZHATLE
movements in working capital ReRE 116,845 173,647
Increase in inventories FE®M (26,685) (15,419)
Increase in trade and other B 5 I H i FE U GR IR IS hn
receivables (187,814) (39,369)
Increase in trade and other payables & 5 & H fib & <t ZUIAE hN 31,452 67,839
Government grant received R B A 27,540 8,311
Cash (used in) generated from rmeE (M) ABHRE
operations (38,662) 195,009
Hong Kong Profits tax paid ERNBEENEH (790) (545)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid EfRBEEEMGEH (14,989) (16,619)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM REXEL (FF)FRB
OPERATING ACTIVITIES R& 3 (54,441) 177,845
e Re)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

nv—_ﬁ | Iﬁ:ﬁ/)lbi '%E

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/)\F+_-HA=+—HIFFZ

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
iz FET FAT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXH
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE BEREB
equipment (288,198) (187,940)
Interest received B U FH B 7,372 1,035
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE BEM&EE
plant and equipment RG-S 3,974 522
Net cash inflows on disposal of HENBRARIZER®
subsidiaries A FER 27 - 9,545
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REXBAEREER
ACTIVITIES (276,852) (176,838)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES RE X
Proceeds from issue of shares BT PT1S 3R 1A 455,850 -
Expenses on issue of shares %; TRMO X (964)
Proceeds from issue of rights shares 2774 i f% 15 FT 18 7018 - 135,777
Expenses on issue of rights shares 277 % 15 5 52 - (2,271)
Increase in liability due to R—ZBRE 2B EL N
a shareholder 17,120 -
New borrowings raised IgEE 11,542 95,617
Repayment of bank borrowings BEERTEE (78,869) (167,471)
Interest paid EATFE (215) (2,850)
Dividends paid X’ E (15,382) -
NET CASH FROM FINANCING MEXBESREEE
ACTIVITIES 389,082 58,802
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND ReRBReZEHEEHR
CASH EQUIVALENTS B nFEEE 57,789 59,809
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS H¥EBEESRESEEHER
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 89,288 26,603
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE /M ERSF 2 &
RATE CHANGES 5,788 2,876
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS &XBESRBESESEHER
AT END OF THE YEAR, MRTHEBRRRES
REPRESENTING BANK
BALANCES AND CASH 152,865 89,288
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

GENERAL

AKM Industrial Company Limited (the “Company”) is a
public limited company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability on 9 December 1993.

The shares of the Company were listed on the GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) with effect from 18 August 2004. On 18 June
2014, the Company transferred the listing of its shares
from GEM to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The
registered office of the Company is situated at Rooms
2708-11, 27th Floor, West Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-
200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong, and the
principal place of business of the Company is situated at
63 Huan Shi Road South, Information Technology Park,
Nansha District, Guangzhou City, the People’'s Republic of
China.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the functional
currency of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and is
engaged in sourcing of raw materials and equipment and
trading of flexible printed circuits (“FPC"). Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in manufacture and sale of FPC
and manufacture and sale of flexible packaging substrates.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—ZF

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and

amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first
time in the current year:

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

HK(IFRIC) — Int 22

Amendments to
HKFRS 2

Amendments to
HKFRS 4

Amendments to
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 40

Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts

As part of the Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs

2014-2016 Cycle

Transfers of Investment Property

—NFESZA=F—HILFE

2. BRANETR] RASRI ANB BB IRE %
B (TEEMBREERD])

REFEBRHER 2EBMBIRE LN
HSSEHEN
RAFEE AREEXREABATHREES

Eicg ([HESMAg ) R ZEE
B 7 s R 2 #r AT RIERT AR

BAMBHREEN SRIE

£95%
ERUBREEL  REBPANZNER
£155 EEE )

B (R0 % NEZXZRBHRE
BEREZER)
-RBER®

BEMBREEN BROIARGZHERHE
E2R 2B

BEMBREEN ERABBMBRELNENNR

F45h 2 1B5] SRITAEK—HER
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REBER
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Cont’d)

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group's financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in the

HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18 Revenue,
HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related

current year.

interpretations.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect of initially applying this standard
recognised at the date of initial application, 1 January
2018. Any difference at the date of initial application
is recognised in the opening retained profits (or other
components of equity, as appropriate) and comparative
information has not been restated. Furthermore, in
accordance with the transition provisions in HKFRS 15, the
Group has elected to apply the standard retrospectively
only to contracts that are not completed at 1 January
2018.
may not be comparable as comparative information
was prepared under HKAS 18 Revenue and HKAS 11
Construction Contracts and the related interpretations.

Accordingly, certain comparative information

The Group recognises revenue which arise from contracts
with customers mainly from sales of FPC and sales of
flexible packaging substrates.

Information about the Group's performance obligations
and the accounting policies resulting from the application
of HKFRS 15 are disclosed in notes 5 and 3.

\—
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Cont’d)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 15

The adoption of HKFRS 15 had no material effects to the
amounts recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement
of financial position at 1 January 2018 and 31 December
2018 and its consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the current year.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments and the related consequential
HKFRS 9 introduces new
requirements for 1) the classification and measurement of

amendments to other HKFRSs.

financial assets and financial liabilities, 2) expected credit
losses (“ECL") for financial assets and 3) general hedge
accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied
the classification and measurement requirements
(including impairment under ECL model) retrospectively
to instruments that have not been derecognised as at
1 January 2018 (date of initial application) and has not
applied the requirements to instruments that have already
been derecognised as at 1 January 2018. The difference
between carrying amounts as at 31 December 2017 and
the carrying amounts as at 1 January 2018 are recognised
in the opening retained profits and other components of
equity, without restating comparative information.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. RMFFTIREFT A B KKRELE
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING Bl (BB BHEER]) (&)
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Cont’d) ERMBHREENFEINRLHTA (&)
Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be Bt & ThERENRUEEBERSS
comparable as comparative information was prepared FHEBIEIR 2 M T A - R KA ZE iR
under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and R BREREH L& -
Measurement.
Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9 ERBEBMBRELNBESEMERNE
are disclosed in note 3. FTBUR AT 38 55 -
Summary of effects arising from initial application of WIEETFE BB REEREIFTELE
HKFRS 9 ZHEZHE
The table below illustrates the classification and TREABIBEEBNBREENZFZIR K
measurement of financial assets subject to ECL under BB G EREIR AR EEEIBR
HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39 at the date of initial application, 1 BREeRMEERTKRERBBH(ZT—N
January 2018. F-A—RA)NERE-
Available- Equity
for-sale instrument FVTOCI
investment at FVTOCI reserve
BAFERGA A¥E
HtrzEKE2 SARMZE
FEHEZRE BRARE Ut ]
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ki3 FHT FHT THT
Closing balances at R-EBE—+E+-A
31 December 2017 - HKAS 39 =+—HrHkES
- ARG ERF395 17,945 - -
Effect arising from initial EVN R
application of HKFRS 9: YR ZosrE
o2
Reclassification from available-for-sale % %8 B #{EH & (a) (17,945) 17,945 -
Remeasurement from cost less FEHRAEARANR
impairment to fair value HEZEATLE @) - 2,380 2,380

Opening balances at 1 January 2018  R=-ZE—NE—A—H2
EibIE - 20,325 2,380

o o
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

Notes:

(a) From available-for-sale (“AFS") equity investment to FVTOCI

The Group elected to present in other comprehensive income for the
fair value changes of all its equity investment previously classified
as available-for-sale. This investment is not held for trading and not
expected to be sold in the foreseeable future. At the date of initial
application of HKFRS 9, HK$17,945,000 were reclassified from
available-for-sale investment to equity instrument at FVTOCI, which
is the unquoted equity investment previously measured at cost less
impairment under HKAS 39. The fair value gains of HK$2,380,000
relating to the unquoted equity investment previously carried at cost
less impairment were adjusted to equity instrument at FVTOCI and
FVTOCI reserve as at 1 January 2018.

(b) Impairment under ECL model

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade and bills receivables.
Trade and bills receivables have been assessed individually for each
significant debtors and collectively for others.

ECL for other financial assets at amortised cost, including pledged
bank deposits, bank balances and other receivables, are assessed on
12-month ECL (“12m ECL") basis as there had been no significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

At 1 January 2018, the directors of the Company have reviewed and
assessed the Group’s existing financial assets for impairment based
on reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort in accordance with the requirements of HKFRS
9 and have concluded that no material financial impact exists and
therefore no adjustment to the opening retained profits at 1 January
2018 has been recognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

HK(IFRIC) - Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

The interpretation specifies that the date of transaction is
the date on which the entity initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
payment or receipt of advance consideration. If there are
multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group is
required to determine the date of transaction for each
payment or receipt of advance consideration.

On initial application, the Group applied the interpretation
prospectively to all foreign currency assets, expenses
and income in the scope of the interpretation initially
recognised on or after the beginning of the current year,
i.e. 1 January 2018.

For foreign currency denominated advance considerations
paid by the Group in relation to acquisition of property,
plant and equipment amounting to HK$14,694,000,
the Group recorded these advances by applying the
spot exchange rate on initial recognition between the
functional currency of the relevant group entity and
the foreign currency. Accordingly, the application of
this interpretation has had no significant impact on the
amounts reported and/or disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/)\F+_-HA=+—HIFFZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and

amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

2. BRANETR] RASRI ANE B IR E %
A([EBUHH/EEN]) (&)

CEMEHRERNFTEBYBHREE

BIRABET A&

AEEAAREFER TN BMEERKRE
MR MR AT B B RELER

HKFRS 16 Leases' BEMBREEN HE
F16%
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts? ERUBREEL  RRELO
ERbE
HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax & (BB TH% FIEHER 2 T HE L
Treatments! LRBZEY)
-REF23%
Amendments to Definition of a Business? ERUBREEN  EBNES
HKFRS 3 F3R BT
Amendments to Prepayment Features with Negative ERUBREEN ABAHECRFEIEE
HKFRS 9 Compensation’ EOR 2B
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets ERAVBREEL REFHEABEARAKEE
HKFRS 10 between an Investor and E10RRAE RAIZHEMEELE
and HKAS 28 its Associate or Joint Venture? DEAERF28T FIRA?
Amendments to Definition of Material® BEGHES BEAHURER
HKAS 1 FIRRER
and HKAS 8 S ERIF85
Z1BE]
Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment or %\Pi@?ﬁ’i 1l FEEET R EAEE
HKAS 19 Settlement! F195 2 B3]
Amendments to Long-term Interests in Associates B GEER REFE DA A E AR L RE
HKAS 28 and Joint Ventures' £285 2 1B 5] '
Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRSs BBUMBHE ik ﬁ‘%#&iﬁa‘J —hF
HKFRSs 2015 - 2017 Cycle' BRI Z BT FZ tiaﬂ%ZiF
E&}EW
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Cont’d)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

4 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which

the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020
B Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

Except for the new HKFRS mentioned below, the directors
of the Company anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by
a customer. In addition, HKFRS 16 requires sales and
leaseback transactions to be determined based on the
requirements of HKFRS 15 as to whether the transfer of
the relevant asset should be accounted as a sale. HKFRS 16
also includes requirements relating to subleases and lease
modifications.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Cont’d)

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are
removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model
where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability
have to be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for
short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid at

that date.

Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest
and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease
modifications, amongst others. For the classification of
cash flows, the Group currently presents upfront prepaid
lease payments as investing cash flows in relation to
leasehold lands for owned use while other operating

lease payments are presented as operating cash flows.

—NFESZA=F—HILFE
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Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation ENROEREE LFERD  WiEFHE
to lease liability will be allocated into a principal and an ReneE2Y -FANMEE H/TAH" BB
interest portion which will be presented as financing cash EMHE(MER) 2N AKRESLERE
flows by the Group. Upfront prepaid lease payments will i

continue to be presented as investing or operating cash

flow in accordance with the nature, as appropriate.

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised prepaid BEBEGTENE 7R AEES A
lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group is a Et (AEBRABEA)BRENEE
lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential NR-ERBBMBMEEAF 16 EE
changes in classification of these assets depending on WZEEE ENEBTES RIS

whether the Group presents right-of-use assets separately
or within the same line item at which the corresponding
underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Cont’d)

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable
to lessor, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to
require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS
16.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$410,000 as disclosed
in note 32. A preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all
these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term
leases.

The application of new requirements may result in changes
in measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated
above. The Group intends to elect the practical expedient
to apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously
identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) —
Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease and not apply this standard to contracts that were
not previously identified as containing a lease applying
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) — Int 4. Therefore, the Group
will not reassess whether the contracts are, or contain
a lease which already existed prior to the date of initial
application. Furthermore, the Group intends to elect the
modified retrospective approach for the application of
HKFRS 16 as lessee and will recognise the cumulative
effect of initial application to opening retained profits
without restating comparative information.
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3.

= B 5 W AR M A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements
is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within
the scope of HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value
in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

e level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved where the Company:

e has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 3. XFEE:HHE (&)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKFRS 9/HKAS 39 or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture.

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 3. XFEE:HHE (&)

Investment in an associate (Cont’d)

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of an associate used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group's interest in that associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's
net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in
an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Investment in an associate (Cont’d)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of
the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when
(or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3. FEEHE (£)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15) (Cont’d)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15) (Cont’d)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Revenue from sales of electronic products

The revenue is recognised when control of the goods
has transferred, being when the goods have been
shipped to the customer’s specific location (delivery).
Transportation and other related activities that occur
before the customers obtain control of the related goods
are considered as fulfilment activities. Following delivery,
the customer has full discretion over the manner of
distribution and price to sell the goods, has the primary
responsibility when on selling the goods and bears the
risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods. The
credit term is 30 to 120 days from the issuance of invoices.

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 January 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold by the Group to outside customers in
the normal course of business. Revenue is reduced for
estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar

allowances.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured; when it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's
activities, as described below.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered and titles have passed.

\—

o o

3.

TESFHBE(E)

REFEFAHNZUA (ERAEBUBRE
EAIEI15%) (&)

EHEBEEAKERERERPKREIKE
(HRESRCDIH) MARRZEFPER
EmHRBHEE-

HE-NARBENEREENRA
TR IR R 2

Il

ARE

HEEFEMZUA

WAREYZEHIREE RN (NEMEE
EPEEMmE (M) ) ER -RELIE
HEEMEAENEENER N HEMIARH
AEEEITER - RRHE - BFAI 2
REEVHDHETAREE WAEHE
ERZEZEARAIEMRIRE REKX
Ri-FEMALAZREALENI0RE
120H -

WARRB (RE-NF-F—-BZH)

WARB W EEREZ A FERFE 15
AEERBEEBBEFRIIEELHE
B A AR © WA R B FT R P R
[ #0 } E A KB A 4 o

BERACREAENEE KRB
ARERARNEER  URMTE T XA AL
B 6 5% S B0 B E IR IR - SRR -

HEEMmIWAERNERRAREEE



Annual Report 2018 —Z—\E &

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RS R R MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 3. XFEE:HHE (&)

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 January 2018)
(Cont’d)

Interest income is accrued on a time apportionment
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at
the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as Lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments, including cost of acquiring land
held under operating leases, are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised
as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property interest
includes both leasehold land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a
finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases in which case the entire
property is accounted as an operating lease. Specifically,
the entire consideration (including any lump-sum upfront
payments) are allocated between the leasehold land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair
values of the leasehold interests in the land element and
building element at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as
“prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated statement of
financial position and is amortised over the lease term on
a straight-line basis. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the leasehold land and building
elements, the entire property is generally classified as if the

leasehold land is under a finance lease.
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchange prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 3. XFEE:HHE (&)

Foreign currencies (Cont’d)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise, except for exchange differences on
monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign
operation for which settlement is neither planned
nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net
investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified
from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal
of the Group’s interests in subsidiaries.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the end of the reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest
becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.
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AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEFEX£ERAF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e maRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those asset until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rationale
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 3. XFEE:HHE (&)

Government grants (Cont’d)

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefits contributions

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefits
schemes and state-managed retirement benefit schemes
are recognised as an expenses when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.
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AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEFEX£ERAF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e maRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3.

Taxation (Cont’d)

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation
because it excludes items of income and expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are recognised for all deductible temporary difference
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
and interest in an associate, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interest are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/)\F+_-HA=+—HIFFZ

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3. SEHHE (&)

Taxation (Cont’d)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities
on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEFEX£ERAF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e maRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes (other than properties
under construction as described below) are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
methods are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees and, for qualifying assets or buildings borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended
use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

Buildings under development for future owner-
occupied purpose

When buildings are in the course of development
for production or for administrative purposes, the
amortisation of prepaid lease payments provided during
the construction period is included as part of costs of
buildings under construction. Buildings under construction
are carried at cost, less any identified impairment losses.
Depreciation of buildings commences when they are
available for use (i.e. when they are in the location and
condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in
the manner intended by management).

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase of
an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

e the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

the intention to complete the intangible asset and use
or sell it;

the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
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AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEFEZERAF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e maRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3.

Research and development expenditure (Cont’d)

e how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

e the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and to
use or sell the intangible asset; and

e the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible asset is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any),
on the same basis as intangible assets acquired separately.

Impairment loss on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 3. XFEE:HHE (&)

Impairment loss on tangible assets (Cont’d)

The recoverable amount of tangible assets are estimated
individually, when it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset
is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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e maRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value is determined as the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All reqgular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 since 1 January
2018. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 3. XFEE:HHE (&)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions in note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3.

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (Cont’d)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income (“OCI")
if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 3. XFEE:HHE (&)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (Cont’d)

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit impaired.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d) 3. ETEE:HE (&)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (Cont’d)

(i)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
OCI and accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve; and are
not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss
on disposal of the equity investments, and will be
transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the
Group’s right to receive the dividends is established,
unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of
part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are
included in the “other income” line item in profit or
loss.

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9

with transitions in accordance with note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial

assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9

(including trade receivables and bills receivables, other

receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances

and cash). The amount of ECL is updated at each

reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial

recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 3. XFEE:HHE (&)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2) (Cont’d)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and
bills receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balances and
collectively for others using a provision matrix based on
past due analysis.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEFEX£ERAF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d) 3. £Eg

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9

with transitions in accordance with note 2) (Cont’d)

)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/)\F+_-HA=+—HIFFZ

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 3. XFEE:HHE (&)

Financial instruments (Cont’d) S®MIA(Z)
Financial assets (Cont’d) 2HEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 ZEEERE (REN 2698 F KX fE
with transitions in accordance with note 2) (Cont’d) HEBEYHHEEREIN) (&)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d) () EZERBRBEZELF (&)
e existing or forecast adverse changes in business, e MWE eRSLEBRBAINKTE
financial or economic conditions that are HETHEE AT BE8HED
expected to cause a significant decrease in the ANEBRBBEENENEZETRE:

debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in s EBRALECEEERNBHEE
the operating results of the debtor; o

e an actual or expected significant adverse change e BEBAMET LBEIRMRE
in the regulatory, economic, or technological BEBRNEFANERTHE
environment of the debtor that results in a BREBABITERETHRE
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to BETRE-

meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, Tam a7 b 48 R 0] - REE Y TEﬁ
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased FEANTEEEA30EBEER
significantly since initial recognition when contractual BYIR R AREE EA 5?3F$'§
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the EEEENMATFHERNERHAEM
Group has reasonable and supportable information EDI

that demonstrates otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3.

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9

with transitions in accordance with note 2) (Cont’d)

)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 3. XFEE:HHE (&)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9

with transitions in accordance with note 2) (Cont’d)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;
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AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEFEX£ERAF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e maRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3.

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9

with transitions in accordance with note 2) (Cont’d)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Cont’d)

() the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over
one year past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 3. XFEE:HHE (&)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9

with transitions in accordance with note 2) (Cont’d)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater
for cases where evidence at the individual instrument
level may not yet be available, the financial
instruments are grouped on the following basis:

. Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s
trade and other receivables, are each assessed as
a separate group);

SRMIA (&)
THEE (%)

M EEARE (RIEN 20987 1K E
AEB B HEERFEIFR) (&)

(v BHREEBENGERER

BHEEBENGTENEOMRX 2
MEEE (BENEKREBRNEER) &
ERORBRE KB - ZBORMERENE
BRRBEEAEEERFHROE LK
BETH G -BREEBEBRNMTR
BRIAZR A ARREZ M R 0 2 BRAE R N
RBEMBTNERMENESE-

—RME BREEEEGGAAE
ERBEEOEBENAESNESRE
EARSBEBEFWBROAAEREREZ
BER URNTERAFEETNE
R RBEIR -

BHEEEREDRBREELETR
B RAREHEAZBEBR AR
ERERNTAERNARESEERY
BR-EMTETRATEEDE:

e TMIANUE (AIXEENEHE
5 K EH A R MR IR 5 12 B 8 4 Bl
EITRHE)




AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEFEX£ERAF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3. XTEEHE (£)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2) (Cont’d)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Cont’d)
. Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
e  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade and bills receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)

The Group’s financial assets are classified into available-
for-sale financial asset and loans and receivables. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that requires delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 3. XFEE:HHE (&)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Available-for-sale financial asset

Available-for-sale financial asset is an non-derivative that is
either designated or not classified as loans and receivables,
held-to-maturity investments or financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.

Dividends on available-for-sale equity instrument are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to
receive the dividends is established.

Available-for-sale equity investment that does not have
a quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured. Such unquoted
equity investment is measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of each reporting period.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables including trade and other
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances
and cash are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any identified impairment losses.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3.

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS
9 on 1 January 2018)

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of the reporting period. Financial assets
are considered to be impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset,
the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have
been affected.

For available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its
cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

e breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group's past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
credit period of 30 to 120 days, observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 3. XFEE:HHE (&)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS
9 on 1 January 2018) (Cont’d)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the asset’'s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable
is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3.

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS
9 on 1 January 2018) (Cont’d)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment losses was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.

In respect of available-for-sale equity investment,
impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss
are not reversed through profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 3. XFEE:HHE (&)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Derecognition of financial assets (Cont’d)

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI upon application of HKFRS 9, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3.

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables and
bank borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies
which are described in note 3, directors are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are also discussed below.

o o
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/)\F+_-HA=+—HIFFZ

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4, HEFTFHBRZZETEREFR (£&)

UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Estimation of useful lives and residual values of
property, plant and equipment

Management estimates the useful lives and residual
values of property, plant and equipment. The estimated
useful lives and residual values are based on the expected
lifespan and original cost of those property, plant and
equipment respectively. The useful lives and residual
values of property, plant and equipment could change
significantly as a result of technical obsolescence. When
the actual useful lives and residual values of property, plant
and equipment are different from their estimated useful
lives and residual values due to the change of commercial
and technological environment, such differences will cause
an impact on the depreciation charges and the amounts of
assets written down for future periods.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment for
the Group as at 31 December 2018 are HK$779,632,000
(2017: HK$633,309,000).

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and prepaid lease payments

The recoverable amount of the Group’s cash generating
units is determined based on the value in use calculation.
These calculations require the use of estimates and certain
key assumptions including projected revenue, gross profit
margin and discount rates of the cash generating units.
Changes in these key assumptions can result in changes
of carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment and prepaid lease payments that may impact
the profit or loss.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and prepaid lease payments (Cont’d)

During the reporting periods, no impairment loss has
been recognised for property, plant and equipment and
prepaid lease payments as the recoverable amounts are
higher than the carrying amounts. Details of the property,
plant and equipment and prepaid lease payments as at 31
December 2018 and 2017 are disclosed in notes 13 and
14.

Allowance for inventories

The management reviews an aged analysis of the
inventories for production of FPC and flexible packaging
substrate at the end of the reporting period, and makes
allowance for slow-moving inventory items identified
that are no longer suitable for use in production. The
management estimates the net realisable value based on
the latest selling prices and current marketable conditions.
If the net realisable value of inventories is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
inventories is reduced to its net realisable value.

The carrying amount of inventories for the Group
as at 31 December 2018 is HK$117,812,000 (2017:
HK$95,480,000), net of allowance for inventories of
HK$12,613,000 (2017: HK$13,912,000).

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

The Group’s unquoted equity instruments are measured
at fair values with fair values being determined based on
unobserved inputs using valuation techniques. Judgement
and estimation are required in establishing the relevant
valuation techniques and the relevant inputs thereof.
Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could
affect the reported fair values of these instruments. The
carrying amount of equity instrument at fair value through
other comprehensive income as at 31 December 2018
is HK$18,078,000 (2017: available-for-sale investment
carried at cost less impairment) and details of the valuation
is disclosed in notes 16 and 28.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/)\F+_-HA=+—HIFFZ

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4, HEFTFHBRZZETEREFR (£&)

UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Provision of ECL for trade and bills receivables

The management of the Group calculates ECL for the
trade and bills receivables, which is assessed individually
for each significant trade debtors and collectively for
others. The provision rates applied are estimated using
the historical observed default rates of the debtors taking
into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonably and supportably available without undue costs
or effort. At the end of each of the reporting period, these
historical loss rates are reassessed and updated if required
after considering the forward-looking information then
available to the directors of the Company.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade
and bills receivables are disclosed in notes 18 and
28 respectively. The carrying amount of trade and
bills receivables at 31 December 2018 for the Group
are HK$506,359,000 (2017:HK$338,314,000), net
of allowance for credit losses of HK$127,000 (2017:
allowance for doubtful debts of HK$12,000).

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manufactures and sells electronic products
to the customers. All revenue generated by the Group is
recognised at a point in time when control of the goods
has transferred to the customers, being when the goods
are shipped to the specific location (delivery).
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Cont’d)

Sales-related warranties associated with products
cannot be purchased separately and they serve as an
assurance that the products sold comply with agreed-
upon specifications. Accordingly, the Group accounts
for warranties in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets consistent
with its previous accounting treatment.

Revenue is recognised from the Group’s contracts with
customers with fixed price and short-term duration.

December 2018, all
performance obligations for FPC business, Flexible

During the year ended 31

packaging substrates business and other are satisfied
within one year from the date of purchase orders. As
permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated
to unsatisfied contracts as at the end of each reporting
period is not disclosed.

Segment information

Information reported to the Executive Directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision makers
("CODM"), for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on type of
goods delivered.

For management purposes, the Group had three business
segments namely (i) the business of manufacture and sale
of FPC; (ii) the business of manufacture and sale of flexible
packaging substrates; and (iii) others.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARZEHER (&)

(Cont’d)

Segment information (Cont’d) PEER (EF)

Principal activities are as follows: FEXEBOT:

FPC business - the manufacture and sale FUHERBR — HERBEEXHBE
of FPC 7% R

Flexible packaging -~ the manufacture and FMH - HERHEEFUHE

substrates business sale of flexible packaging B E i AR

substrates

Other - the sourcing and sale of Hib - RERHEEFIH
electronic components HES

Segment revenue and results PBBMAREE

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and REBRECERARARDHE S 2 AR

results by operating and reportable segment. BT

Segment revenue

- external sales Inter-segment sales Eliminations Segment results
AHRBA-SHHEE AHEHE Lk IBEE
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

“E-N\E ZT-4F ZB-N\F ZT-£F ZB-\F ZT-tF ZE-0\F TR
HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TExn  TExr  FEx  TExn  TEx  TExn  TEr  TAX

FPC business FUHERRER 1,084,759 1,048,429 - 1,141 - (1,141) 108,187 127,335
Flexible packaging ZHHEERES

substrates business 131,592 49,789 - 87 - (87) (1,941) 4,969
Other Hity 7,452 20,620 - - - - 110 305
Total Bt 1,223,803 1,118,838 - 1,228 - (1,228) 106,356 132,609
Interest income FEHA 7,372 1,035
Central administration & R T B A

costs (29,898)  (28,752)
Finance costs BEKA (215) (2,850)
Loss on disposal of  HEHBRFERE

subsidiaries - (3,224)
Share of profit of [Efh— s AT

an associate 2l 163 40
Profit before taxation B & Al & 7 83,778 98,858

F—
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Cont’d)

Segment revenue and results (Cont’d)
Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rate.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
note 3. Segment profit represents the profit earned by
each segment without allocation of central administration
costs, interest income, finance costs, loss on disposal of
subsidiaries and share of profit of an associate. This is the
measure reported to the Executive Directors, the Group's
CODM, for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

No analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by
operating and reportable segments is disclosed as they
are not reviewed by the CODM nor otherwise regularly
provided to the CODM for review.

o o
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDEHER (£)
(Cont’d)
Other segment information Htth 5 BEH
2018 —E-N\F
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or FFEDHMERREE N
loss:
Flexible
packaging
FPC  substrates Segment
business business Other total
Z RMHE
ERMER EREHR Htt  HHEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THR THER TER
Provision of allowance for credit losses 1= 18 & & 127 - - 127
Net allowance (reversal of allowance) FEREMG (BERE)FE
for inventories 1,251 (1,935) - (684)
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments  TE {578 & SR IB # 84 1,250 - - 1,250
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - WEREHETE
equipment 75,128 14,702 - 89,830
Release of government grant for EHRRETER
construction of factory on existing lands {5 2 B 28k (791) - - (791)
Release of government grant for EWMEEE Y
research and development projects BT, (28,684) (3,074) - (31,758)
Loss on disposal of property, plantand ~ HEME - HERZHE 2
equipment B#E 5,598 - - 5,598
Research and development expenses HEER 56,529 7,245 - 63,774
Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not included EHRFELEARERBEETBENG
in the measure of segment profit or loss: CRN (= Endy
Flexible
packaging
FPC  substrates Segment
business business Other total
Z FRHEH#E
ERWES EREHR Htt oA
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$"000
THER THER THER THER
Interest income FMBBA (7.372) - - (7.372)
Interest expenses FEMRY 215 - - 215
Income tax expense FTEBFEX 14,444 - - 14,444
o —_
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

WARDEER (&)

(Cont’d)
Other segment information (Cont’d) HitppHER (&)
2017 —T—+F
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or FESBERREIE K
loss:
Flexible
packaging
FPC  substrates Segment
business business Other total
i ZHHE
ERRER  EREH b HEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FiET FTET THET
Reversal of allowance for doubtful debts % &R & & # @ (25) - - (25)
Allowance for inventories FERE 3,017 2,155 - 5,172
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments ~ FA & A £ i 1,220 - - 1,220
Depreciation of property, plant and WE- R REETE
equipment 54,528 7,959 - 62,487
Release of government grant for EHRRE AR
construction of factory on existing lands ~ B{E 2 B 2 84 (772) - - (772)
Release of government grant for research M3 IEE 2
and development projects BUR 28k (721) (4,962) - (5,683)
Loss on disposal of property, plantand ~ HEWE - HER&EZ
equipment B 4,550 - - 4,550
Research and development expenses Mg H 75,475 4,407 - 79,882

Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not included

EHREERLE J&“%%TﬁZ?XIE@T\@

\—

o o

in the measure of segment profit or loss: BERAESBER K
Flexible
packaging
FPC  substrates Segment
business business Other total
T FEHE
BRIRER  ERER HAi SEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEL FET FET
Interest income SN ON (1,032) 3) - (1,035)
Interest expenses F BRI 2,850 - - 2,850
Income tax expense PIEHAY 19,848 - 2 19,850
e he)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDEHER (£)
(Cont’d)
Geographical information i & & R
The Group operates in two principal geographical areas — AREFBRAMAFrEHEES—FEH (T8
the PRC (excluding Hong Kong) and Hong Kong (country BEB)REE GEMKZHE) - TS
of domicile). The following table provides an analysis TASEREPEMIEAES 52K E 5
of the Group's revenue from external customers by the HEE Z WA Z D

geographical location of the customer:

Revenue from
external customers

RENMBEFEZBRA
2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
PRC other than Hong Kong PE (TBEEEE) 823,068 649,920
Hong Kong aBA 298,740 355,285
Others HAt 101,995 113,633
1,223,803 1,118,838
Substantially all of the Group’s non-current assets, AEEZBAIBDIEREEE (BIEYE
including property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease MELEZEALRBENBEZRB )AL

payments, are located in the PRC. B5E A o
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WMARDHER (£)
(Cont’d)
Information about major customers FRXTEEZEFZEHR
Revenues from customers of the corresponding years RENBEFE ABREEHEE BT KA
contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group are 10%ERZEP 2 WAL :
as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\HF e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Customer A’ =P R 276,322 420,673
Customer B’ BRZ 179,003 242,629
Customer C2&3 5P R 141,220 120,009
L Revenue from manufacture and sale of FPC. ! RERENHEZEBERMRZUA
2 Revenue from manufacture and sale of FPC and flexible packaging 2 RERNEREEZMHEERETZEHRERY
substrates. WA o
E Customer C represents one of the Company’'s shareholder and its 3 EPRERRAIRRz —REMBAA -
subsidiary.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

6. OTHER INCOME H AU A
2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET
Release of government grant for BRNIRE THAEZERE 2

construction of factory B ERE (A7 at22)

on existing lands (note 22) 791 772
Release of government grant for BRIREIEE 2 BN 2R

research and development projects (Hiz22)

(note 22) 31,758 5,683
Government subsidies (note) WIS &EBY (B7at) 2,484 4,721
Interest income AIFSSE N 7,372 1,035
Rental income HEWA 378 321
Compensation income from FARRZBERA

litigation claim 1,420 -
Scrap income EERFHA 4,307 3,473
Reversal of allowance for RERE R D

doubtful debts - 25
Net exchange gain R e 7,002 907
Others Hitp 741 937

56,253 17,874

Note.: The amount included HK$2,303,000 (2017: HK$4,196,000) represent
subsidies from various government authorities in supporting the high
technology research and development activities for the year ended 31

December 2018.

fii: e EAREBEE-_Z-N\F+_A=+—81t
FEAR BT P 235 = 3 AT 2 By AR AL
2,303,000/ 7T ( =ZF—+t4 : 4,196,000 7T ) °

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. RMERA
2018 2017
—®-NF  —E %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interests on bank borrowings RITEEFR S 215 2,850

L_O\.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 8. FR¥iAIE A
2018 2017
—E-N\#F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Profit before taxation has been arrived Kt RIE FI 2Bk (5T A) AT
at after charging (crediting): A :
Research and development expenses  HIZ&
Staff costs BIRA 17,419 17,034
Other research and development HAntf s & A
expenses 46,355 62,848
63,774 79,882
Directors’ and chief executive's EENFETHRAEME
remuneration (note 10) (Ha10) 1,411 1,145
Other staff costs Hfh 8 TRA 120,702 111,564
Other staff’s retirement benefits costs  H b & T 27 iR R 4& A p A 11,360 9,088
Total staff costs 8 TR AN 133,473 121,797
Less: Other staff costs included in WA EXFIRIARER 2
research and development H 8 TR
expenses shown above (17,419) (17,034)
116,054 104,763
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments & {< fi & 2t 18 #4 45 1,250 1,220
Auditor’s remuneration % S A B & 980 860
Cost of inventories recognised as an ERRAMIZI 2 FEMSR
expense (Note) (B1aE) 1,071,832 898,627
Depreciation of property, plant and ME-BMERERHEINE
equipment 89,830 62,487
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME MWELREZEIE
equipment 5,598 4,550
Minimum lease payments under THREFLEEHEEET 2
operating leases in respect of ®EMHE
land and buildings 698 352
Provision for (reversal of) allowance EEBE REREZEE
for credit losses/ doubtful debts (#m) 127 (25)
Net foreign exchange gain SN U 25 F RR (7,002) (907)
Rental income from properties RKEWMEZHSRHA (378) (321)
Note: The amount includes net reversal of allowance for inventories of Wit @ BRIETEREREF5E684,0008 T (=%
HK$684,000 (2017: allowance for inventories HK$5,172,000). —+F  IFEREES,172,0000E7T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/)\F+_-HA=+—HIFFZ

Annual Report 2018

—E-N\FFH

9. TAXATION 9. MIE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —t %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Current tax: BVEAR 18
Hong Kong Profits Tax HERET 416 679
PRC Enterprise Income Tax RIS 14,661 21,645
15,077 22,324
(Over)underprovision in prior years: NEFE (HBRaE) BE
TR
Hong Kong Profits Tax HEENSFH (27) 45
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PRI EATER (2,169) (4,084)
(2,196) (4,039)
12,881 18,285
Deferred tax: IEIERIA -
Current year (note 24) NEE (KzF24) 1,563 1,565
14,444 19,850
On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council RZE-NF=ZAZ+—H BB ILEE
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 BR_T— K (BET) (FB75%) &0
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax BR([MEHIEZR]) 5| AFES B MRS -
rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March BHERR-_ZT-N\F=ZA=TNBEE

2018 and was gazetted on the following day. Under the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%.
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be
taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The profits of group entities not qualifying for

EEB UYRBEEFERTIE-REFSE
MRS &EREBEERKILS25%2
MEFRE2BEBB LEAAMKRIE WK
16.5% 2 T R g B2 B &8 T 2 8N
MB-ARENNETRABEEE 2EEE
B R A B IR16.5% 2 5t — B R B
THIE
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

TAXATION (Cont’d)

Accordingly, starting from the current year, the Hong Kong
profits tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million
of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

The provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax is based on
the estimated taxable income for each PRC subsidiary and
at its applicable tax rate. Under the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January
2008 onwards.

AKM Electronics Industrial (Panyu) Ltd. (“AKM Panyu”)
and AKM Electronic Technology (Suzhou) Ltd. ("AKM
Suzhou"”) were awarded the Foreign Invested Advanced-
Technology Enterprise Certificate in prior years. AKM is
entitled to tax rate reduction from 25% to 15% for three
years commenced from 1 January 2016. AKM Panyu was
entitled to tax rate reduction from 25% to 15% for three
years commenced from 1 January 2015, which was then
renewed for a further term of three years commenced
from 1 January 2018.

o o

BiIR (&)

At BAFER Rt EEEFEHE
BH2E BB 2 ET FERE R F128.25% 5T
B miBB2E BB 2 At RS A
1216 5%+ & -

RS RS RENE AR 2@
AT R B ET R B AAE B o 1R
BEEARLEMBECEMBRE ([1DEF
BROE]D) RIEEMGBIEEMIGH - FE
MEARzMEBE-_ZEZTN\F—-—A—HE
A25% o

RBAEFE ZEN(ER)EFTEEAR
RE([FRELZREN]) RLREMNEFRE
(BM)BRAF ([BHMZEN])EES
FRMCERB-HRMLZENS B =
—NF—A—BBR=FFEEMEH25% I
HAEIS%Z HEER HERELENE=ZF
—HEF A —HBEB=FEZEMEH255% I
FEI5S% MIBER LB T —\F—
A—RARESH BH=F-
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/)\F+_-HA=+—HIFFZ

TAXATION (Cont’d)

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit

9. B (&)

F 2 Fi18 7] B4R

EEELEMEE RS

before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or KZBRB AR AN AT
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T T
Profit before taxation Br 1 B 83,778 98,858
Tax at the applicable income tax rate  ZREAMBHRH RN E 2H1E

(note a) (Ktita) 12,567 14,829
Tax effect of income that are not FAFEE TE FE AR B v ) B N AT SR AR

taxable in determining taxable profit ~ ZHWAZHEFLE (377) (201)
Tax effect of expenses that are not PR B TE FE SR B s 1) By S AT HIRL

deductible in determining taxable AT 2B E

profit 913 5,055
Tax effect on share of profit of FEAE—MEEE R Rl 2 m A2

an associate ks (24) (6)
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERAUMBEGREE

differences not recognised Bigw e (84) 771
Tax effect on further deduction of MERAE—FTNRZ

research and development expenses Mg 2 (Mitb)

(note b) (7,168) (5,276)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FRERREBEBEZRETE 9,310 7,090
Overprovision in prior years NEFE 2 EBEEE (2,196) (4,039)
Effect of different tax rates of B R RIREAM R AR R

subsidiaries operating in other KREZTRAMEZ ZEB

jurisdictions (60) 62
Deferred taxation arising from AR B e 4 B TR 0

withholding tax on undistributed FrE 4 2 BER IR

profits 1,563 1,565
Taxation for the year REFEHIE 14,444 19,850
Notes: Htit -

a.  AKM Panyu is the Group's major operating subsidiary. Therefore, the a. EBRREMNAAKEZFZEENBAR-

Group's applicable income tax rate is 15% (2017: 15%). b REEZERAAEHHEERI5% (ZF—+
F:15%)

b.  Pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulations, PRC subsidiaries b. IREBEEBEHGEIRARG - R EMKE A BRI B

can claim PRC income tax credits on additional 50% of the qualified

research and development expenses in the PRC. Such PRC income tax

credits are allowed, and are accounted for, as deduction from current

income tax expenses when relevant conditions are fulfilled and tax

approval is obtained from the tax bureau.

B2 & BRI EFAXAFRIN0%TEMEHE
R o FEEKE BIRDI RRERBZ HBH L -

EHPEMBHRELE

P15 B S HIRL »

Y B ARTIVERNE]
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 10. ESERTETHAEBZHMERAR

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EeEFMAL

INDIVIDUALS

(i) Details of directors’ and chief executive's (i) EERTETHAEZHMESHEBERS
remuneration are as follows: WM
2018 —E-N\E

Other emoluments

Retirement  Performance
Salaries benefit related
and other scheme incentive Total
Fees benefits  contributions payments  emoluments
§eR BINER BER
e HitEA THEfR Anzgd MenE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TERT TERT TiERL
(note h)
(Hizth)
Executive Directors: BOEE:
Xiong Zheng Feng KifE - - - - -
Non-executive Directors: FNTES:
Li Ying Hong (note a) FRA (Hiia) - - - - -
Gao Xiaoguang BEEX - - - - -
Jia Junan EE% - - - - -
Zhang Xiaoming (note b) REH (i) - - - - -
Wong Chunsheng (note ¢) TEE (W) - - - - -
Yu Daochun (note d) REE (Mitd) - - - - -
Independent non-executive BUFHTES:
Directors:
Hung Chi Yuen Andrew HEE 60 - - - 60
Yang Zhaoguo (note e) BkE (fiite) 45 - - - 45
Zhao Xiao (note f) BE () 12 - - - 12
Cui Zheng EHF n - - - 7
Sub-total (NE 189 - - - 189
Chief Executive Officer TH@as
Chai Zhi Qiang (note g) &% (Mig) - 705 82 435 1,222
Total at 189 705 82 435 1,411
e Re)

o o
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (Cont’d)

10. EERFTETHAEZHME R AR
BReSEHMAL (&)

EERTETHRAEZHEEERT
mE: (&)

(i) Details of directors’ and chief executive’s (i)
remuneration are as follows: (Cont’d)

2017 —E—+F

Other emoluments

Hipdie
Retirement Performance
Salaries benefit related
and other scheme incentive Total
Fees benefits  contributions payments  emoluments
Hek ERER ARR
ne Ryl FEER AR [t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TAET TEL THL TAR
(note h)
(Bign)
Executive Directors: BTES:
Xiong Zheng Feng Kk - - - - -
Chai Zhi Qiang (note g) EER (W) - 279 28 156 463
Non-executive Directors: g
Li Ying Hong FRa - - - - -
Gao Xiaoguang BEX - - - - -
Jia Junan EER - - - - -
Independent non-executive BUEHTES
Directors:
Hung Chi Yuen Andrew REE 60 - - - 60
Zhao Xiao HE 9% - - - 9
Cui Zheng EF 7 - - - 72
Sub-total it 228 279 28 156 691
Chief Executive Officer THEH
Chai Zhi Qiang (note g) EER (i) - 412 Y] - 454
Total At 228 691 70 156 1,145
O/ .\
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (Cont’d)

10. EERTETHAEZHME R AR
BRSEHMAL (E)

(i) Details of directors’ and chief executive's (i) EERTETHAEZHMESHEBERS
remuneration are as follows: (Cont’d) mE: (&)
Notes: Htat -

(a) Resigned on 24 August 2018.

(b)  Appointed on 24 August 2018.
(c)  Appointed on 30 January 2018.
(d)  Appointed on 27 November 2018.
(e)  Appointed on 15 May 2018.

(f) Retired on 15 February 2018.

(g) Resigned as executive director on 26 May 2017 and remained
his position as Chief Executive Officer.

(h)  The performance related incentive payments are determined
with reference to the Group’s operating results and individual
performances.

In 2017, Mr. Chai Zhi Qiang was also the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company and his emoluments
disclosed above include those for services rendered by
him as the Chief Executive Officer.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group.

The emoluments of the non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors shown above
were mainly for their services as directors of the
Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director of
the chief executive waived or agreed to waived any
remuneration during the year.

o o

(@ RZZE-NAFNAZ+HHEEE-
by R-E-NFNA-_+HBEEEE-
(@ RZE-NF-A=tHEZEZ-
(d) R-E-NF+—A-tLtREZRE-
(e) MZE-NFEATHHEZRE-
f) RZZE-NF-_A+THBEE-

(99 RZE—tFRA-TBREHTE
= WRETHRER-

(hy BRBEBBZVBEDRAEERLEEER
BARRMEE

RoT— 4 SRR EETARD
ATHRBE EME (W0 EXFARE)
BFE I AT IR 4B A B 10 12 {2t IR 7K FE U
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

10. EERFTETHAEZHME R AR
BReSEHMAL (&)

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (Cont’d)

(ii) Employees’ remuneration: (i) EEMS:

REBEEZT—tF+-A=+—AH1F
FE AEBRAREZSHFMALFR  —
ZRANRMES HEMER Lt
ZMEE10() 2 EEF - AR (ZFE—+
FrMEZ) AL ZFHMETIAT

During the year ended 31 December 2017, of the
five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, one was former director of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in
note 10(i) above. The emoluments of five (2017: four)
individuals were as follows:

2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—EF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHBT FiET

Salaries and other benefits e kEAMET 3,255 3,506

Performance related incentive HRIFHEN  RE
payments 1,949 925
R ARAE FIET B FAK AR

contributions costs 501 211

Retirement benefit scheme

5,705 4,642

Their emoluments were within the following bands: BEZHeN FUATEHR:

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—LF

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A AE

HK$nil to HK$1,000,000 T 021,000,000/ 7T 3 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 L=

1,500,0007% 7T 2 2

BHEZ—N\GFEZZT—+FT=H
= T—HLEEE AEETERES
EOTBBHEIAER=RHMA TN
RS - LATE RSB I A sin A AR
SER R LEERAE-

During the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017,
no remuneration was paid by the Group to the
directors and the Chief Executive or the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.

F—
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

11. DIVIDEND 1. RE
2018 2017
—E-N\F e
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Dividends for ordinary shareholders of F R#ER &7 Ik 2 A A &)
the Company recognised TmRRRAR S
as distribution during the year:
2017 Final — HK1 cent per share ZE—EFRAKRE
—FR1E 15,382,000 -

A final dividend of HK1 cent per share of approximately
HK$15,382,000 in respect of the year ended 31 December
2018 has been proposed by the directors of the Company
and is subject to approval by the shareholders in
forthcoming annual general meeting.

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE 12.

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

ARREERZBREBEEZE_ZT—N\F+=
A=Z+—BIEFESFRIBIZ RERKE
#915,382,0007%8 7T » M 78 17 I% 58 1E FE JE A%
ARSI

BRER

ARBAEBEANEEERERAN ZFET
RIB AT 8UR

2018 2017
—E-N\F e
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T
Earnings BF
Profit for the year attributable to REstBEERRR 2 AR F]
owners of the Company for WEARGEERERL N
the purpose of basic earnings 69,334 79,016
Number of shares
R &
2018 2017
—E-N\F e
Number of shares g2
Weighted average number of ordinary F{Fst EFREREF] ~
shares for the purpose of L@ nkE T
basic earnings per share 1,514,092,021 1,193,384,239

There were no potential ordinary share in existence for
the two years ended 31 December 2018. Accordingly, no
diluted earnings per share has been presented.

\—
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

—E-N\FFH

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT/ 13.9% - BERSZE NE - BRER
DEPOSITS FOR PROPERTY, PLANT AND HEzEE
EQUIPMENT
Plantand  Leasehold Office Motor Construction
Buildings ~ machinery improvements  equipment vehicles in progress Total
BT RERBE HENEEE  BLERE L] ERIR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEL T#n TEn TAL T#n TEn
cosT RA
At 1 January 2017 RZE-+%-F-H 153,724 375,190 55,651 26,792 2,916 70,395 684,668
Additions RE - 74711 15,189 1,060 402 98,217 189,579
Disposals HE - (15,710) - (2,460) 27 - (18,197)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - (725) (1,279) (5,274) - - (7,277)
Written off i34 - - (16,260) - - - (16,260)
Transfer EL 8,213 58,151 32,136 928 - (99,428) -
Currency realignment EBRE 11,077 30,304 4,956 1,514 160 4,892 52,903
At 31 December 2017 RIE—tE+ZA=T-H 173,014 521,921 90,394 22,560 3,451 74,076 885,416
Additions AE 1,064 38,410 17,697 2,647 451 220,982 281,251
Disposals & - (19,659) - (6) (107) - (19,772)
Written off s - - (16,795) - - - (16,795)
Transfer g - 89,652 - - - (89,652) -
Currency realignment EBAE (7,995) (28,044) (4,182) (1,059) (133) (7,396) (48,811)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E+ZA=T-H 166,083 602,280 87,112 24,14 3,662 198,010 1,081,289
DEPRECIATION nE
At 1 January 2017 W-E2-tF-F-A 24,016 144,704 26,084 13457 2,068 - 210,329
Provided for the year FEER 5,357 41,294 13,060 2,071 505 - 62,487
Eliminated on disposals HEREH - (11,189) - (1,920) (16) - (13,125)
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries & B 2 A& 4 - (594) (1,278) (4,548) - - (6,420)
Eliminated on written off R 3 - - (16,260) - - - (16,260)
Currengy realignment EBRE 1,880 10,823 1,638 642 113 - 15,096
At 31 December 2017 RZE-+tF+ZA=1+-H 31,253 185,038 23,244 9,902 2,670 - 252,107
Provided for the year FERE 8,585 63,330 14,638 2,889 388 - 89,830
Eliminated on disposals HEREH - (10,095) - (3) (102) - (10,200)
Eliminated on written off M - - (16,795) - - - (16,795)
Currency realignment L (1,735) (9,931) (995) (529) (95) - (13,285)
At 31 December 2018 R-E-N\E+-A=t+-H 38,103 228342 20,092 12,259 2,861 - 301,657
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2018 R-E-N\E+-A=t+-H 127,980 373,938 67,020 11,883 801 198,010 779,632
At 31 December 2017 RZE—tF+-A=1+-H 141,761 336,883 67,150 12,658 781 74,076 633,309
O/ .\
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT/

DEPOSITS FOR PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Cont'd)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis after taking into
account of the estimated residual values at the following
rates per annum:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term of
the lease of relevant land, or
40 - 50 years

Plant and machinery 5 - 15 years

Leasehold Over the remaining term of the
improvements lease or 4 years, whichever is
shorter
Office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 4 — 5 years

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has pledged buildings
and plant and machinery with carrying amounts of
HK$49,291,000 (2017: HK$53,212,000) to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group.

The buildings are located on leasehold land in the PRC.

Deposits for property, plant and equipment represents
deposits paid to suppliers and subcontractors for
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and
construction in progress.

o o
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HREERERBERERATERNE:

BF 1BF LA T2
RA0E504F (A
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38 85 ™ (E 549,291,000 7T ( — & —+
% :53,212,000/8 7T ) ZEF LA R FE K
BERAEEMER —RRITEEZE
Ro

ZEBTFHNRTEBE 2 i o
ME BEMRBZESEREEDE B

FEEREREZIREDN T HER LD E
BEAZEE-



Annual Report 2018 —Z—\E & @

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e maR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/)\F+_-HA=+—HIFFZ

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT/ 13.9% BMERRE VE - BER

DEPOSITS FOR PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Cont'd)

In accordance with the Group’s accounting policies, the
Group reviews the carrying amount of its property, plant
and equipment and prepaid lease payments to determine
whether there is any indication of that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. Where an indicator of
impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable
amount is made at the reporting period. Indicators of
impairment included drop in average unit selling price of
products.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and prepaid lease payments is determined on the basis
of value in use calculation and certain key assumptions.
For the purpose of impairment testing, the value in use
calculation used the cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management of the Group
covering a 5-year period and discount rate of 10%. Other
key assumptions for the value in use calculations related
to the estimation of pretax cash inflows/outflows which
included projected revenue and gross margins during the
budget period. Budgeted revenue and gross profit margins
were determined based on past performance and the
management’s expectations for the market development.

During the reporting periods, no impairment loss has
been recognised for property, plant and equipment, and
prepaid lease payments as the recoverable amounts are
higher than the respective carrying amounts as a result of
impairment assessment.

RfzEE (&)

REANEENESFTHR AREEEZE
ME - BERREARBENEEFRIELZ K
HE AEEREEEAFRRAZLFTE
EHBRBERE - & HREMRETR 1
BEMASH KOS EELERXG-
BEFREEERFHIHEEE N E-

M- BERZERENEEREBN K
e OREBEFEABEFELRETTIER
RETF -WREAANS  ERBEFER
RBEREER ZBEADRERAEEE
E%Eﬁtxﬁﬂ”ﬁiﬁﬂﬁﬁi%ﬁ 3 2 10% 80 #7387
Eo (P RAEEFTENEMEZHRFENA

BeRA/mEZEE B8 &b eE
FEEHANEEWRRERENK - BHE W
ERENEDREBERBELEEBYH™M
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¥ HEMKBRENEEFEN KD
CHEARNEEREE KU BN BEHEIEAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

14. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

14. ANHEERE

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—LF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
The Group's prepaid lease payments ~ AEE ZFENHERBRIE:
comprise:
Leasehold land in PRC RAEZEE M 46,924 50,452
Analysed for reporting purposes as: HEWMAE 2
Current assets mENE E 1,207 1,265
Non-current assets EMEBEE 45,717 49,187
46,924 50,452

The prepayment for land use rights is under leasehold and
is amortised over 50 years on a straight-line basis.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has pledged land
use rights in PRC with carrying amount of HK$16,318,000
(2017: HK$17,551,000) to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group.

(’o—/ /_'\O

T FERAE BN RARELIRERED
S0 # 85 o

R-TZ—NF+-_A=+—H KAEH
DK BRI (16,318,000 T (—E—+
% :17,551,000/ 70 ) 2 H B + 4 s AR 4 -
EAAEBMER —RIBTEEZER-
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15.

o

B 7% R R M R

—NFESZA=F—HILFE

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 15. BE QR 2=
2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Cost of unlisted investment in JEEMHEE QR MNIRE KA
an associate 3,616 3,616
Share of post-acquisition profit and FEAE U BB 18 0 ) R E A
other comprehensive income 2 E 212 232
3,828 3,848
Details of the Group’s associate as at 31 December 2017 AEBRBBENTAN_TE—tFR_F—

and 2018 are as follows:

FHZA=+—Hz&#BOT:

Attributable

Place of interest and
establishment proportion
and principal Form of of voting
place of business power held
Name of associate operation structure by the Group  Principal activity
Bt ER AEEEEREZR
BenaEl TEREHE EEARER FERRELH FEXH
New Career Guangzhou The PRC Sino-foreign 30%  Manufacture and sale of flexible
Electronics Company Limited enterprise packaging substrates
(“New Career")
ENTREFEFER hE moRERE 30% HEREERUEHEER
(TEMZIER])

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
associate is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in the
associate’s financial statements,
with HKFRSs.

prepared in accordance

AEEBERNR 2V BEMBEHIIW
T TIMBEERBERYZRRRRE
BB RERARE A BEREAMZS
ZERe

—B-NEER @
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Cont’d)

15.

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in

these consolidated financial statements.

N e

N
%

B

i

NElZER (&)

ZHERNFEAEREN L SRS M ER

RN o

2018 2017
—E-N\F e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FATT
Non-current assets EREBEE 6,268 951
Current assets MENEE 9,545 13,486
Current liabilities RBAE (3,053) (1,612)
Net assets EEFE 12,760 12,825
Proportion of the Group's ownership & E R B Q5 2 B #
interest in the associate HE 23 L 30% 30%
Group's share of net assets of REBEEBEATZ
the associate EESE 3,828 3,848
Revenue N 14,046 5,114
Profit (loss) for the year REEHEF (FE) 543 (169)
Other comprehensive (expense) income ANFEH 2 (I ) W
for the year (608) 942
(Loss) profit and other comprehensive AR (E518) % Tl &
(expense) income for the year Eqrm (FAx) ks (65) 773
Group's share of (loss) profit and other ZN%E @ E(L B & R Al AFE
comprehensive (expense) income of (BE)&MEREMEE
the associate for the year (FAX) Wz (20) 232

Dividend received from the associate

FEUEE & R Rl Z BB

o o
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

16. EQUITY INSTRUMENT AT FAIR VALUE

16. AP EFAEMEZEKRE 2 ERET

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE B/ AHEZRE
INCOME/AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT
2018 2017
—E-N\#F —E—EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAETT
Unlisted equity investment FLEmRERE
— Equity instrument at fair value — RV EFAHMEE
through other comprehensive Wes o #EmTA
income 18,078 -
— Available-for-sale investment —AHEEZRE - 17,945

The amount represented the Group’s 7.11% unlisted
equity interests in a company established in the PRC.
The investee is engaged in research and development of
semi-conductor packaging substrates. The directors of
the Company have elected to designate this investment
in equity instrument as FVTOCI as they believe this
investment is not held for trading and not expected to
be sold in foreseeable future. Detail of the fair value
measurement of this unlisted equity interest is disclosed in

R ARERNFBEKZHARMIEL
MRAERNT 1% HWIREHREEF
ERIKAGRMNAE -ARREEE
BERNZERETAZREEERA
FEAAEEE NS  ARRERBZ
EREVFFEXZEALTAHNAR
RRHE %I LTSN A FEFERF
BRM 28 E - IF EIRAIRER =
T—tF+ - A=+ BREANRRERT

note 28. The unlisted equity investment was measured at =
cost less impairment as at 31 December 2017.
17. INVENTORIES 17. 78
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET
Raw materials [ 4k 44,618 22,381
Work in progress X 34,936 37,870
Finished goods BIRY mn 38,258 35,229
117,812 95,480
o —_

L_O\.




AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEFEZERAF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e maRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18.

Trade and other receivables include the following balances
of trade and bills receivables:

B 5 Kk HEMEKRKE

B 5 REMEYWFIABTRE TIIE S RIAR
BN R R IR AR

2018 2017

—E-N\EF e

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FATT

Trade and bills receivables g rIN Ak EREE 506,486 338,326
Less: Allowance for credit losses/ W EEEE RERE

doubtful debt (127) (12)

506,359 338,314

Other tax recoverable H fib AT Ug B 75 18 8,425 10,777

Other receivables and prepayments H e WEIE R IR AT R
(Note) (H1:2) 14,086 11,952
528,870 361,043

Note. The amount mainly represents the prepayments. In the opinion of the
directors, the amount is expected to be utilised within the next 12
months.

The Group allows a credit period ranging from 30 to
120 days to its trade customers. Before accepting any
new customer, the management assesses the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer.

(’o—/ /_'\O

Wit ZRAEXERFENK - EERRUFIRTAHR K
K+—EAREHHE-

AEEREESEPEEZEERNF30
E120B 1M F -HERMNEMHMEL 281 &
BEEGNMEERP2ERER LHEE
EFAZEZEERE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

18.

= B 5 W AR M A

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills
receivables, net of allowance for credit losses (2017:
doubtful debts) presented based on the invoice dates
(other than bills receivables which are presented based
on the issuance date of relevant bills) at the end of the
reporting period, which approximated the respective
revenue recognition dates:

18. 8

RHEAMEBWTRIR (&)

T R haE BAR (RERKRAER B H
AT ) B 5 BUEOA MM RE (BMkiz
HRAMRI 2 EERR(ZT -5
RER)BE) (REBEBEZHABHET
ZRERWEERIN) Z ARl AT

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—LtF

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET TAET

Within 30 days 30HA 266,561 156,619
31 - 60 days 31260H 105,349 118,060
61 - 90 days 61290H 58,657 28,793
91 — 120 days 9121208 54,909 28,201
121 days - 1 year 121BZE1F 20,883 6,641
506,359 338,314

Included in the Group's trade receivable is (i) amount
due from a shareholder and its subsidiaries amounting to
HK$72,190,000 (2017: HK$62,507,000) and (ii) amount
due from an associate amounting to HK$164,000 (2017:
HK$1,146,000). In addition, amount of HK$22,948,000
was pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group as at 31 December 2017 which was released during
the year ended 31 December 2018.

Included in the Group’'s trade receivable balance
are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$42,401,000 (2017: HK$38,562,000) which are past
due at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances
HK$1,726,000 has been due 90 days or more and is
not considered as in default in view of the satisfactory
settlement history and have good credit quality assessed
by the management of the Group. The average age of
these receivables is 108 days (2017: 101 days). The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.

REBMZESEBGIBESGBIE)ER—
BRI R E M B A &8 IE72,190,000
BT (ZZE—+%:62,507,0008 L) &
(i) & Ux — FE B & 2 B 3XIE 164,0007% 7T
(ZZ—+t4F:1,146,0008 7T ) L 4b
R—_ZT—tF+-_A=+—H8B DHEA
22,948,000/ 7T - 1E /& 78 5 B P& % 58 HA
BITEEZER TEREEZ-Z—N\F
T A=+ —BIEFEHKk-

AEBZ2ESRRABELEHRBELR
H1E &42,401,0008 L (Z & — £ 4 :
38,562,000/ 7T ) « FEWBR 30 - B B 5k 18
RBEBHERE T BBESHRF
1,726,000 7L B 8 HA90 A sl A £ - (BEERA
BIEECHBRTREEEREENHAEBR
EEEE AMTERBADEN %
LRWHRIE 2 FHEKRA1088 (Z2—+
F:1010) AEBUGRZSERFTEE
AEAm e

F—

o’o\
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT'D) 18. B R EHMEWFE (&)

Ageing of trade and bills receivables presented

RERFAM2ICBHUERREZESE

based on the invoice date which are past due but not KREREKEEZRKR
impaired
2017
—T—+F
HK$'000
FHEIT
0 - 30 days 0&30H 101
31 - 60 days 31260H 15,679
61 — 90 days 61290H 3,850
91 - 120 days 91&120H 12,291
121 days - 1 year 1218 21F 6,641
38,562
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts RERE2EH
2017
—T—+F
HK$'000
FHET
Balance at beginning of the year FHEER 41
Impairment loss recognised on receivables MIEWRIBRR 2R EEE 4
Impairment loss reversed 28 B (E & 18 (29)
Amount written off as uncollectible i 85 AT W Bl 2 FRIR (5)
Currency realignment B 1
Balance at end of the year FRE 12

o o
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT'D) 18.

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
(Cont’d)

As at 31 December 2017, included in the Group’s
allowance for doubtful debts were individually impaired
trade receivables with an aggregate balance of HK$12,000
based on the aged analysis of the trade receivables.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set
out in note 28.

The Group's trade and other receivables that are
denominated in currencies other than functional currencies
of the relevant group entities are set out below:

EZRHEMBYRIE (F)

REEBE2ES ()

RZE—+F+A=+—H Fr&EEZ
REREHE D R BIEE R AT REN 2,000
TZERNEREE S EWFKE  HIREE
BB REDINEE

RBEE-Z-N\E+-_A=+—HItEE
2B REMEWRAZREGRTFES
A E28 ©

NHEREEEREER NI 2 EEIE
ZASEB S R EMBERFAERKIINT

2018 2017

—E-NF  —Tt%

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

United States dollar (“US$") Ex(IZExT]) 84,005 107,224

L_O\.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

19.

20.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

The amounts represent deposits pledged to banks to
secure short-term banking facilities granted to the Group
and are therefore classified as current assets.

The pledged bank deposits of the Group carried at interest
rate of 0.02% per annum (2017: 0.02% per annum). The
pledged bank deposits will be released upon withdrawal
of banking facilities. The pledged bank deposits are
denominated in HK$.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances comprise short-term bank deposits with
original maturity less than three months which carry
interest at rates ranging from 0.01% to 3.34% (2017:
0.01% to 3.00%) per annum.

Included in the Group’s bank balances are short-term
deposits of HK$98,148,000 (2017: HK$61,185,000) kept
in banks located in the PRC.

In addition, included in the bank balances and cash are the
following amounts denominated in currencies other than
the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are:

19. S HRITHER

ZRBREBRTRITZER BIEERE
TAEEZEHRTEE A2 BERR

AEEZ B EMIRITFFIEFHE0.02%
—EEF FME002% )T E B K

MRTERBRERRITEERRER -

HRRITERTIABTTEHE

20. BITEBHRRES

IRITHERBIEUN T0.01%E334% 2 F
FE(ZZE—+5:0.01%%E3.00% )5t &
BRIFBLOR=(EA Z G ERITER -

NEERITEGEEENEPE ZRITZ
%5 HA 17 3098,148,00008 7T ( =& — + 4 -
61,185,000/ 7T ) °

AN RITER B BETIAGEASE
EERNREEEUINZEEIEZR
18 :

2018 2017
—E-N\HF e

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTEx FHEIT

Us$ ETT 95,880 27,451
Korean Dollars (“KRW") FEE ([HER]) 104 325

o o
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—ZF

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

—NFESZA=F—HILFE

Trade and other payables include the following balances:

R E A &S FRIR

—E-N\FFH

B NEMBENFIARE TR

2018 2017

—g-N\%F —tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Trade and bills payables ZSRNFERENER 340,931 338,881
Payables for acquisition of property, WHEYE BB k&

plant and equipment JE 7 3RIE 29,522 11,428

Accrued staff costs FEaJrEI%ZIK 26,188 39,500

Construction payables JEf T2 9,008 11,086

Other taxation payables EMFH%RIE 4,040 1,731

Other payables and accruals E b S IB R ER B R 16,251 10,520

425,940 413,146

The following is an aged analysis by invoice date/bills

ATARBERRRERAY ' EHEA

issued date of trade and bills payables at the end of the HEZS 2B SN RBRERNEERE R
reporting period: B AT -

2018 2017
—2-NF —tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Within 30 days 30BN 119,291 124,210
31 - 60 days 31260H 91,481 88,957
61 — 90 days 61290H 77,454 71,040
91 - 120 days 91£120H 40,818 34,974
121 days — 1 year 1218 E14F 8,198 15,965
Over 1 year 1 3,689 3,735
340,931 338,881

L_O\.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont’d) 21.

The Group's trade and other payables that are
denominated in currencies other than functional currencies
of the relevant group entities are set out below:

EZRHEMEBNRE (F)

NSRBI ERNRER

BNz B TIE

ZAKHEB S R EMBENFAEKIINT

2018 2017
—®-\F  —T—t%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHEIT
Japanese Yen (“JPY") HE([HE]) 9,510 1,940
Euro (“EUR") BT (TE7Tl) 313 280
uss eV 40,474 47,433
22. DEFERRED INCOME 22 B A
2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —T—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Government grants received HTFNFBEAIEZ
in respect of: IR T R A
Development of new products (note a) BIZE#TE & (H1ita) - 4,488
Construction of factory on existing RIBAE THEERE (#7b)
lands (note b) 24,805 26,801
24,805 31,289
Less: Amounts to be recognised B RE R 5 AR 2 I8
in profit or loss in the
following year (763) (5,288)
Amount shown under non-current FRBEBEE TR SR
liabilities 24,042 26,001

o o
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22. DEF

Notes:

(a)

ERRED INCOME (Cont’d)

The amounts represent government subsidies received in advance
in relation to research and development expenses incurred on
the development of certain new products. The amounts would
be recognised in the same period as the related research and
development expenses were incurred resulting in release of
HK$31,758,000 (2017: HK$5,683,000) to profit or loss.

In addition, the Group has undertaken a research and development
project, “02 Major Project”, of certain flexible packaging substrates
products since 2014. Research and development expenditure incurred
for the project has been recognised in profit or loss in prior years
since the commencement. The project has been completed in 2017.
Upon the successful examination on the result of research and
development project by the government authority, the Group will
recognise further government subsidy income upon approval and
receipt.

In 2010, an amount of RMB26,750,000 was received in respect
of a development support fund for the construction of factory
on the lands owned by the Group located at Suzhou pursuant to
“Implementation Measures for Development Support Policies for
Advanced Manufacturing Industries in Suzhou Gaoxin District”. The
amount would be released over the estimated useful lives of the
constructed factory upon the commencement of operation of the
new factory. The construction of the factory was completed and was
in use since 2011. During the year, HK$791,000 (2017: HK$772,000)
was released to profit or loss. Details in relation to the grant of the
fund had been disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
25 September 2008.

22 EFEWR A (

Byat -

(a)

/éé.\‘; )

ZRBBABNRARETHERMELEZ M
BATEEBER 2N - 2N AR AR ERX
EXZRBERAEAMEER HEYIER
#H£31,758,000/70 ( =F —+4 : 5,683,000/5
JT) e

UEoh  AEE R T —IFREE AE [02HE ]
E-HEREETRUEHKERERZEE -BH
BRIAAR  ZIRBEEMAEASERBE
FRERBRRTHER - ZHBCR T —LF5x
B e R B ST T 3508 B O RSB SUER R
7N 2 B & 10 TR 4t B K R R i 52 RS 4 B
LN

RZT—FF  RBARH26,750,0007T 2 FKIE
RAEEIBE [#N 35 B E T ERE X
BREFBRZEmME] LERFMNEEN L
b SRR MK 2 ERKFFE £ © R
R BS B 16 2 B R I AT IR E ML 2 (a1 A
AFEHBED -ZBFEELRT Y -_F——F
IR ER - FAREH791,0008 T (ZF—+
F:772,0008 ) BEER - AREMERESH
HEBEERARRABHA-_ZTENFAA-TE
HE DR R EE -
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23. BANK BORROWINGS 23. RITEE
2018 2017
—E-N\EF e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHT
Bank loans RITER - 67,976
Secured B - 24,284
Carrying amount repayable*: JEBEREME
Within one year —FR - 51,650
More than one year, but not ZR—FETBBARSE
exceeding two years - 1,954
More than two years, but not ZMEETBERF
exceeding five years - 14,372
- 67,976

* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in
the loan agreements.

Analysis of carrying amount:

* HIHEEZFEDAIIRERAHZERHE
EAMREE-

FREE DT

The carrying amounts of bank loans that contain a BEREREEGRTIEARTIIRMEAE
repayment on demand clause (shown under current BZRTEREEE (RRPEFEETHE
liabilities) but repayable: ) B
2018 2017
—E-N\F e
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAET
Within one year —F R - 51,650
Within a period of more than one year #BiB—FHTBBME 2
but not exceeding two years RN - 1,954
Within a period of more than two years i@ M F E BB AT 2
but not exceeding five years HIF A - 14,372
- 67,976

o o
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

23. BANK BORROWINGS (Cont'd) 23. RITBE (&)
As at 31 December 2017, bank loans amounting to RZEBE—tEF+ZA=1T—H RITER
HK$24,284,000 were secured by charges over prepaid © ¥ /524,284,000 7T - A AR B 2 T
lease payments, buildings, trade receivable and bank MERIE - BF & HEWFIERIRITER
deposits of the Group (note 31). TEVEIR (M7 5E31) »
At 31 December 2017, included in the bank borrowings of RZE—+ttF+_A=+—H &&
the Group were bank loans amounting of HK$53,604,000 Bt ASRTEEZRTERZEBE A
which bore interest at fixed rates. 53,604,000/ 7T + JY L EE M E5 B -
The ranges of effective interest rates (which also equal to REBEEZERME (TMESERETON
contracted interest rates) on the Group's borrowings are as K)HEWT
follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\HF —E—tF
Effective interest rates: B A=
Fixed-rate borrowings TEMEE N/ATE A 2.76% t0 4.32%

2.76%%4.32%
Variable-rate borrowings FEEE N/ATE A 3.80% to0 3.83%
3.80%%3.83%

The Group’s bank borrowings that are denominated in NEEEEERREB NI BEEIIE
currencies other than functional currencies of the relevant ZAREBRITEEHIWOT

group entities are set out below:

2018 2017

—E-N\F e

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

uss$ ETT N/AFE A 59,207
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

24. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following deferred tax liability mainly arises from
withholding tax on the undistributed profits of the PRC
subsidiaries and movement thereon during current and

24, JEFEFLIE

AT AETZRTEMNERRZARDEEF
AEEARMEEC EERBRE LR
RAFERBEFEZEBE

prior year:
HK$'000
FATT
At 1 January 2017 RZZE—tF—H—H 7,127
Charged to profit or loss (note 9) BEEEMER (AiE9) 1,565
Currency realignment BHAE 548
Release upon disposal of subsidiaries REEHE R A D (134)
At 31 December 2017 RZZE—tEF+TZHA=+—H 9,106
Charged to profit or loss (note 9) EEEEMR (AiE9) 1,563
Currency realignment B R (473)
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-NF+ZA=+—H 10,196

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
the deductible temporary differences in respect
of accumulated allowance for doubtful debts and
accumulated allowance for inventories of approximately
HK$127,000 (2017: HK$12,000) and HK$13,228,000
(2017: HK$13,912,000) respectively. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in relation to such deductible
temporary difference as it is not probable that the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised in the
foreseeable future.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$222,328,000 (2017:
HK$160,261,000) available for offset against future
taxable profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
due to the unpredictability of future taxable profit streams.
The unrecognised tax losses arising from subsidiaries
operated in the PRC of approximately HK$222,328,000
(2017: HK$160,261,000) will expire from 2019 to 2022.

\—

o o

RNBEHR AEEHRFEREEREZR
ARERTFE R EBEMRR TR
Faby =2 2 B149127,0008 0 (=T —+t
12,0005 7T ) }.13,228,0008 L (= F
—+%:13,912,000870) - BT A8
AR B RE AT MR ERE Bt
ERZEUNRER ZEERECHEE
Eo

RIEBR  AEBE A 1R RER
7 ) 2 7% By A 7% 18 &5 18 49222,328,000
BT (ZZE—+%:160,261,00057T) °
7 7R 2R P RR B v ) 2ROJR S B] FEOA - B itk NP
ERRECHBEEE - RNPEEZE ZHE
NREERERTIEEIE4222,328,000/
T (ZZ—+4:160,261,000/ 7T) i 7
TR -NFET - _FH|H-
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24.

25.

= B 5 W AR M A

DEFERRED TAXATION (Cont’d)

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by
PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries
amount to HK$142,681,000 (2017: HK$75,769,000) as
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

LIABILITY DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER

On 20 November 2018, the Group entered into
Technology Development Co-operation Agreement (the
“Agreement”) with China North Industries Corporation
("CNIC"),
the Agreement, the Group participates in a research

a shareholder of the Company. Pursuant to

and development project directed by CNIC. The total
amount of research and development fee amounting
to RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$17,735,000) has been paid by CNIC to the Group
during the year. The term of the Agreement commences
from the date of the Agreement and is expected to
expire on or before 31 December 2020, on the scheduled
completion of the project. The deliverables by the Group
are required to be provided by the end of the project, not
later than 31 December 2020, subject to incompletion and
return clauses of the Agreement.

The directors consider the amount received from CNIC to
be recorded as long term liability due to a shareholder as
at the end of the reporting period.

24,

25.

EFERIR ()

BERBRCEMBRE AT N\F—
A — B A B E 2 5 A B A 5 F P
SRR EBEHMENT - N6 TR
RPUERFPEWNB AR RIENAMEE
BB | = %E142,681,0008 L (— 2 —+
F 1 75,769,000/ 70 ) 1E H IR AE R TE B %
REANEBE S H 2 Y S EE AR
EIRE BZEREZETIATERT R
1 R [a] o

BN—URRZEE

RZE-N\F+—AZ+H AEEHA
AARIREFABEIEFTEAR AR ([
FIEDIUEMHAEEGEER ([ZE
Bl -BFEZAER AEEL2E—IFHI
FIXEENWEEE - LHTERER
EfHEE RSB A ARK15000,0005T
(FEE R #4917,735,0008 70) - 5% A RBE
HihsZza R A HBRG REE BHEM
TERAR=ZZE=_EF+_A=+—H%z
AiEm AEBEBER _ZE_TF+_ A
“t+t—HEEERZMNEX—H®E 26

R PR BE SE A BB SR Z IR R KR ©

EZRA/EBWIENTTIEZRERREH
REEREN—BRENERHABARK-
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26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. IR
Number of Share
Shares capital
RHEAE [N
HK$'000
FHETT

Issued and fully paid: EETRERE:

At 1 January 2017 R-_FT—+F—HA—H 987,470,000 333,161

Issue of rights shares (Note a) BITHRR G (Hita) 246,867,500 133,506

At 31 December 2017 R-ZT—tF

+—-—A=+—H 1,234,337,500 466,667

Issue of subscription shares (Note b) 317 REW Y (H17+b) 303,900,000 454,886

At 31 December 2018 R-ZF—)\F

—A=+— 1,538,237,500 921,553

Notes: Hiat -

(@ On 13 March 2017, the Company issued 246,867,500 ordinary (@ RZE-—tHF=ZA+=ZB XR2ATKET
shares, on the basis of one rights share for every four existing 246,867,500/ Eim Ak - RE AT HRIRE SR
ordinary shares at the subscription price of HK$0.55 per share. AR B — IR AR AR 17 - RIBERETAR0.558 T -
The net proceeds raised by the Company was approximately RRABEIFZ G HIEFEEL /133,506,000
HK$133,506,000. The Company's issued ordinary shares increased to BBl AARZERBTEERRKRMIZE
1,234,337,500 shares accordingly. 1,234,337,5000% i 15 °

(b)  On 30 January 2018, the Company issued 103,900,000 ordinary by RZZFE-—NF—A=+H AQAHFINER
shares and 200,000,000 ordinary shares at the subscription 15BTZRBEAZHNEESRARLZZAR
price of HK$1.5 per share to Alpha Luck Industrial Limited and ¥ (&%) BRARE17103,900,000/% & i ik &
Anjie Technology (Hong Kong) Company Limited respectively. 200,000,000/ i fik - &2 BIFT 15 2 FTiS X
The net proceeds raised by the Company was approximately T8 58 4) /454,886,000 T o AN QA E 2 B %17
HK$454,886,000. The number of ordinary shares in issue of the L@ E £ %£1,538,237,5008% °
Company increased to 1,538,237,500 shares.

The new shares issued rank pari passu in all respects with FRET 2 SR B2 B 1T 2 R A IR R PR

the existing shares in issue. BLTEAZEREMA -

o o
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27. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

)

On 10 May 2017, the Group entered into an equity
transfer agreement with an independent third party
in relation to the disposal of 70% equity interests
in New Career, for a consideration of approximately
RMB6,399,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$7,204,000).
manufacture and sale of components of flexible

New Career is engaged in the

packaging substrate. The disposal was completed on
17 May 2017. The Group retains 30% equity interests
in New Career after completion of the disposal and
New Career became the associate of the Group on
the same date. The net assets of New Career on the
date of disposal were as follows:

—NFESZA=F—HILFE

27. HEHB R T

(i)

RZE—tFRATH AEEHE—
BB E=FEIEERSER
LA#) N R #6,399,0007T (FHE R
7,204,000/ ) WRE TR EEMNE B
Fr270%R 4 - BN B =M
HEEARAG CHERFEE - ZLE
BER-_Z—+tFREA+EHZER A&
EEREETKERBEEMNZ B
30% M EMEINL BEERE B KA
REBZBERNT - BEZHEMNE
Bz EEFEHINET :

HK$'000
FET
Assets and liabilities of New Career EMZEEREEEHZ
at the date of disposal: EERAME:
Property, plant and equipment W WE REE 856
Inventories FE 325
Trade and other receivables B 5 N HE e GRIA 10,219
Bank balances SRIT#E o4 1,004
Trade and other payables 5 R EMEMNFIE (423)
Net assets disposed of BHEZFEE 11,981
30% equity interest retained REBIEBE RN 2R
as interest in an associate 30% A% #E (3,616)
Accumulated translation differences R TEEBE RN T ER
reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal E#FHEEERE 1,213
Loss on disposal &2 EE (2,374)
7,204
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEMEEZRERNFE:
Cash consideration received BWEERE 7,204
Less: Bank balances disposed of B EHEZRITEE (1,004)
Net cash inflow BEMAFRE 6,200
o —_

L_O\.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

27. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

(i)

On 16 May 2017, the Group entered into an equity
transfer agreement with a buyer in relation to the
disposal of its entire 75% equity interests in Giant
Rise Technology Limited (“Giant Rise”) together with
its wholly owned subsidiary, Shenzhen Giant Rise
Electronics Company Limited (collectively referred
to as “Giant Rise Group”) for a consideration
of approximately HK$3,355,000. The buyer is
the ultimate shareholder of the non-controlling
shareholder that holds 25% equity in Giant Rise.
Giant Rise Group is engaged in the trading of raw
materials and FPC, sourcing and sales of electronics
components. The disposal was completed on 17 May
2017. The Group no longer holds any equity interests
in Giant Rise Technology Limited upon the completion
of the disposal. The net assets of Giant Rise Group at
the date of disposal were as follows:

27. HEMWB LT (&)

(i)

RZF—tFAA T/ A AEEHR
—BRETRIBEERDE LD
3,355,000E TR EHERFAN R
ARERERAR ([Z] - ZRER
BEWMBRARRYEZNENRESFSR
RARSERIETERE]))Z75%
Pt B RISA R TT25% MR 3F
ERBROSKEER ZHAERERSE
R RREERIRZE HARKRE
RHEEF TRt -ZHEER-F
—tFRhRB+tEBEEK HETKE
AEETEREREAMKREBRARME
k- HEZARARBEZEER
BEIWT:

HK$'000
FHET
Assets and liabilities of Giant Rise EAKEERLEERHBZEERER:
Group at the date of disposal:
Property, plant and equipment W WE REE 1
Trade and other receivables 8 5 N H b e W RIE 4,455
Bank balances AT 45 R 10
Trade and other payables B 5 & H A e RIE (8)
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBAE (134)
Net assets disposed of EHEZFEE 4,324
Non-controlling interests IE 5 B = (635)
Accumulated translation differences 2 TEEEEIREER
reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal ~EF D E =18 516
Loss on disposal HEZEE (850)
3,355
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEFMEEZRERAFR:
Cash consideration received BEWBESKE 3,355
Less: Bank balances disposed of B BB RITER (10)
Net cash inflow REMAFHE

o o
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28.

= B 5 W AR M A

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

28. AT A

Categories of financial instruments SRITAEER
2018 2017
—E-N\#F —E—EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAETT
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost BEBHENATEZSMEE 669,013 -
Equity instruments at FVTOCI EAVFEFAEMEERRZ
-t 18,078 -
Loans and receivables (including cash EREKEWRE (BFERE &
and cash equivalents) BeEEER) - 435,352
Available-for-sale investment AEEZRE - 17,945
Financial liabilities ot =R
Amortised cost SR AR 382,024 435,297
Financial risk management objectives BEEEEERZ

The financial instruments are fundamental to the Group’s
daily operations. The Group’s major financial instruments
include available-for-sale investment, equity instrument
at FVTOCI, trade and other receivables, pledged bank
deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables and bank borrowings. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks
associated with the financial instruments and the policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

ERMTAUAEEZARZEGRER -
AEEZFECRIABREALERE
BAVEFAREMCEZE KSR 2 ESTH
5 REMEWHOR  EEMRITHER R
THRHEERE 85 REAM RN FIERR
TRE-ZEeMITAZHBNABME
BE-ITXEHIEAZFeRTAARZA
BRAAREZERRCER - EEEE
BREEZE AR AR KRB QU R
HUEE 2 -

L_O\.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

28. €RT A (&)

Financial risk management objectives (Cont'd) BEREREEREZ (&)
Market risk 5 E B
Foreign currency risk management SN R B B R

Certain trade and other receivables, trade and other
payables, bank borrowings and bank balances and cash
of the Group are denominated in US$, other than the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities,
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk. The
Group has not used any financial instruments to hedge
against currency risk. However, the management monitors
foreign currency risk exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency

AEBzETES MEMEWE &
Ko Bl A5 R IR~ SR1T 68 B A MR 1T #E R
MR DUET(FRAREHREERER
DR E®)FHE BEARREAZINERR -
AEFBIARFNBERNSRB T AL TEEE
o AT BEIREERINERER Y EER
EREEHPEARINE @

RBEBH AEEUIINEHEZERE

denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at ErEYaE s REABENT
the reporting date are as follows:
Liabilities Assets
=N BE
2018 2017 2018 2017
“E-N\E Tt ZB-N\F —T—LF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHT TERT TET
us$ ET 40,474 106,640 179,885 134,675

o o
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

28.

= B 5 W AR M A

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
Financial risk management objectives (Cont’d)
Market risk (Cont’d)

Foreign currency risk management (Cont’d)
Foreign currency sensitivity

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in RMB against US$. 5% represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
year end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.
The sensitivity analysis represents the trade and other
receivables, trade and other payables, bank borrowings,
and bank balances and cash where the denomination are
in US$, the major foreign currency risks. A positive number
indicates an increase in post-tax profit for the year where
RMB weakens against US$. For a 5% strengthens of RMB
against US$, there would be an equal and opposite impact
on the post-tax profit for the year, and the balances below
would be negative.

28. 2RT A (&)

BEEBERERR (&)

w5 ()

s m bR B (&)

NS BURR R

TRALAEEHARBBYETHAER
A2 MBS % 2 BURE 5% [ B & 12 8 # 4N
ERZAIREAEEY 2 FhH FERESMN
ERERABEZAIINEFEZER A
B YRNFREABRIINEER Z5%%
BEHAAE - AT (BN E R ) 5t
B SREIMARE S R E A EYFR
B REMENRE RITEEARRT
EHREIRE - MARBEEXTRE  EHA
RNFREBRESFZM- HRARE S
ETLEH5%  HHFRRHEENE — (@
HEZHEREE M MNESRSERAEH-

2018 2017
—®-NE T t%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Increase in post-tax profit for the year: N4 & (& 4 1% 3% 7 18 A0 -
us$ X 5,925 1,191

L_O\.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives (Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to the fixed-rate bank borrowings. However, the
management considers the fair value interest rate risk on
the fixed-rate bank borrowings is insignificant as the bank
borrowings are relatively short-term. The management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investment in equity securities measured at FVTOCI (2017:
available-for-sale investment). The Group invested in
unquoted equity securities for an investee operating in
research and development industry sector for long term
strategic purposes which had been designed as FVTOCI
(2017: available-for-sale investment measured at cost less
impairment). The Group has appointed a special team to
monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting date,
excluding available-for-sale investment measured at cost
less impairment for the year ended 31 December 2017.
Sensitivity analyses for unquoted equity securities with
fair value measurement categorised within Level 3 were
disclosed as below.

o o

28. €RT A (&)

BEEBERERR (&)

w5 ()

T 7 2 & FE

AEETHEERRITEEZAFENEK
R A ARBITIEERSBES &
EERSERRITEEZAFENEAR
MARE - EREEEMNERAR  WSHER
FHEREZEEPEANEKER -

H 1B 15 )7 7

AREBRERZE A FESAREBEE RS
FEZBRABES ZREAZBRABRAR
—E-EFAHEEZRE) AKHE
BRER—URAREABTEEENRE
HRZAMEEDES HERPUBEE D
RBEEERRBRAFEFARMEE Y S
(ZT—tF: B E 2 RERRARR
BE) AEECZEREEEKERER
Rk YR ERERZBEPER-

BRRE D AT

FRESMDHRERE B R 2 RAERER
REE EMRBE-_Z-—tF+-A
=t — A LEFERRARRER 2 H R 3
HEZRE - HOBRRHIBHARFER
ENRBREZESESFNBRESITKE
LN
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

28.

= B 5 W AR M A

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
Financial risk management objectives (Cont’d)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position of the Group.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its
trade and bills receivables. In order to minimise the credit
risk, the management of the Group has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit limits and
credit approvals. Before accepting any new customer,
the Group uses an internal credit scoring system to
assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed
to customers are reviewed once a year. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model upon
application of HKFRS 9 (2017: incurred loss model) on
each individually significant trade and bills receivable
balances and collectively for remaining trade debtors.
The provision rates applied is estimated using the
historical observed default rates of the debtors taking
into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonably and supportably available without undue costs
or effort. At the end of each of the reporting period, these
historical loss rates are reassessed and updated if required
after considering the forward-looking information then
available to the directors of the Company. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the Group's
credit risk is significantly reduced.

28. 2RT A (&)

BEEBERERR (&)

=B m B R 6 E T 1

AEBEREFHREETETAEEEW
MBERMAENRREERRAERE
REERNARESE BN AERAERLN
BRmEE -

AEENFEERREIZREE S RKKA
LEWEE AEEREKEERR NEE
EEEEEREREEEEERBIETE
EEM - ERMNEAHEL 2 AKEE
BRABEEND ZAGHHEEEPZE
EEIR YEEEPAEZEZEERE-
EEFNBERFN G BFETEN £F
B 786 H b 2 Fr A OR SR ER BRAE 18 e A (B
BEHER UL N NEBERE B YT
SEANFIRRRIFFAMEEEBBRE (=
T—tF  DELBRRIURBEEX
ME 5 RKFAEREERBETELRE
AHE - Mes TR E B RIKGRIAR S A 6
TTRAERY P IE B B B4 R TS (8 A e U
RENELBREHRETEHT EFE
ZRBABZHRAXE N ARENAEE
ERBEEBBEIXFHHOIEEER RERSEH
R MHEZBEEFARBEFAFHAE
HENRERBERE SEMTHLREH
SZEELEOE -BREME AAREER
RAKEZERERD AE TR

L_O\.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives (Cont’d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont’d)

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in PRC, which accounted for 85% (31
December 2017: 99%) of the total trade receivables as at
31 December 2018.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 23% (31
December 2017: 32%) and 69% (31 December 2017:
80%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively within the business segment.

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

Other than the concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited with several banks with good
reputation and high credit ratings, the Group does not
have any other significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties.

The Group has considered that credit risk on other
receivables and bank balances has not increased
significantly since initial recognition and has assessed the
expected credit loss rate under 12m ECL method based
on the Group’s assessment in the risk of default of the
respective counterparties.

o o

28. €RT A (&)

BEEBERERR (&)
=Em AR B E T (E)

rEBRWEESPNEFEERBREIER
FEEZE-N\F+ZA=+—AME
SEWGRIBRENSS% (ZE—+tF+ =
A=+—H:99%) o

HREBDHBRNERAEEZTATF R
FAREFMESERBFES G EBR
BH23% (ZE—+tF+-_A=+—H":
32% ) M69% (—E—+F+-A=+—
H:80%) MALEBEHASETFEERR-

RITEBNEERARER RARRZH
FHEBEREEFAKBAE THEEIR
ZARIT~

BERRZHABEBRIFIERREENR
MIRTTHRBESHEBAEREERARIN
AEBYBEIMEBEARFEERR
BRERR D BN ZEHFIT -

RE ERSE MR W FIE RIRTTEHRIE
ERk BT HERARILEAR LI I
EREASEHERY T HTEOR RN
mEAI12E A FEMEE BB R LB
EEBRE-
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) 28. 2RT A (&)

BEEBERERR (&)

Financial risk management objectives (Cont’d)

FEm AR B EFE (E)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont’d)

AEENAIEERBRFEFEREAT

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories: A

Internal Trade Other

credit rating Description receivables financial assets

A E &R it B2 RWHE HitEmEE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not  Lifetime ECL - 12-month ECL
have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired

iYENS XHUFENRRE  TEEMBHARE FEHERHEEER NREANESRCEFR

—(BEERE)

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settle Lifetime ECL - 12-month ECL
after due date not credit-impaired

FER EBRARERHAERER ERENIEH FEHEHEEEFR NEANEHEEEFA
SR 3 —(EEEHE)

Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since  Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
initial recognition through information developed not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
internally or external resources

& BRERNHELIERBIBRRNER S FEHEHEEFR GEORSGCEFA
BRAK  EERERBEEM —(EEEHE) —(EEERE)

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired

BB BRRKPEENREERE FERREEEFE HFENRSEEER

-(EEHE) -(fEEHE)

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe  Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery

i BN RAEHEARARENT BRE TR AL RIREE WA
EmASBEUERENFEYE

L_O\.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives (Cont’d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont’d)

e

The table below details the credit risk exposures of

28. ST A (&
MEERESERE (&)
-0 9 - A D,

HIARE AR R AREEBENMG

the Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL WemEENEERR
assessment:
Internal 12-month Gross
credit or lifetime carrying
2018 Note rating ECL amount
1288 =
EawmEB
=E-N\F W et ABEEFNS BHEEER HERMEE
HK$'000
FHET
Financial assets at amortised cost
REBERAGTEZEREE
Trade and bills receivables 18 Note i Lifetime ECL 506,486
JEWE 5 IE R E KR E B et A an 18 HA 78 A
EEEE
Other receivables 18 Note if 12-month ECL 7,431
H fth j& W TR IE B i 128 AFEEIE E R 1R
Pledged bank deposits 19 Note ii 12-month ECL 2,358
EHEMRITER B &tii 12 AFEEEE
Bank balances and cash 20 Note ii 12-month ECL 152,865
RITERKLES B &tii 12 AR EEEE
Notes: Hiat -
(i) For trade and bill receivables, the Group has applied the simplified () HEKEFRERERERNS AEEERS

approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL.
The Group determines the expected credit losses for individually
significant trade debtors and collectively for others. During the year
ended 31 December 2018, the Group considers that provision of
impairment allowance for trade and bills receivables is insignificant
since the internal credit rating for all trade debtors is losses.

o o

AP BIME LR EIRM WL TE NEBEY
BEHEEBRIEBREF A5BHERES
JE W SRR (BRI T TR S B RS 1R - i AL A R MR
BAERET REE-T—/\G+=-A=1+—
HIEFE RNEERR/HE D RUGRIA R EKRE
BRERBEHOBBITER RESMAR
ZRBFRENAREEF R RER -
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives (Cont’d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont’d)

Notes: (Cont’d)

(i)

(i)

—NFESZA=F—HILFE

28.

SHITHE (£)

BEEBERERR (&)

EEm AR B E TS (E)

Mat . (&)
(Cont’d) (i (#)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has T%%%ET\@TF?‘?{I:??P&? B 5 & WRROE & e I
been recognised for trade and bills receivables under the simplified EEBANEHBENEREEERNE
approach.
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
EwmBEHES
FEER
(EEERE)
HK$'000
FHET
As at 31 December 2017 RZE—+tF+A=+—BREEBGLEAFE3RN K
under HKAS 39 and as at 1 January 2018 RZZE-NFE—-H—H 12
New financial assets originated or purchased RAXKEANFH LB EE 127
Exchange adjustments fE 5 AR (12)
As at 31 December 2018 RZZ-NFt+-A=+—H 127
For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group (i HABEERREREMS HREERRBREER

has applied the general approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at 12m ECL as there is no significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. The Group determines the expected
credit losses for other receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank
balances by assessment of probability of default. During the year
ended 31 December 2018, in view of the nature of these balances,
historical settlement record and good reputations of the banks, the
Group considers the provision of impairment allowance for other
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances is insignificant.

VAR S RHR E7 A BB EAE BT BRE
ERESRM — KT E L2 A TEMEEEE
AEBRRME AREEBTHEOXRETEM
WO BERRITEARRITEHRNESRE
EEB-RBE-_F-/\F+_-_A=+—BLLF
E-ERZEERONE BREENSHEERT
B RIFEE AEER A EMmEEHE 2K
FRITERRBITERRERBELNBBL
TEKR-

L_O\.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives (Cont’d)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk reflects the risk that the Group will have
insufficient resources to meet its financial liabilities as they
fall due. The Group's strategy to manage liquidity risk is to
ensure that the Group has sufficient funds to meet all its
potential liabilities as they fall due.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management also monitors
the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

Liquidity tables

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the
banks choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates
for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based on
the agreed repayment dates.

o o

28. €RT A (&)

BEEBERERR (&)
B EZ R

nBEERREAEEKETEEREN
HIMemAaBzAk AEEEE RS
Bz REgEERASEERRE
TRIPRENHABEEERE:

ERSHECEREETE AEEGERE
LRgBEEERRAEZRERREEE
HEKF - KMAAEELEERTEES R
MERSRENP T E -BERENER
RITBEZHAMERETERZY-

RBE & xK

TRFLAEEIFTESRBERERT
EFRZHBTARIHABR - ZRBER
SEANFRZzRFAHAZERBEZ R
BReRERE - LRBRH  WHEERE
BEFHBRITERGHAREERE M
TRRITEBITEEENOBE X HA
FITESRAE BB A NRE R EER
BHIEL
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd) 28. @M T A (&)
Financial risk management objectives (Cont'd) BEREEEREZ(£)
Liquidity risk (Cont’d) mEBELERE (&)
Liquidity tables (Cont’d) BBz (&)
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. TEREEMNEBEERG VHEERE -EFE
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the MERZBMEZHRT RTWBERED
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at VAR 5 BAZR 2 FI| = fh 4R 15 ) o

the end of the reporting period.

On demand
Weighted and Total Total
average less than 1-3 4-6 7-12 undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 month months months months  cash flows amount
RERHR ARRE

nEPIHE 1BR 1E3EA  4E6BR  7ENER  REAE  REAR
% HKF000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000
% TET TET TEL TET Tin TET

At 31 December 2018 RZB-NE+ZA=t-H
Non-derivative financial liabiites: Hitemak:
Trade and other payables BAREMENFE - 251,865 77,454 40,818 11,887 382,024 382,024
At 31 Decermber 2017 RZE-tETZA=T-8
Non-derivative financial liabilites: FiTEeRak:
Trade and other payables ZHREMERFE - 266,046 92,144 9,131 - 367,321 367,321
Borrowings: [E&:
~ fixed-rate bank borrowings -EERIRE 3.09 53,604 - - - 53,604 53,604
- variable-rate bank borrowings -FERRE 3.8 14372 - - - 14,372 14372

334,022 92,144 9,131 - 435,297 435,297
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—F—/\F+=-A=+—HILFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives (Cont’d)

Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

Liquidity tables (Cont’d)

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or less than 1 month” time
band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 December
2017, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of
these bank loans amounted to approximately HK$68.0
million. Taking into account the Group’s financial position,
the directors of the Company do not believe that it is
probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors
of the Company believe that such bank loans as at 31
December 2017 will be repaid within three years of
the reporting date in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and note
23 to the consolidated financial statements. At that time,
the aggregate principal and interest cash outflows will
amount to approximately HK$69.5 million.

o o

28. €RT A (&)

BHREBERRE(F)

mBELmE (&)

RBEEK (&)

EEREB BT - M B SR (B R IR

BIRITEFAFA [EERKI PR —EA ]
MEEE- R _Z—+F+-_A=+—
H ZSRITEFNDRMERNSBENR
68,000,000/ 7T © & & 5| 7 & B 1) B 75 AR
N ARRESHEEZSRITIRTEEE
THEFEOHNBEEZRAFENR AR A
EFHE BEEFBERGEMBEHRE
ME23mEmmEERBE - R_F—+
F+ZA=Z+—HMRTERENREH
HRiI = FAEE - ER A2 kFERE
i 48 EE 5 49 569,500,000 7T ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—=—ZF—/\F+=-A=+—HIFZE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd) 28. @M T A (&)
Fair value measurements of financial instruments SRIANATENE
The Group’s equity investment is measured at fair value REBHRARERSREPAREATE
at the end of each reporting period. The following table 2 TRINTMAEERAIRE 2 QF
gives information about how the fair values of the equity B(LERBHELTERMAEE) -

investment is determined (in particular, the valuation
technique and input used).

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that (i) BEZMEEDNNFEHTENIAERT
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis PHEELFE
Fair value  Valuation technique(s) Significant
Financial assets Fair value as at hierarchy  and key input(s) unobservable input
cREE RUATREMATE ATEER RHEBNREFZEBAEE EXTUBEGAZE

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
ZE-NE —Z—+F

+=A +=A
=t-A =1-FH
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FET
Unlisted equity 18,078 N/A  Level 3 Market approach: estimated  Discount for lack of
instrument at TEA RA3 net profits with main marketability, determined
FVTOCI multiple being Price-to- with reference to the share
BATERAEAM Earnings multiples of price of listed entities in
FEWENIE LT comparable companies and  similar industry
BARTE a discounted rate for lack
of marketability
mEE A EE2E 2REUTELTERZRE
YHUELBARNTRAER BTRzMERAEZITE
BEREZ 5 R EE
There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 RAFER - &R FBR2FERIZ 2
during the year. M8 BE® -
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined T2 GURE DT TR E R E R
based on the exposure to equity price risk on the BEATEFAAREMPERRNESHE
unlisted equity securities in financial assets at fair EHHYIE BT AR AN 5E 25 P EY A AR R
value through OCI at the end of the reporting period. ERRERET Mz FIELTIRAE
Should the discount rate for lack of marketability on HFBRZMBENITIEREF TR
such unlisted equity securities had been 10% (2017: 10% (ZF—tF 1 2) KrEHEBK
nil) higher/lower, the Group's FVTOCI reserve would AFEFAEMEENENESTA
increase/decrease by HK$2,000,000 (2017: nil) arising FRIEA MR AT E AR M2 mEK S
from the equity instrument at fair value through other TR A5 I, 42,000,000 7T (=
comprehensive income. E—+F I E)o

F—

O/._\\ 5 N
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Cont’d)

(i)

(ii)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
(Cont’d)

In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis
is unrepresentative of the price risk as the year end
exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements

28. €RT A (&)

EMITANDFEFE (&)

() BEEMEELAFEGTENIEE

ETHEERNTE(E)
EEERS BEESNHERER

WEARNE  RESFRE LA E R
71 B Fz bR 4F 729 P TED 9 0 LB

(i) F3RLFlEGEZHE

Financial
assets
at FVTOCI
BROFEFA
Hit 2@k =
HWemEE
HK$'000
FHET
As at 1 January 2017 and RZZE—+tF—HA—HBK
31 December 2017 —E—+tF+-A=+—H -
From available-for-sale to FVTOCI upon RZE—NF—H—H&RXER
initial adoption of HKFRS 9 BEREVBREERFEFHAHEESR
at 1 January 2018 (Note) RN EFAREMEEWE (Ait) 20,325
Gains in other comprehensive income H2mE a2 W (1,359)
Currency realignment B (888)
As at 31 December 2018 RZZE—-NF+ZHA=+—H

18,078

Note: The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9 and the difference
between carrying amount as at 31 December 2017 and 1
January 2018 is recognised in the opening retained profit,

without restating comparative information.

o o

M ALBEEREEBFHREERFEFRN
BABEGERE B BREEAF
95k AR -Z—tHF+_-_A=+—HH#
RZE-NF-A-HNEREEZM[N
EZERPVIRBENER MEFET
AELLRER -
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29. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 29. BRI EE

The Group manages the capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remain unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank
borrowings disclosed in note 23, net of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and
retained profits.

The management of the Group reviews the capital
structure on a continuous basis. The Group considers

AEEZEAEESERRAKERNZE
BHAFELE RNEBELCER LK
REBREDZTBARRREAL®R KK
B EERBEREREFREIE -

AEBEZEARBREME2IWE ZRTT
fEE MEReELRSFEREUAREAR
BB ARGERD (BREBETERAN
KRB )

AEEERERBEENEARE A&H
ZREEBEARAKNAREBENARE 2B -

Wi E BB INRITEE RBELRREEEIA
class of capital, and will balance its overall capital TR E AN o
structure through the raising of bank borrowings and the

the cost of capital and the risks associated with each

redemption of existing debt.

L_O\.
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30. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated

30.

METHFELEEEZHIR

TRFVNAEERELTHFELRECE
H(ERASTIFRELEY) BEETD
EEZABRREARBEZGARESRER
A ERSREWI A (RERKRERE
SRR KEREEHZREEREZR

statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing &
activities.
Dividend
payable Borrowings Total
ERRE BE s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
(Note 23)
(H1#23)

At 1 January 2017 KR_Z—tF—-H—H - 134,391 134,391
Financing cash flows RERSRE - (74,704) (74,704)
Foreign exchange translation ~ 9B E - 5,439 5,439
Interest expenses AMERY - 2,850 2,850
At 1 January 2018 RZZE—-N\F—H—H - 67,976 67,976
Financing cash flows BEBEESRE (15,382) (67,542) (82,924)
Foreign exchange translation ~ 9pMEE#E - (649) (649)
Dividend declared (note 17)  BEIRMRE (H7£11) 15,382 - 15,382
Interest expenses FEFRZ - 215 215
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\F+ZA

=+—d - - -

o o
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31.

32.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, certain bank deposits,
buildings, prepaid lease payments and trade receivables
were pledged to secure the banking facilities granted to
the Group as follows:

—NFESZA=F—HILFE

BEERA

R|BEHR THI&E
HHEE

KA NE FEWE

—E-N\FFH

RASEERRITEEZERDOT :

S FRITFER BT T8
RIBE FHEAE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Bank deposits |ITF N 2,358 2,357
Buildings g5 49,291 53,212
Prepaid lease payments ?Ehﬁﬂ%?k 16,318 17,551
Trade receivables B 5 W - 22,948
67,967 96,068

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
outstanding commitments for future minimum lease

32. KREFHERE

AEEEREEA

R|EHR AEERE L LEF AR
BUHEEME MR T 5 HE B B2 Rk &

payments under non-cancellable operating leases in BESEFIAZ REITALLT
respect of land and buildings which fall due as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —+
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FABT
Within one year —FA 410 185
In the second to fifth year inclusive FFEERF
(BHREREMSF) - 20
410 205
N

L_O\.
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32. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (Cont’d) 32. REFFERIE (£)

The Group as lessee (Cont’d) AEBEEREBA (£Z)

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by KEHENRERAEERETHROEDE
the Group for certain of the office properties and staff I TEEESN 2 H HBEREA
quarters. Leases are negotiated for terms within one year —FA(ZE—tF:—FE=F) -

(2017: one year to three years).

33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33. XA
2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—LF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Capital expenditure in respect of BEVE BELEHEZ
acquisition of property, plant and BARRT  BFTHERR
equipment which is contracted for FEMBmERNEE
but not provided in the consolidated
financial statements 66,222 23,566

(’o—/ /_'\O
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34. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES 34. RIKERIFTE

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund (the
“MPF"”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The retirement benefits scheme contributions charged
to consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of HK$50,000 (2017: HK$45,000)
represent contributions payable to the MPF scheme by the
Group, which contribution is matched by employees.

The employees employed in the Group’s PRC subsidiaries
are members of the state-managed retirement benefits
scheme operated by the PRC government. The Group
is required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the
benefits. The state-managed retirement benefits scheme
contributions charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income amounted
to HK$11,442,000 (2017: HK$9,113,000). The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefits scheme is to make the required contributions
under the scheme.

No forfeited contributions are available to reduce the
contribution payable in future years.

REBRAMBEABCEEAREERR R
sIEAEe ([BER]) REeEaK
H 2 E U E R N5 X 2 RKAE M E Sl
K A50,00008 L (=& — £ F 45,0008
) DBEAEERYNTEBESFE 2 H
FomEEZEHMR M-

AEEFHBAREAZEE BTEHK
FEEZBERKBREEZKE A&
BEMRKENGEZNFecaTES
HEABEMNS R BEREME2EK
mEx NS Y 2 B RIKEF T EER A
11,442,000 7t ( =& —+4:9,113,000
BIT) e AEBPNERARERFE2H—ET
RIBBZETEIE L AR T 2 3K

AR B A A 5L WA FRAT R R SR A e A
Z B

L_O\.
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

X5

35. A4

(i) In addition to the balances set out in notes 18 and (i) BB AMIsF18R257 &850 IR
25, the Group entered into the following transactions ER-ANEETTSEEH LT3
with related parties during the year: 5

2018 2017
—E-N\HF e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHEIT
Rentals for office paid to fellow MR EMEBE ARG X2
subsidiaries MAEHE 120 120
Rental income received for office W EIB —Rt& Q72
from an associate WAEHES KA 378 321
Sales to an associate m— g RHEE 2,008 1,541
Sales of goods to a shareholder [ — &R E K H I B A 7
and its subsidiaries HEE M 141,220 120,009
Disposal of property, plant and m—REEBE R ARHEDE.
equipment to an associate R B N 3 1 1,750 -
Purchases of raw material from H—EEBMEAREERMA
an associate 2,283 -
Subcontracting expenses paid to [\ — B & QRS2
an associate HEER 1,879 -
Purchases of property, plant and  # — & A G EEWE
equipment from an associate R B N 31 1,129 -
(ii) Transactions/balances with other state-controlled (i) ErEEABEREFHCEELEZRS

entities in the PRC

The Group operates in an economic environment
currently predominated by entities directly or
indirectly owned or controlled by the PRC government
("state-controlled entities”). In addition, the Group
is significant influenced indirectly by CNIC, a state-

owned enterprise established in the PRC.

The Group also conducts business with other state-
controlled entities. The directors consider those state-
controlled entities to be third parties so far as the
Group's business with them are concerned.

o o

a1

AEEEEMEZREREBA AT
ERFE S EREEE R 2 hE
(TEREZEFEER])EZPHN AR
EREINPERIZBAERES
AT TEREERTE-

AEETTEAEMBERENEEETE
BoBERA RARERRSE 2 XK
mE REAREHEERFE=T7-
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT'D)

35. A A RS (&)

(ii) Transactions/balances with other state-controlled
entities in the PRC (Cont’d)

In addition, the Group has entered into various
transactions, including deposits placements,
borrowings and other general banking facilities, with
certain banks which are stated-controlled entities in
its ordinary course of business.

The directors are of the opinion that the transactions
with other state-controlled entities are not significant
to the Group's operations.
(iii) Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of key management during the
year represented remuneration paid to directors as

disclosed in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The remuneration of key management personnel is
determined by the Remuneration Committee having
regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.

36. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 14 February 2019, the directors of the Company
approved the restricted stock incentive scheme (the
pursuant to which 27,500,000 shares to
be granted under the Scheme (“Restricted Stock”),
representing approximately 1.788% of the total issued

“Scheme"),

share capital of the Company as at 14 February 2019 were
resolved to be granted to 81 selected Scheme participants
on the same day at the grant price of HK$0.65 per Share.
Details of the Scheme are set out in the announcements of
the Company issued on 15 January 2019 and 14 February
2019.

(i) BHEEMEREHEXELEZRS
S RER(E)

AN AEEEREEREXBHBRES
ERBAREFREZE TRITAILE
BRS BREFR - BEREM—RIER

T8

EERRBRHEMERENEEZRS
BAKEZEELFEE-

(iii) TEEBABZHE

=
o)

FREEEEABZMERRAMHE
WRHTFIOMBEINSEE 2B

TEEEABCZHEAFTFHEESER
BEAXRBELETSBEEE -

36. MEHREE

RZE-—NFZATEA XRAEEL
BEAEER AR PR i1 AR R B R &) ([5FE1]) -
Bt B IRET &5 % #927,500,0008%
BRH (TREERRE]) (EXARFRZE
—NWF-_A+HAMBEBRITRABELY
1.788% ) B [E B @& R AR AR 190.6548
LR TERFE TIBEREE2EE-
BRAFEANFBEIRARABHAEZT
—hNWF—A+REBR-_ZT—hhFE=-A+M@E
HE QM -
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 37. KRR B AR R KRR GF#HE

RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

2018 2017
—E-NF T +%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Non-current assets ERBEE

Property, plant and equipment Y- WE K& 39 72
Interests in subsidiaries HE AR Z s 931,516 455,475
Interest in an associate —fEBE QB 2 3,616 3,616
935,171 459,163

Current assets MENE E
Inventories T8 7.394 5,189
Trade and other receivables B NEMEWRIE 70,969 91,045
Amount due from subsidiaries JE U B B8~ Bl 5k A 6,872 83,343
Tax recoverable A Uy B #5718 102 -
Pledged bank deposits EHERIRITER 2,358 2,357
Bank balances and cash SRITHESRNIRE S 11,765 28,103
99,460 210,037

Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables B 5 R E M EN IR 31,683 19,086
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE A B /B A B 3B - 87,393
Taxation payable JE AT B 18 - 300
Bank borrowings RITIEE - 12,559
31,683 119,338
Net current assets FRBAEE 67,777 90,699
Total assets less current liabilities BEEREBDEERE 1,002,948 549,862

/o—/ /_'\O
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 37. KRB EMRA RN FHE (Z)
RESERVE OF THE COMPANY (Cont’d)

2018 2017
—E2-N\F ZE—LtF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FH T
Capital and reserves MR K b 4
Share capital & A< 921,553 466,667
Retained profits RE & A 81,395 83,195
Total equity R 1,002,948 549,862
The statement of financial position of the Company KRRz BERRAEREEESTEN_Z
was approved and authorised for issue by the Board of —NEFE=ZATN\BHEWFETZE - A
Directors on 18 March 2019 and are signed on its behalf TrESEREEE:
by:
XIONG ZHENG FENG HUNG CHI YUEN ANDREW
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
BEIF 1§ HER
EF EE
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 37. KRB MR R RN FHE (Z)
RESERVE OF THE COMPANY (Cont’d)

Movement in the Company’s retained profits KARREBER 225
HK$'000
FHEIT
At 1 January 2017 RZZE—+tF—H—H 77,848
Profit for the year and total comprehensive FREFNRFRAZEBEETE
income for the year 5,347
At 31 December 2017 R-ZF—tF+-_HA=1t—H 83,195
Profit for the year and total comprehensive FRREMNRFRNZENEEE
income for the year 13,582
Dividend paid 2R E (15,382)

At 31 December 2018 R—E—-NF+=_A=+—H 81,395
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38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. AAFIME AR 2715
COMPANY
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries as at 31 December RZE-NFR_E—tF+_A=+—
2018 and 2017 are as follows: Az AREEMBARZFBET:
Place of Attributable
establishment and equity interest
principal place Form of held by the
Name of subsidiaries of operation business structure Paid-up capital Company Principal activities
RIBER RADNARE
WEARER FTELEHH PEARER BREX ZEERAER FTEEH
AKM Electronics Industrial The PRC Wholly owned-foreign ~ US$21,700,000 100% Manufacture and sale of
(Panyu) Ltd. enterprise FPC, manufacture and
sale of flexible packaging
substrates
REN (BB)EFEXARAR  HH HEBELR 21,700,000% 1T 100% RERHEXMTRR RE
REERNHEER
AKM Electronic Technology The PRC Wholly owned-foreign ~ US$37,642,460 100% Manufacture and sale of
(Suzhou) Company Limited enterprise FPC, manufacture and
sale of flexible packaging
substrates
ZRAEFRR (BN ERRA  +E NEBERE 37,642, 4605 T 100% HERHEZUBRR B
REEFUHEER
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at BB A B A M (B & RS B T B 75
the end of both years. FHho




AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEFEX£ERAF

Financial Summary

oh
B fE =
RESULTS
¥ 15
Year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t+-BLEE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
ZE-N\E —T—+F —F-RF —ZT-1F —T-QNF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FEL TER TERL FiER
Revenue A 1,223,803 1,118,838 821,662 630,631 622,057
Cost of sales HEMK (1,071,832)  (898,627)  (646,373)  (551,392)  (515,433)
Gross profit e 151,971 220,211 175,289 79,239 106,624
Other income Hp A 56,253 17,874 15,037 36,321 28,492
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HERBLRIZEE - (3,224) - - -
Distribution costs DEKA (19,433) (16,760) (15,897) (16,360) (17,189)
Administrative expenses TH XM (41,187) (36,551) (31,852) (25,234) (31,225)
Research and development expenses 2 & F (63,774) (79,882) (92,122) (70,324) (51,261)
Share of profit of an associate B —FREE AR 28 163 40 - - -
Finance costs BEXAL (215) (2,850) (5,198) (3,598) (3,206)
Profit before taxation B 754 B 42 ) 83,778 98,858 45,257 44 32,235
Taxation HiE (14,444) (19,850) (17,567) (366) (2,272)
Profit (loss) for the year AERRMN (BE) 69,334 79,008 27,690 (322) 29,963
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
EEREE
At 31 December
R+t=ZA=+-8
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
“E-N\f —T—+F —T-RFE —F-HF —ZT-@NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FEL FTHET TET FTEL
Total assets BEE 1,671,449 1,268,416 981,651 831,541 807,150
Total liabilities Bmats (483,432)  (529,973)  (497,594)  (336,353)  (286,131)
1,188,017 738,443 484,057 495,188 521,019
Equity attributable to AREHEAEGER
owners of the Company 1,188,017 738,443 483,426 491,969 517,226
Non-controlling interests FERER - - 631 3,219 3,793
Total equity b 1,188,017 738,443 484,057 495,188 521,019

\—

o o




€= AKM

AKM Industrial Company Limited
ZREMNEXAERALQF

Rooms 2708-T1, West Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
168-200 Connaught Road Central, HK

& LIRT56EP168-20057 5= 4/\ i EE2708-11%



	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	主席報告書
	本集團董事及高級管理層
	管理層討論及分析
	公司管治報告
	環境、社會及管治報告
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益及其他全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動報表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	財務概要
	封底



